FRDC Project No. 1998/133



Stock size of bêche-de-mer, recruitment patterns and gene flow in black teatfish, and recovery of over-fished black teatfish stocks on the Great Barrier Reef

JOHN A BENZIE AND SVEN UTHICKE

PRODUCED FOR FISHERIES RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION





FEBRUARY 2003

FRDC Project 97/344

Stock size of bêche de mer, recruitment patterns and gene flow in black teatfish, and recovery of over-fished black teatfish stocks, on the Great Barrier Reef

John A.H. Benzie and Sven Uthicke

Fisheries Research and Development Corporation

Stock size of bêche de mer, recruitment patterns and gene flow in black teatfish, and recovery of over-fished black teatfish stocks, on the Great Barrier Reef

John Benzie and Sven Uthicke

Australian Institute of Marine Science PMB No 3 Townsville Qld 4810.

© The Australian Institute of Marine Science, 2003

ISBN: 0 642 32254 6

This work is copyright. Except as permitted under the Copyright Act 1968 (Cth), no part of this publication may be reproduced by any process, electronic or otherwise, without the specific written permission of the copyright owners. Neither may information be stored electronically in any form whatsoever without such permission.

This report has been produced for the sole use of the party who requested it. The application or use of this report and of any data or information (including results of experiments, conclusions, and recommendations) contained within it shall be at the sole risk and responsibility of that party. AIMS does not provide any warranty or assurance as to the accuracy or suitability of the whole or any part of the report, for any particular purpose or application. Subject only to any contrary non-excludable statutory obligations neither AIMS nor its personnel will be responsible to the party requesting the report, or any other person claiming through that party, for any consequences of its use or application (whether in whole or part).

CONTENTS

NON-TECHNICAL SUMMARY	1
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	4
BACKGROUND	5
NEED	7
OBJECTIVES	8
METHODS	9
Development of survey methodology	9
Spatial surveys and stock size of bêche-de-mer over the GBR	9
Temporal surveys of bêche-de-mer and recovery after closure to fishing	12
DISPERSAL AND RECRUITMENT	13
Sampling in the GBR	13
Visual search for recruits	14
Sampling sandfish from NT and WA	14
Enzyme electrophoresis	14
DNA extraction	
Mt DNA amplification and sequencing	
PERIOD OF REPRODUCTION OF THE BLACK TEATFISH ON THE GBR	
GROWTH RATES FOR BLACK TEATFISH	
DNA fingerprinting (AFLP)	
STATISTICAL ANALYSES	
Survey data	
AlloZymes	
	22
RESULTS	
Development of survey methodology	23
Spatial surveys and stock size of bêche-de-mer over the GBR	23
Black Teatfish	23
Stock Size	
Other Species	
TEMPORAL SURVEYS OF OVER-FISHED BLACK TEATHISH STOCKS	
DISPERSAL AND RECRUITMENT IN BLACK TEATFISH	
Allozymes	
	40 בח
GROWIH RATES FOR BLACK TEATFISH	
DISCUSSION	57
Spatial surveys and stock size of bêche-de-mer over the GBR	57
General distributions of bêche-de-mer	57
Black teatfish	57
Stock size	60
IEMPORAL SURVEYS OF BECHE-DE-MER AND RECOVERY AFTER CLOSURE TO FISHING	61
DISPERSAL AND RECRUITMENT IN BLACK TEATFISH	62
PERIOD OF REPRODUCTION OF THE BLACK TEATFISH ON THE GBR	64
GROWTH RATES FOR BLACK TEATFISH	64
MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS	65

BENEFITS	69
FURTHER DEVELOPMENT	70
PLANNED OUTCOMES	71
CONCLUSIONS	73
REFERENCES	77
APPENDIX I: INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY	83
APPENDIX II: STAFF	83
APPENDIX III: DATA FILES	84

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

FIGURE 1. Sample and transect locations on northern and southern reefs of the Great Barrier Reef	11
FIGURE 2. Distribution map of <i>Holothuria nobilis</i> (black teatfish) on northern and southern reefs of the Great Barrier Reef	24
FIGURE 3. Average densities of <i>Holothuria nobilis</i> in four arbitrary sectors, and in green (Closed Reef) and blue (Open Reef) reefs of the Great Barrier Reef	25
FIGURE 4. Average weights (total weight) of <i>Holothuria nobilis</i> on northern and southern reefs of the Great Barrier Reef	26
FIGURE 5. Average densities of <i>Holothuria nobilis</i> on reefs that are divided into blue (Open to fishing) and green (Closed to fishing) zones	28
FIGURE 6. Distribution map of <i>Holothuria atra</i> (lollyfish) on northern and southern reefs of the Great Barrier Reef	32
FIGURE 7. Distribution map of <i>Stichopus chloronotus</i> (greenfish) on northern and southern reefs of the Great Barrier Reef	33
FIGURE 8. Distribution map of <i>Stichopus variegatus</i> (curryfish) on northern and southern reefs of the Great Barrier Reef	34
FIGURE 9. Distribution map of <i>Bohadschia argus</i> (leopard fish) on northern and southern reefs of the Great Barrier Reef	35
FIGURE 10. Distribution map of <i>Thelenota ananas</i> (prickly redfish) on northern and southern reefs of the Great Barrier Reef	36
FIGURE 11. Distribution map of <i>Actinopyga echinites</i> (deepwater redfish) on northern and southern reefs of the Great Barrier Reef	37
FIGURE 12. Distribution map of <i>Actinopyga miliaris</i> (black fish) on northern and southern reefs of the Great Barrier Reef	38
FIGURE 13. Average densities of <i>Holothuria nobilis</i> on five green (Closed) and 15 blue (Open) reefs prior to the total closure of the fishery (Survey 1) and about 1 (Survey 2) and 2 (Survey 3) years after the closure	39
FIGURE 14. Increase and decrease of densities of <i>Holothuria nobilis</i> when compared before closure and 2 years after closure of the fishery.	40
FIGURE 15. Densities of <i>Holothuria nobilis</i> on four reefs, which are divided into zones open (white bars) and closed (grey bars) to fishing prior to total closure of the fishery, averaged over three surveys.	41
FIGURE 16. Changes in average weights in 11 populations of <i>Holothuria nobilis</i> when compared between Survey 1 and 3	43
FIGURE 17. Neighbour joining tree indicating distances between populations on <i>Holothuria nobilis</i> investigated screened for mtDNA variation.	48
FIGURE 18. Gonad index of <i>Holothuria nobilis</i> on different sampling occasions, pooled for Big Broadhurst Reef and Davies Reef	49
FIGURE 19. Relationship between total weight and gutted weight (A), length and gutted weight (B) and length and total weight (C) in <i>Holothuria nobilis</i> collected for gonad index analysis.	51
FIGURE 20. Weight frequency distributions (numbers of individuals) and percent of individuals with detectable gonads for <i>Holothuria nobilis</i> collected for gonad index analysis	52

FIGURE 21	Initial	versus	final we	ight of r	e-captur	ed indiv	iduals k	between	June 2	.000 a	nd	
Dec	ember	2000, I	Decemb	er 2000) and Jur	ne 2001,	, and Ju	ne 2000) and 2	001		54

Table 1. Number and locations of manta tows or searches on reefs of the GBR	10
TABLE 2. Enzymes used in screening for activity gut tissue from seven bêche-de-mer species	16
Table 3. Comparison of methods for estimating holothurian densities in reef flat areas	23
TABLE 4. Results of nested ANOVA comparing third root transformed densities of Holothuria nobilis in four Sectors and differently protected Zones (green and blue) in the GBR.	25
TABLE 5. Results of nested ANOVA comparing square root transformed weights of Holothuria nobilis in four Sectors of the GBR.	27
TABLE 6. Results of nested ANOVA comparing square root transformed weights of Holothuria nobilis in fished and unfished Zones, only for the fished Sectors 1 and 2	27
TABLE 9. Estimates of numbers and biomass of <i>Holothuria nobilis</i> in the fished area of the GBR (12-19° S), before fishing commenced in the mid 1980's, and after closure of the fishery in 1999.	29
TABLE 10. Results of nested ANOVA comparing third root transformed densities of Holothuria atra, Stichopus chloronotus, Stichopus variegatus and Bohadschia argus in four Sectors and green and blue (Factor Zone) reefs of the of the GBR	30
Table 11. Average abundance (ind ha ⁻¹) of four holothurian species in each of four sectors.	30
TABLE 12. Results of a repeated measures ANOVA on third root-transformed densities of Holothuria nobilis on reefs that were resurveyed one and two years after closure of the fishery.	40
TABLE 13. Results of a repeated measures ANOVA on third root-transformed densities of Holothuria nobilis on reefs that were divided into one open and one closed zone, resurveyed one and two years after closure of the fishery	41
TABLE 14. Results of a two-factor ANOVA on square root-transformed weights Holothuria nobilis at three different surveys and 11 reefs	42
TABLE 17. Holothuria nobilis. Summary measures describing genetic variability from 15 reefs on the GBR	45
TABLE 18. Holothuria nobilis. F-statistics for 15 reefs on the GBR. CI: 95 % Confidence interval obtained by bootstrapping across loci	46
TABLE 19. Diversity measures for 11 GBR populations of Holothuria nobilis, based on the Kimura two parameter distance.	47
Table 20. Analyses of molecular Variance (AMOVA) with mtDNA Data collected from 300 individuals of <i>H. nobilis</i>	47
Table 21. Gonad index (% of gutted weight) of <i>H. nobilis</i> samples in addition to those on Big Broadhurst and Davies Reef.	50
Table 22. Number of H. nobilis samples collected, DNA fingerprinted and re-identified at three sampling locations on the Great Barrier Reef.	55
Table 23. Parameters of Francis' (1995) growth function for populations of H. nobilis	56

NON-TECHNICAL SUMMARY

1998/133 Stock size of bêche-de-mer, recruitment patterns and gene flow in black teatfish, and recovery of over-fished black teatfish stocks, on the Great Barrier Reef.

PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR:	Dr John A. H. Benzie
ADDRESS:	Australian Institute of Marine Sciences PMB No 3 Townsville QLD 4810 Telephone:(07) 4753 4444 Fax: (07) 4772 5852

OBJECTIVES: 98/133

- 1. To develop a survey methodology applicable for all shallow water bêche-de-mer species.
- 2. To adapt established techniques for enzyme electrophoretic analyses of holothurians to several bêche-de-mer species.
- 3. To determine the stock size of bêche-de-mer over a large geographic area in the GBR.
- 4. To determine the stock size and biomass of the black teatfish over a large geographic area in the GBR.
- 5. To establish the period of reproduction of the black teatfish on the GBR.
- 6. To measure dispersal and recruitment in black teatfish using genetic markers.
- 7. To identify and report the implications of these findings for management of bêche-demer fisheries.
- 8. To measure the recovery time for over-fished black teatfish stocks, (numbers and biomass).
- 9. To assess the likely source of recruits to recovering populations, including the role of protected reefs.
- 10. To estimate growth rates for black teatfish.
- 11. To describe large-scale gene flow and dispersal of sandfish among fished populations in NT and WA.

OUTCOMES ACHIEVED

Successful survey of several bêche-de-mer species, and of black teatfish (*Holothuria nobilis*) in particular, and the description of the population genetic structure of black teatfish has provided a basis for improved management of a productive and valuable fishery in the Great Barrier Reef (GBR) through improved stock definition, assessment of stock size and determination of levels of dispersal among populations. Surveys over time have shown low recruitment rates, slow growth rates and potentially long times required for the recovery of over-fished black teatfish stocks. The development of important biological information such as the time of reproduction of black teatfish, and background information on this and other species will assist further work on those species. The results will also help develop bêche-de-mer management in regions outside the GBR.

The main purpose of the project was to provide biological data urgently needed for a sustainable management of the black teatfish fishery in the Great Barrier Reef (GBR). The principal goals were 1) to estimate the standing stock of the black teatfish and estimate densities of other bêche-de-mer species by undertaking large scale surveys in the GBR and 2) provide further information required to determine annual harvest levels and proposed closed seasons for the black teatfish including reproduction period and likely sources of supply of recruits. Following closure of the fishery the project was extended to: 3) establish re-colonisation rates of holothurians on the fished reefs where fishing had ceased, 4) determine the sources of those recruits, and 5) estimate growth of holothurians using genetic fingerprinting to identify individuals. The project was also extended to include genetic work on sandfish (*Holothuria scabra*) in Northern Territory and Western Australia.

Using manta tows covering an area of 500 m² each, stock surveys on 72 reefs indicated that black teatfish is the only high quality bêche-de-mer species in shallow water areas of the GBR. Most abundant are low quality species such as greenfish and lollyfish. The highest densities of black teatfish occur north of Townsville, and the distribution of the species south of this is patchy. The only other locations with high densities are in some Whitsunday Reefs and in the Pompey region, which is difficult to access. A comparison between fished ("blue") and un-fished ("green") reefs in the main fishing area between Townsville and Princess Charlotte Bay indicated that fishing has reduced density and biomass by at least 75% on fished reefs. Black teatfish stocks on over-fished reefs had not recovered two years after closure of the fishery, while the stocks on reefs previously protected from fishing remained at high densities. No recruits could be found in the two years after closure of the fishery, preventing the identification of the source of the recruits

using genetic techniques. Black teatfish reproduce on the GBR between April and August, but high gonad indices were observed on some reefs as late as October.

Allozyme electrophoretic markers, and more sensitive mitochondrial DNA markers, indicated no restrictions to gene flow in *H. nobilis* populations on the entire length on the GBR, suggesting that the GBR bêche-de-mer fishery can be managed as one stock. A novel technique to measure growth in bêche-de-mer using genetic fingerprinting revealed that medium sized black teatfish grew slowly, and some large individuals actually shrunk. Animals of an average size on the GBR reefs may be 10 years old. These data, in conjunction with a lack of observed recruits suggest that significant restrictions to recruitment may occur on ecological time scales. Low natural adult mortality rates in *H. nobilis* were inferred from indirect demographic data. Model calculations on black teatfish stocks indicated that the virgin biomass in the fished area of the GBR was in the order of 5,500 tonnes and about 5 million individuals and was now reduced to 1,103 t and 920,000 individuals in the areas open to fishing. These data show black teatfish vulnerable to fishing, with takes as low as 5% of standing stock being too great for sustainable fishing, and prolonged recovery times in the event of over-fishing.

In summary, most objectives, and the performance indicators for the project, were met through developing a methodology based on manta tows, applicable to all shallow water bêche-de-mer species; adapting techniques for enzyme electrophoresis for use in several species of bêche-de-mer; estimating the spatial patterns of abundance of several species of bêche-de-mer; calculating black teatfish stocks; estimating the main reproductive period, and growth rates of black teatfish on the GBR (between April and August); determining the genetic structure of black teatfish stocks, surveying stocks up to two years after closure of the fishery, specifically identifying the implications of these data for fishery management and maintaining the support of the Bêche-de-mer Industry and Management agencies The likely source of recruits to recovering reefs could not be assessed as no recruits were observed and geneflow of sandfish in NT and WA was not estimated because of lack of samples.

KEYWORDS: Bêche-de-mer, *Holothuria nobilis*, Genetics, Fisheries management, allozymes, DNA fingerprinting, black teatfish.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful for the assistance of B. Schaffelke, K. Fabricius, J. Lauridsen, C. Bastidas, M. Brown, J. Murdoch and R. Owens and many others during field collections. C. Clegg, C. Pacey, D. Welch and M. Schubert were of great assistance in fieldwork and laboratory. We would also like to express our gratitude to J. Corley for help during fieldwork and for preparation of the maps. S. Kininmonth's help with GIS data analysis was invaluable. We would also like to thank the skippers and crews of the RV Lady Basten, RV Harry Messel, RV Cape Ferguson, RV James Kirby, MV New Horizons and MV Running Free for their great help in the field. Reef outlines and Zoning Boundaries data are reproduced with the permission of the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority.

FINAL REPORT

1998/133. Stock size of bêche-de-mer, recruitment patterns and gene flow in black teatfish, and recovery of over-fished black teatfish stocks, on the Great Barrier Reef.

BACKGROUND

In the mid 1980s, a limited entry sea cucumber fishery was introduced to the Great Barrier Reef (GBR). At present, the fishery is performed by about 18 licence holders largely based near Cairns. The total annual allowable catch (TAC) of bêche-de-mer for Queensland was set at 500 tonnes, and most of this catch is exported and is valued at approximately 3 million dollars. Recent developments of the fishery on the GBR have shown that the level of 500 t was actually never fished, and catches of black teatfish drastically declined until the closure of its fishery in 1999. When this project started, 61% of the catch in the GBR was reported to be the black teatfish (*Holothuria nobilis*). The main emphasis of this project was on this sea cucumber species but a methodology for genetic surveys and some data on distribution was also to be provided for other bêche-demer species. Sandfish (*H. scabra*) is also part of the catch on the east coast, but is more important in NT and WA.

There was an urgent need to obtain basic biological information to assist management of this industry, as given by the highest research priorities identified by QFMA. The only information available on the black teatfish and other commercially important holothurians in the GBR were some data on densities in the central region of the GBR and Torres Strait (Harriott 1984, Hammond *et al.* 1985, Long *et al.* 1996). The sources of juvenile recruitment and basic population parameters such as reproduction period, population structure and mortality were unknown. In many holothurian populations, juveniles are scarce and replenishment by sexual propagules may be low and sporadic.

The main aims of this project were 1) to estimate the standing stock of the black teatfish and estimate densities of other bêche-de-mer species by undertaking large scale surveys in the GBR and 2) provide further information required to determine annual harvest levels and proposed closed seasons for the black teatfish including reproduction period and likely supply of recruits. Although focused on the GBR it was hoped that the knowledge

gained in achieving these goals will provide useful information to assess and develop similar industries in Northern Territory and Western Australia.

The only means to identify sources of recruits is by genetic markers because it is not possible to physically tag the small larvae, and microchemistry approaches are not practical in holothurians. Allozyme genetic markers were to be developed for at least another five bêche-de-mer species. Connectivity of black teatfish populations between single reefs of the GBR was to be investigated using these allozyme markers. In the case of high gene flow, populations should be resilient even to high levels of fishing pressure whereas in the case of low genetic exchange, management may have to monitor signals at very local scales.

The project (FRDC No. 98/133) began in July 1998, but in October 1999, the fishery on black teatfish was closed because low catch rates indicated over-fishing. First analysis of our survey data from 1999 indicated that black teatfish densities on fished reefs from the Townsville to the Cooktown sector of the GBR were approximately 25% of that found on reefs protected from fishing. The closure of the fishery provided a unique opportunity to 1) establish re-colonisation rates of holothurian on the fished reefs by repeating surveys in late '00 and '01, 2) provide information on the sources of recruits using genetic markers developed in 98/133 and, 3) provide information on growth of holothurians using genetic fingerprinting to identify individuals. To seize the opportunity to measure recovery rates of the black teatfish the project was extended to examine these questions.

The project was also extended to include work on sandfish in Northern Territory and Western Australia. The sandfish is the most important species in the bêche-de-mer fisheries in these states. In WA, there were clear indications that at least one population showed symptoms of over-fishing three years after the current fishery opened. In the NT, four different areas have been fished for several years, and NT fisheries planned a stock survey in 2000. Due to our current work on bêche-de-mer and a previous Environment Australia funded genetic project on the sandfish genetics (which demonstrated significant genetic differentiation among Queensland stocks) the fishery agencies from both NT and WA approached AIMS to assist in investigating geneflow and determining the sources of recruits for sandfish stocks using genetic tools. NT Fisheries has specific plans for collection, while interest from WA was for ad hoc assessments when collections could be made by fisheries officers.

NEED

There was an urgent need to provide basic information to assist management of the bêche-de-mer fishery in Queensland's GBR and to determine sustainable harvest levels. The proposed research directly addressed two of the highest priority research topics for harvest fisheries outlined by QFMA (Research needs and priorities for the management of Queenslands fisheries, QFMA, 1997, p 16), which were: 1) to estimate of standing stocks of bêche-de-mer (holothurians) off the east coast and, 2) to determine sustainable annual harvest levels of bêche-de-mer off the east coast. The project also addressed the lower priority research topic: to determine the ecology of the major bêche-de-mer species (black teatfish).

The project was later extended to examine three issues following the closure of the black teatfish fishery on the GBR, and because of interest in sandfish fisheries in the Northern Territory and Western Australia. Re black teatfish on the east coast - there was an urgent need to establish recovery times, re-colonisation rates and growth of bêche-de-mer on reefs of the GBR. The fishery has been closed but information on recovery of population numbers, biomass and individual growth would provide vital information for managers deciding when to open the fishery. In conjunction with the estimates on stock size and gene flow in project No. 98/133, the extension of the project potentially allowed the provision to QFMA of information on, 3) recovery rates of over-fished holothurian stocks, 4) sustainable harvest levels of bêche-de-mer on the east coast, 5) sources of recruits and, 6) growth rates of bêche-de-mer.

This information was needed to address QFMA priority issues "Estimate sustainable annual harvest levels" and "Monitor black teatfish stocks" (as determined on HarvestMac meeting in March 2000). The findings of the research will be discussed with QFMA, and data on recovery rates, sources of recruits, growth and stock size will directly influence the management decisions on when to re-open the fishery and at which harvest level.

Although the fishery on sandfish in NT and WA was only recently introduced, there were already concerns about over fishing. Management agencies in both states asked AIMS to provide in formation on: 1) genetic structure of sandfish stocks and, 2) likely sources of recruits. Surveys of the fishery were to be carried by NT fisheries in 2000, during which

time it was planned to obtain samples for genetic analysis. The results of this survey were to be used in the assessment of the fishery.

OBJECTIVES

- 1. To develop a survey methodology applicable for all shallow water bêche-de-mer species.
- 2. To adapt established techniques for enzyme electrophoretic analyses of holothurians to several bêche-de-mer species.
- 3. To determine the stock size of bêche-de-mer over a large geographic area in the GBR.
- 4. To determine the stock size and biomass of the black teatfish over a large geographic area in the GBR.
- 5. To establish the period of reproduction of the black teatfish on the GBR.
- 6. To measure dispersal and recruitment in black teatfish using genetic markers.
- 7. To identify and report the implications of these findings for management of bêche-demer fisheries.
- 8. To measure the recovery time for over-fished black teatfish stocks, (numbers and biomass).
- 9. To assess the likely source of recruits to recovering populations, including the role of protected reefs.
- 10. To estimate growth rates for black teatfish.
- 11. To describe large-scale gene flow and dispersal of sandfish among fished populations in NT and WA.

METHODS

DEVELOPMENT OF SURVEY METHODOLOGY

During an initial field trip to Big Broadhurst Reef, 40 and 100 m² belt transects, and standardised manta tows, were used to survey holothurians on the reef flat to test the technique best suited for surveys of all species. Animals were counted only within 1 m on either side of the tow line to reduce the chance of overlooking animals which occurred further from the mid-line as has been reported for wider transects (Harriott 1984). A 2 m long aluminium bar attached to the front edge of the manta board facilitated the estimation of the 2 m width. Each tow lasted for four minutes, at a speed of 2 knots giving a survey area of 250 m x 2 m. Only boat drivers and snorkelers experienced in this work were involved in the surveys and the boat driver measured the speed with a hand held GPS.

SPATIAL SURVEYS AND STOCK SIZE OF BÊCHE-DE-MER OVER THE GBR

Prior to undertaking the quantitative surveys, swim searches and long manta tows were undertaken on a number of reefs to establish crude distribution patterns (all reefs surveyed are marked on Fig. 1). These initial surveys confirmed that mid and outer shelf reefs are the main habitat of *H. nobilis*, and that the species is generally not found on inshore reefs. The manta tow techniques described above were used to survey bêche-demer stocks on the GBR, but all reefs investigated in this way were deemed *a priori* to be suitable habitat for this species. The number of replicate locations per reef and tows per location varied with the size of the reefs (see Table 1). For statistical analysis, reefs were grouped into four arbitrarily chosen sectors, representing regions from north to south of the GBR, and these are also indicated in Table 1. Surveys concentrated on the reef flat area, and areas with > 60% sand cover were avoided because *H. nobilis* was not found there, as the surveys were mainly designed to estimate stock size of *H. nobilis*.

Although some other densities of holothurians are reported, it should be mentioned that many other commercial species have different habitats (white teatfish/*H. fuscogilva*: deeper areas, prickly red fish/*Thelenota ananas* and curry fish/*Stichopus variegatus*: more in backreef/lagoonal areas, Sandfish/*H. scabra*: more coastal and in seagrass beds). Possible exceptions are several *Actinopyga* (blackfish, deepwater redfish) species, the low value species *H. atra* (lollyfish), *S. chloronotus* (greenfish) and leopardfish (*Bohadschia argus*).

Nomad Rf.1280.8992712.1014.31Rt. 13.0501290.89911413.33143.34Rt. 13.1201300.89921413.22144.23Pelcan Rt.10.110.9891search only13.92143.34Stainer Kt.10.110.9891search only13.92143.84Davie Rt.10.310.98928837.7144.23Davie Rt.10.310.9891search only14.00144.26Cack Rt.1290.9981search only14.06144.26Cack Rt.1200.9981search only14.18144.26Swizer Rt.1200.9981search only14.18144.26Swizer Rt.1240.9981search only14.14144.26Swizer Rt.1240.9981search only14.43144.31Rhbon Rt. No. 101260.99963014.74145.73Three Islands1270.9981615.11145.73Rhbon Rt. No. 71250.99921416.05145.87Stringer Rt.2200.99921615.11145.26Agboart Rt. No. 71250.99932116.05145.87Stringer Rt.2200.99921416.55146.03Agboart Rt. No. 71250.9993	Reef Name	Sector	Date	No. of Locations	No. of Tows	Latitude (S)	Longitude (E)
$\begin{split} \begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Nomad Rf.	1	28-08-99	2	7	12.10	143.31
Rt 1-3120 1 14 13.33 143.38 Pelkan Rt 1 0-11-080 1 search only 13.92 143.34 Stainer K. 1 0-11-080 1 search only 13.92 143.34 Stainer K. 1 0-11-080 1 search only 14.00 144.23 Corbett Rt. 1 0-21-098 1 search only 14.06 144.26 Eden Rt. 1 0-21-098 1 search only 14.18 144.00 Tinders Id. 1 2-90-980 1 search only 14.13 144.26 Eden Rt. 1 0-20-998 1 search only 14.13 144.20 Tinders Id. 1 2-90-998 1 search only 14.43 144.20 Tinders Id. 1 2-90-999 3 2-1 15.07 15.73 Tineet IdanGt 1 2-09-999 3 2-1 15.07 145.34 Ribon Rt, No. 1 2 2-90-999 3 2-1 16.05 145.87 Stricisp	Nomad Rf.	1	28-08-99	2	7	12.10	143.31
Rt 13-120 1 300.899 2 14 3.22 144 3.22 144.33 Stainer K. 1 011-10-98 1 search only 13.95 143.84 Stainer K. 1 001-10-98 1 search only 14.00 144.11 Grub R. 1 021-098 1 search only 14.00 143.93 Cack R. 1 021-098 1 search only 14.13 144.00 Grub R. 1 021-098 1 search only 14.13 144.02 Finders Id. 1 290-998 1 search only 14.13 144.76 Bewick R. 1 280-989 2 search only 14.43 144.76 145.71 Bewick R. 1 200-999 6 30 151 145.73 145.73 Unnett Id. 1 20-9999 3 21 15.07 145.73 Ribbon R. No. 7 1 25.0999 3 21 15.55 145.80 Apfacurt R. No. 4 2 290-999 3	Rf. 13-050	1	29-08-99	1	14	13.33	143.98
Perican RJ. I Dial Page I search only 1392 13343 Dank RJ. 1011039 1 search only 1309 143344 Dank RJ. 1011039 1 search only 1400 14411 Cub RJ. 1021098 1 search only 1400 14426 Eden RJ. 1021099 1 search only 1413 144426 Eden RJ. 1209998 1 search only 1413 144426 Swizer RJ. 1289998 1 search only 1413 144476 Bewick RL 1289998 1 search only 1413 144476 Brewick RL 1289999 2 9 14467 14534 Inment Id 1270999 3 21 1507 14537 Three Islands 1 270999 3 21 1507 14538 Agincourt RL No. 7 1 230999 2 12 1535 14580 Agincourt RL No. 1	Rf. 13-120	1	30-08-99	2	14	13.72	144.23
Jahne h. 1 0:11026 1 Search only 14.203 142.40 Corbert KF. 1 0201098 1 4 14.00 144.11 Grube KF. 1 021098 1 search only 14.06 144.26 Eden RF. 1 021098 1 search only 14.13 144.00 Finders Ist. 1 020998 1 search only 14.13 144.00 Finders Ist. 1 220998 1 search only 14.43 144.26 Bewick RL 1 204998 1 search only 14.43 144.26 Bewick RL 1 204998 1 6 15.07 145.73 Inment Ist. 1 14.048 1 27.09 1 1 145.74 Ribon RL No. 7 1 25.09 2 1 15.55 145.83 Agrincourt RL No. 4 2 2409.99 2 12 15.95 145.83 Agr	Pelican Rf.	1	01-10-98	1	search only	13.92	143.84
$\begin{array}{c} corbain Rt. & 1 & 3009.68 & 1 & search only & 14.00 & 144.11 \\ Grub Rt. & 1 & 20.90.98 & 1 & search only & 14.06 & 144.26 \\ Grub Rt. & 1 & 20.90.98 & 1 & search only & 14.06 & 144.26 \\ Harders Id. & 1 & 30.09.98 & 1 & search only & 14.13 & 144.20 \\ Whatton Rt. & 1 & 30.09.98 & 1 & search only & 14.13 & 144.26 \\ Swizer Rt. & 1 & 28.09.98 & 1 & search only & 14.13 & 144.26 \\ Swizer Rt. & 1 & 28.09.98 & 1 & search only & 14.13 & 144.26 \\ Swizer Rt. & 1 & 28.09.98 & 1 & search only & 14.43 & 144.81 \\ Hicks Rt. & 1 & 10.04.99 & 6 & 9 & 14.74 & 145.71 \\ Immett Id. & 1 & 27.09.98 & 1 & 6 & 15.11 & 145.42 \\ Ribon Rt. No. 10 & 1 & 10.04.99 & 6 & 30 & 15.19 & 145.74 \\ Ribon Rt. No. 8 & 1 & 29.09.98 & 1 & 6 & 15.11 & 145.42 \\ Ribon Rt. No. 7 & 1 & 25.09.99 & 4 & 30 & 15.19 & 145.74 \\ Ribon Rt. No. 7 & 1 & 28.09.99 & 2 & 12 & 15.95 & 145.80 \\ Agrincourt Rt. No. 1 & 28.09.99 & 2 & 12 & 15.95 & 145.80 \\ Agrincourt Rt. No. 1 & 28.09.99 & 2 & 12 & 16.05 & 145.87 \\ St Grapin Rt. & 2 & 29.09.99 & 3 & 21 & 16.05 & 145.87 \\ St Grapin Rt. & 2 & 29.09.99 & 3 & 21 & 16.09 & 145.85 \\ Agrincourt Rt. No. 1 & 28.09.99 & 2 & 12 & 16.31 & 146.02 \\ Agrincourt Rt. No. 1 & 28.09.99 & 2 & 10 & 16.51 & 146.63 \\ Agrincourt Rt. No. 1 & 28.09.99 & 2 & 20 & 16.51 & 146.30 \\ Mchaelmas Rt. & 2 & 01.10.99 & 5 & 34 & 16.59 & 146.03 \\ Adrinkton Rt. & 2 & 00.90.99 & 2 & 20 & 16.51 & 146.63 \\ Adrinkton Rt. & 2 & 00.90.99 & 3 & 21 & 15.72 & 146.63 \\ Adrinkton Rt. & 2 & 00.90.99 & 1 & 12 & 18.49 & 147.18 \\ Mcculloch Rt. & 2 & 00.90.10 & 3 & 18 & 17.73 & 146.63 \\ Heatings Rt. & 2 & 05.01.00 & 2 & 12 & 17.48 & 146.41 \\ Feather Rt. & 2 & 05.01.00 & 3 & 18 & 17.74 & 146.73 \\ Mcculloch Rt. & 2 & 05.01.00 & 3 & 18 & 17.74 & 146.73 \\ Mcculloch Rt. & 2 & 05.01.00 & 3 & 18 & 17.74 & 146.73 \\ Mcculloch Rt. & 2 & 05.01.00 & 3 & 18 & 17.74 & 146.73 \\ Mcculloch Rt. & 2 & 05.01.00 & 3 & 18 & 17.74 & 146.73 \\ Mcculloch Rt. & 2 & 05.01.00 & 3 & 18 & 17.74 & 146.73 \\ Mcculloch Rt. & 2 & 05.01.00 & 3 & 18 & 17.74 & 146.73 \\ Mcculloch Rt. & 2 & 05.01.00 & 3 & 18 & 17.7$	Stainer Kr.	1	01-10-98	1	search only	13.95	143.04
Crub R.10210981414.0314233Eden R.12909981search only14.06144.26Eden R.102019981search only14.18144.20Finders Id.12009982search only14.18144.20Finders Id.12809981search only14.18144.26Swizer K.12809981search only14.43144.31Bewick R.11040482914.46145.19Ribbon R. No. 1126099863014.74145.71Bewick R.12009981615.11145.72Ribbon R. No. 7125099921215.95145.83Agricourt R. No. 1228099921215.95145.83Agricourt R. No. 4228099921215.95145.83Agricourt R. No. 4228099921216.61145.90Hasing R.230.994932116.61145.90Hasing R.230.994932116.61146.30Hasing R.230.994932116.64146.39Suffwary R.230.994931216.64146.30Suffwary R.230.994931216.64146.39Suffwary R.230.994931216.64146.39	Corbett Rf	1	30-09-98	1	search only	14.00	144.45
Clack Rf. 1 290998 1 search only 14.06 144.26 Whatton Rf. 1 300998 1 search only 14.13 144.00 Finders Isl. 1 290998 1 search only 14.13 144.26 Swizer Rt. 1 280998 1 7 14.37 144.76 Bewick Rt. 1 280998 2 9 14.46 145.49 Hick Rt. 1 220999 6 30 14.74 145.71 Linnett Isl. 1 220999 3 21 15.19 145.72 Ribbon Rt. No. 1 2209999 2 14 16.05 145.87 Agincourt Rt. No. 1 2809999 2 14 16.05 145.87 Stripin Rt. 2 300999 3 21 16.09 145.87 Orall Rt. 2 300999 3 11 146.02 Michalemas Rt. 146.02 Michalemas Rt. 2 <	Grub Rf.	1	02-10-98	1	4	14.03	143.93
Eden Rf. 1 02-10-98 1 search only 14.18 143.02 Flinders Isl. 1 230-09-98 2 search only 14.18 144.20 Flinders Isl. 1 280-99-86 1 search only 14.18 144.23 Bewick Rf. 1 280-99-86 1 search only 14.43 144.35 Bewick Rf. 1 10-04-98 2 9 14.46 145.49 Ribbon Rf. No. 10 1 26-09-98 6 13.01 14.57 145.33 Ribbon Rf. No. 6 1 27-09-98 1 6 15.11 145.22 Ribbon Rf. No. 7 1 26-01-00 3 16 15.55 145.80 Agincourt Rf. No. 4 2 20-09-99 2 12 15.63 146.63 Agincourt Rf. No. 4 2 20-09-99 2 16 145.59 146.03 Agincourt Rf. No. 4 2 00-09-99 3 21 16.36 145.90	Clack Rf.	1	29-09-98	1	search only	14.06	144.26
Whatton Rf. 1 3009-98 1 search only 14.13 144.00 Swizer Rf. 1 2809-98 1 7 14.37 144.28 Swizer Rf. 1 2809-98 1 7 14.37 144.28 Swizer Rf. 1 2809-98 1 8earch only 14.43 144.44 145.49 Ribbon Rf. No. 1 1 2609-98 1 6 15.11 145.73 Ribbon Rf. No. 7 1 2509-99 2 12 15.55 145.30 Agincourt Rf. No. 1 2 2809-99 2 14 16.05 145.42 Ribbon Rf. No. 2 1 06-01-00 3 18 15.55 145.80 Agincourt Rf. No. 1 2 2800-99 2 10 16.151 146.02 Michaelmas Rf. 2 3000-99 3 21 16.36 145.30 Michaelmas Rf. 2 01-10-99 5 34 16.57 146.40	Eden Rf.	1	02-10-98	1	search only	14.08	143.92
Inders Ial. I 2909-98 2 search only 14.13 14.42.8 Bewick Rf. I 2809-98 I yearch only 14.43 144.47 Bewick Rf. I 02409-98 I yearch only 14.43 144.54 Ribon Ri. No. 10 12609-98 G 30 14.74 145.73 Immett Ial. No. 8 1 2509-98 G 1 15.07 145.73 Three Islands 1 2509-98 I G 15.19 145.42 Ribbon Ri. No. 7 1 2609-99 2 12 15.95 145.83 Agricourt Ri. No. 4 1 2809-99 2 14 16.05 145.83 SC rispin Ri. 2 3009-99 3 21 16.36 145.90 Hasings Ri. 2 3009-99 3 16 145.91 146.03 Ariticton Ri. 2 0210-09 6 42 16.79 146.44 Fonguiagri	Wharton Rf.	1	30-09-98	1	search only	14.13	144.00
Shize Ri. 1 2609-96 1 7 14-37 14-4.0 Hicks Ri. 1 2609-96 1 search only 14.43 144.61 Hicks Ri. 1 2609-96 2 9 14.46 145.61 Linnett Is. 1 2509-96 1 6 1.79 145.73 Linnett Is. 1 2509-99 3 21 1.507 145.74 Ribon Ri. No. 7 1 2509-99 2 12 15.55 145.80 Agincourt Ri. No. 1 280-999 2 12 15.95 145.87 Strispin Ri. 2 290-999 3 21 16.05 145.87 Tongue Ri. 2 300-999 3 21 16.30 146.02 Michaelmas Ri. 2 300-999 3 21 16.63 146.02 Micculor Ri. 2 0501-00 2 12 7.44 146.43 Peart Ri. 2 0501-00 <td< td=""><td>Flinders Isl.</td><td>1</td><td>29-09-98</td><td>2</td><td>search only</td><td>14.18</td><td>144.28</td></td<>	Flinders Isl.	1	29-09-98	2	search only	14.18	144.28
Dirkis Ri. 1 1004-98 2 Beau J, Miran 14-16 14-53 Bibban Ri, No. 10 1 250999 6 3 0 14.74 145.37 Linnett Id. 1 250999 1 6 15.07 145.37 Three Islands 1 250999 3 16 15.19 145.42 Ribbon Ri, No. 2 1 06-01-00 3 18 15.55 145.83 Agincourt Ri, No. 4 1 2809-99 2 14 16.05 145.83 S (risijn Ri, 2 2909-99 2 20 16.36 145.90 Hasings Ri, 2 3009-99 2 20 16.51 146.03 Artichoro Ri, 2 200-10-99 5 30 17.02 146.43 Sudbury Ri, 2 2050-100 3 18 17.27 146.44 Feart Ri, 2 050-100 3 18 17.27 146.44 Feart No, 1 <td>Swizer Ri. Bowick Rf</td> <td>1</td> <td>20-09-90</td> <td>1</td> <td>soarch only</td> <td>14.37</td> <td>144.70</td>	Swizer Ri. Bowick Rf	1	20-09-90	1	soarch only	14.37	144.70
Ribbon Rt. No. 10 1 26:09:99 6 30 14:74 14:571 Ribbon Rt. No. 8 1 29:09:99 3 21 15.07 14:53:44 Ribbon Rt. No. 7 1 25:09:99 4 30 15.11 14:54:24 Ribbon Rt. No. 7 1 25:09:99 2 12 15:55 14:56:30 Agincourt Rt. No. 1 2 28:09:99 2 12 15:55 14:56:30 Agincourt Rt. No. 1 2 28:09:99 2 10 16:51 14:56:30 Opal Rt. 2 29:09:99 3 21 16:30 14:57:30 Hashings Rt: 2 30:09:99 2 20 16:51 14:60:20 Michaelmas Rt. 2 0:10:99 6 42 16:72 14:64:99 Sudburry Rt. 2 0:2:0:10:00 3 18 17:29 14:64:49 Peart Rt. 2 0:5:0:10:00 3 18 17:54 14:63:39	Hicks Rf.	1	10-04-98	2	9	14.46	145.49
Linnet Isl. 1 27.0998 1 6 1 15.07 145.73 Three Islands 1 27.0998 1 6 15.19 145.74 Ribbon Ri. No. 7 1 25.0999 1 6 15.19 145.74 Ribbon Ri. No. 7 1 26.0999 2 12 15.95 145.80 Agincourt Ri. No. 4 2 80.0999 2 14 16.05 145.87 St. Crispin Ri. 2 29.0999 2 214 16.05 145.87 St. Crispin Ri. 2 29.0999 2 20 16.21 145.95 St. Crispin Ri. 2 29.0999 2 20 16.21 145.95 Tongue Ri. 2 30.0999 3 21 16.36 145.90 Hastings Ri. 2 30.0999 3 21 16.36 145.90 Hastings Ri. 2 30.0999 3 21 16.36 145.90 Hastings Ri. 2 30.0999 3 20 16.51 146.02 Michaelmas Ri. 2 01-1099 5 34 16.59 146.03 Arlington Ri. 2 02-10.99 6 42 16.72 146.03 Michaelmas Ri. 2 03-10.99 4 24 17.29 146.43 Michaelmas Ri. 2 05-01-00 2 12 17.74 146.44 Feather Ri. 2 05-01-00 3 18 17.57 146.54 Ellison Ri. 2 06-01-00 3 18 17.57 146.56 Ellison Ri. 2 06-01-00 3 18 17.57 146.56 Ellison Ri. 2 06-01-00 3 18 17.57 146.54 Ellison Ri. 2 240.500 1 12 18.27 147.39 Saber Ri. No. 1 2 250.500 1 12 18.27 147.59 Saber Ri. 2 19.12.98 1 9 18.75 147.57 Cenetepede Ri. 2 19.12.98 1 9 18.75 147.57 Cenetepede Ri. 2 19.12.98 1 9 18.75 147.27 Wheeler Ri. 3 26.02.00 5 28 19.30 148.11 Old Ri. 3 26.02.00 5 28 19.30 148.11 Old Ri. 3 26.02.00 5 28 19.30 148.11 Old Ri. 3 18.05.99 1 7 19.76 149.92 Stanler Ri. 3 18.0	Ribbon Rf. No. 10	1	26-09-99	6	30	14.74	145.71
Ribbon Ri. No. 8129:09:9932115.07145.73Ribbon Ri. No. 7125:09:9943015.11145.42Ribbon Ri. No. 2106:01:0031815.55145.83Agincourt Ri. No. 4128:09:9921215.55145.83Agincourt Ri. No. 1228:09:9921215.55145.83St Crispin Ri.229:09:9932116.65145.90Hastings Ri.230:09:9932116.51146.02Michaelmas Ri.230:09:9932116.51146.02Michaelmas Ri.201:10:9953416.51146.03Michaelmas Ri.207:10:9964216.72146.33McCulloch Ri.207:01:0931817.34146.44Peart Ri.205:01:0031817.34146.74Moss Ki.207:01:0031817.34146.74Moss Ki.208:01:0031817.34146.74Moss Ki.208:01:0031817.34146.74Moss Ki.208:01:0031817.34146.74Moss Ki.208:01:0031817.34146.74Moss Ki.208:01:0031817.34146.74Moss Ki.208:01:0031817.34146.74	Linnett Isl.	1	27-09-98	1	6	14.79	145.34
Three Islands127.09.981615.11145.42Ribbon Ri, No. 7125.09.9943015.19145.74Ribon Ri, No. 428.09.9921215.55145.80Agincourt Ri, No. 1228.09.9921215.55145.83St Crispin Ri,229.09.9922016.22145.95Opal Ri,229.09.9922016.51146.02Michaelmas Ri,230.09.9932116.36145.90Hastings Ri230.09.9932116.36146.03Arlington Ri,202.10.9964216.79146.03Michaelmas Ri,203.10.9942417.29146.44Peart Ri,205.01.0031817.54146.39Potter Ri,207.01.0031817.37146.41Feat Ri,205.01.0031817.37146.41Ri, 17.06.5208.01.0031817.37146.46Myrmidon Ri,22405.0021218.73146.74Moras Ri, Ri, 7.122405.0031817.37146.41Bowl Ri,22305.0011218.49147.53Cenetopede Ri,216.10.9611218.49147.54Cenetopede Ri,216.10.9611218.47145.74 <t< td=""><td>Ribbon Rf. No. 8</td><td>1</td><td>29-09-99</td><td>3</td><td>21</td><td>15.07</td><td>145.73</td></t<>	Ribbon Rf. No. 8	1	29-09-99	3	21	15.07	145.73
Kibbon Ri, No. 21 $2549-99$ 430 $1-19$ 14_2 , 4_4 Agincour Ri, No. 21 $660-100$ 318 15.55 145.83 Agincour Ri, No. 1 $2809-99$ 212 15.55 145.83 St Crispin Ri,2 $2909-99$ 321 16.05 145.85 Opal Ri,2 $2909-99$ 321 16.51 146.02 Hastings Ri,2 $3009-99$ 321 16.51 146.02 Michaelmas Ri,2 $01-10-99$ 5 34 16.51 146.03 Arlington Ri,2 $22409-99$ 5 30 17.02 146.23 McCulloch Ri,2 $050-100$ 2 12 17.48 146.41 Peart Ri,2 $050-100$ 3 18 17.37 146.56 Ellison Ri,2 $07-100$ 3 18 17.37 146.56 Othor Ri,2 $07-100$ 3 18 17.37 146.56 Mors Ki,2 $280-500$ 2 12 18.47 145.74 Moss Ki,2 $230-500$ 3 18 17.37 146.74 Moss Ki,2 $230-500$ 3 18 17.37 146.74 Moss Ki,2 $230-500$ 3 18 17.37 147.74 Bowl Ri,2 $230-500$ 3 18 17.57 147.53 Cenetepede Ri,2 $1-12$ 18.49 147.74 Moss Ki,2	Three Islands	1	27-09-98	1	6	15.11	145.42
RIDDOIN RI, NO, 2106-01-3031615.35145.83Agincourt RI, No, 12240-959921215.95145.83Agincourt RI, No, 12240-959922016.22145.90Opal RI,2240-959932116.05145.87Opal RI,2300-99932116.36145.90Hastings RI,2300-99932116.36145.90Hastings RI,2010-9953416.59146.03Arlington RI,20210-9964216.72146.03McCulloch RI,20501-0021217.48146.41Feart RI,20501-0031817.73146.56Ellison RI,20701-0031817.87146.74Mos RI,20401-0031817.87146.74Mos RI,22050-0011218.49147.18Mos RI,216-10-9811218.74147.53Slasher RI, No. 122505-0031817.87146.74Mos RI,216-10-9811218.74147.53Genetepede RI,215-10-8811218.74147.53Lawer RI,215-10-8911218.74147.53Davies RI,215-10-991118.80147.65Lawer RI, <td< td=""><td>Ribbon Rt. No. /</td><td>1</td><td>25-09-99</td><td>4</td><td>30</td><td>15.19</td><td>145./4</td></td<>	Ribbon Rt. No. /	1	25-09-99	4	30	15.19	145./4
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Agincourt Rf. No. 2	1	28 09 99	3	18	15.55	145.80
St Crispin Rf. 2 2909-99 3 21 16.09 143 85 Opal Rf. 2 2909-99 2 20 16.22 145 90 Iongue Ri. 2 3009-99 2 20 16.36 145 90 Instangs Rt. 2 3009-99 2 20 16.35 146.03 Arlington Rf. 2 02-10-99 6 42 16.72 146.03 Arlington Rf. 2 02-10-99 5 30 17.72 146.23 McCulloch Rf. 2 03-10-09 2 12 17.48 146.41 Feart Rf. 2 05-01-00 3 18 17.75 146.74 McSulloch Rf. 2 07-01-00 3 18 17.73 146.74 More Rf. 2 07-01-00 3 18 17.75 146.74 More Rf. 2 07-01-00 3 18 17.77 146.74 More Rf. 2 20-05-00 1 12 18.75 147.73 Stare Rf. 2 <t></t>	Agincourt Rf. No. 1	2	28-09-99	2	14	16.05	145.87
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	St Crispin Rf.	2	29-09-99	3	21	16.09	145.85
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Opal Rf.	2	29-09-99	2	20	16.22	145.90
Hastings Rf. 2 3009-99 2 20 16.51 146.02 Michaelmas Ri. 2 0110-99 5 34 16.59 146.03 Arlington Rf. 2 0210-99 6 42 16.72 146.03 McCulloch Rf. 2 0310-99 4 24 17.39 146.44 Feather Rf. 2 0501-00 3 18 17.54 146.39 Potter Rf. 2 0701-00 3 18 17.73 146.41 Feather Rf. 2 0801-00 3 18 17.73 146.41 Moss Rf. 2 0801-00 3 18 17.37 146.41 Moss Rf. 2 0801-00 3 18 17.37 146.41 Staker Rf. 1 12 18.49 147.18 147.18 Bowl Rf. 2 2305-00 1 12 18.49 147.18 Bowl Rf. 2 19.1298 1 <td< td=""><td>Tongue Rf.</td><td>2</td><td>30-09-99</td><td>3</td><td>21</td><td>16.36</td><td>145.90</td></td<>	Tongue Rf.	2	30-09-99	3	21	16.36	145.90
$\begin{aligned} & \text{Michaelmas Rt.} & 2 & 01-10-99 & 5 & 34 & 16.59 & 146.03 \\ & \text{Arlington Rt.} & 2 & 02-10-99 & 6 & 42 & 16.72 & 146.03 \\ & \text{McCulloch Rt.} & 2 & 03-01-99 & 4 & 24 & 17.29 & 146.44 \\ & \text{Peart Rt.} & 2 & 05-01-00 & 2 & 12 & 17.48 & 146.41 \\ & \text{Peart Rt.} & 2 & 05-01-00 & 3 & 18 & 17.54 & 146.39 \\ & \text{Peather Rt.} & 2 & 07-01-00 & 3 & 18 & 17.73 & 146.41 \\ & \text{Rt.} & 17.05 & 2 & 08-01-00 & 3 & 18 & 17.87 & 146.74 \\ & \text{Mors Rt.} & 2 & 07-01-00 & 3 & 18 & 17.87 & 146.74 \\ & \text{Moss Rt.} & 2 & 08-01-00 & 3 & 18 & 17.87 & 146.74 \\ & \text{Moss Rt.} & 2 & 08-01-00 & 3 & 18 & 17.87 & 146.74 \\ & \text{Moss Rt.} & 2 & 08-01-00 & 3 & 18 & 17.94 & 146.80 \\ & \text{Myrmidon Rf.} & 2 & 240-500 & 2 & 12 & 18.27 & 147.39 \\ & \text{Slasher Rt. No.} 1 & 2 & 25-05-00 & 1 & 12 & 18.49 & 147.18 \\ & \text{Bowl Rt.} & 2 & 25-05-00 & 3 & 18 & 18.51 & 147.54 \\ & \text{Cenetepede Rf.} & 2 & 16-10-98 & 1 & 12 & 18.74 & 147.53 \\ & \text{Cenetepede Rf.} & 2 & 15-10-98 & 1 & 9 & 18.75 & 147.27 \\ & \text{Wheeler Rf.} & 2 & 15-10-98 & 1 & 11 & 18.80 & 147.65 \\ & \text{Big Broadhurst Rf.} & 2 & 270-5-00 & 6 & 86 & 18.91 & 147.74 \\ & \text{Little Broadhurst Rf.} & 2 & 14-10-98 & 1 & 3 & 18.95 & 147.69 \\ & \text{Stanley Rf.} & 3 & 24-02-00 & 4 & 24 & 19.35 & 148.08 \\ & \text{Stucco Rf.} & 3 & 126-5-99 & 1 & 7 & 19.66 & 149.76 \\ & \text{Rf.} 19-156 & 3 & 16-05-99 & 1 & 7 & 19.74 & 149.35 \\ & \text{Hardy Rf.} & 3 & 1905-99 & 1 & 7 & 19.74 & 149.35 \\ & \text{Hardy Rf.} & 3 & 1905-99 & 1 & 7 & 19.74 & 149.35 \\ & \text{Hardy Rf.} & 3 & 1905-99 & 1 & 7 & 19.74 & 149.35 \\ & \text{Hardy Rf.} & 3 & 1905-99 & 1 & 7 & 19.77 & 149.20 \\ & \text{East-Black Rf.} & 3 & 1905-99 & 1 & 7 & 19.74 & 149.35 \\ & \text{Hardy Rf.} & 3 & 1905-99 & 1 & 7 & 19.74 & 149.21 \\ & \text{Hyde Rf.} & 3 & 1905-99 & 1 & 14 & 19.61 & 150.02 \\ & \text{Hok Rf.} & 3 & 1905-99 & 1 & 14 & 21.10 & 151.72 \\ & \text{Ff.} 21-151 & 4 & 20-04-99 & 2 & 14 & 21.10 & 151.72 \\ & \text{Ff.} 21-151 & 4 & 10-04-99 & 1 & 18 & 21.72 & 152.66 \\ & \text{Detour Rf.} & 4 & 1304-99 & 1 & 8 a 21.96 & 152.24 \\ & \text{Hardy Rf.} & 4 & 1304-99 & 1 & 8 a 21.96 & 152.42 \\ & \text{Hardy Rf.} & 4 & 1304-99$	Hastings Rf.	2	30-09-99	2	20	16.51	146.02
$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	Michaelmas Rf.	2	01-10-99	5	34	16.59	146.03
SubDUITY N.2224-09-9933017.02140.23McCulloch Rf.20501-0021217.48146.41Peattr Rf.20501-0031817.54146.39Potter Rf.207-01-0031217.70146.56Ellison Rf.207-01-0031817.87146.41Kt. 17-055208-01-0031817.87146.74Moss Rf.2240-50021218.27147.39Slasher Rf. No. 12250-50011218.49147.18Bowl Rf.2250-50011218.74147.53Cenetepede Rf.216-10-9811118.80147.53Veheeler Rf.219-12-981918.75147.27Wheeler Rf.222-05-0052418.83147.65Big Broadhurst Rf.214-10-981318.95147.69Stanley Rf.325-02-0052819.30148.11Old Rf.32402-0042419.35148.09Stucc Nf.316-05-991719.66149.60Rf. 19-156316-05-991719.74149.21Hyde Rf.318-05-991719.74149.21Hyde Rf.318-05-991719.74149.21Hyde Rf.3 </td <td>Arlington Rt.</td> <td>2</td> <td>02-10-99</td> <td>6</td> <td>42</td> <td>16./2</td> <td>146.09</td>	Arlington Rt.	2	02-10-99	6	42	16./2	146.09
	McCulloch Rf	2	24-09-99	3	24	17.02	140.25
Feather Rf.205010031817.54146.39Potter Rf.207.010031217.70146.56Ellison Rf.207.010031817.73146.41Rf. 17.065208.01.0031817.87146.74Moss Rf.224.05.0021218.27147.39Slasher Rf. No. 1225.05.0011218.49147.18Bowl Rf.223.05.0031818.51147.54Cenetepede Rf.215.10.981918.75147.27Wheeler Rf.219.12.981918.75147.27Wheeler Rf.222.05.0052418.83147.65Big Broadhurst Rf.222.05.0052418.83147.65Sing Roadhurst Rf.222.05.0052819.30148.11Old Rf.316.05.991719.66149.60Rf. 19.156316.05.991719.66149.76Rf. 19.156316.05.991719.74149.23Hardy Rf.31305.991719.74149.21Hyde Rf.31305.991719.77149.20Hardy Rf.31305.991719.77149.20East Cay4120.49.9921421.10151.72Hardy Rf.313	Peart Rf.	2	05-01-00	2	12	17.48	146.41
Potter Rf.20.701-0031217.70146.56Ellison Rf.20.701-0031817.73146.74Moss Rf.20.801-0031817.87146.74Moss Rf.20.801-0031817.94146.80Myrmidon Rf.22.2405-0011218.27147.39Slasher Rf. No. 122.505-0011218.74147.18Bowl Rf.22.305-0031818.71147.54Cenetepede Rf.21.912-981918.75147.23Wheeler Rf.22.205-0052.4418.80147.53Davies Rf.22.205-0052.418.83147.65Big Broadhurst Rf.22.705-0068818.91147.74Uttle Broadhurst Rf.22.705-0052.819.30148.11Old Rf.31.805147.691318.95147.69Stanley Rf.31.605-991719.66149.60Rf. 19.15631.605-991719.74149.35Hardy Rf.31.805.991719.74149.32Hardy Rf.31.805-9921.819.76150.09Hok Rf.31.805-991719.77149.20East-Black Rf.31.805-991719.77149.20 <td< td=""><td>Feather Rf.</td><td>2</td><td>05-01-00</td><td>3</td><td>18</td><td>17.54</td><td>146.39</td></td<>	Feather Rf.	2	05-01-00	3	18	17.54	146.39
Ellison Rí.207-01-0031817.73146.41Rí. 17-065208-01-0031817.87146.67Moss Rí.208-01-0031817.94146.80Myrmidon Rí.224-05-0021218.27147.39Slasher Rí. No. 1225-05-0031818.51147.18Bowl Rí.216-10-9811218.74147.53Keeper Rí.219-12-981918.75147.27Wheeler Rí.215-10-9811118.80147.53Davies Rí.222-05-0052418.83147.65Big Broadhurst Rí.227-05-0068818.91147.74Little Broadhurst Rí.212-02-0052819.30148.11Old Rí.325-02-0052819.30148.11Old Rí.316-05-991719.66149.60Kí. 19-159316-05-991719.74149.35Hardy Rí.319-05-991719.74149.35Hardy Rí.313-05-991719.74149.35Hardy Rí.313-05-991719.77149.43Rebe Rí.313-05-991719.74149.35Hardy Rí.313-05-99111419.61150.15Whitelp Rí.<	Potter Rf.	2	07-01-00	3	12	17.70	146.56
Rt. 17-065208-01-0031817.87146.74Moss Rf.208-01-0031817.94146.80Myrmidon Rf.224-05-0021218.27147.39Slasher Rf. No. 1225-05-0011218.49147.18Bowl Rf.223-05-0031818.51147.54Cenetepede Rf.216-10-981918.75147.77Wheeler Rf.215-10-9811118.80147.53Davies Rf.222-05-0052418.83147.65Big Broadhurst Rf.227-05-0068818.91147.74Little Broadhurst Rf.214-10-981318.95147.69Stanley Rf.325-02-0052819.30148.11Old Rf.325-02-0052819.30148.11Old Rf.317-05-991719.66149.76Stanley Rf.316-05-991719.66149.76Rf. 19-156316-05-991719.74149.21Hyde Rf.31905-991719.74149.21Hyde Rf.31905-991719.77149.20East-Black Rf.31805-991719.77149.20East-Black Rf.313-05-9911419.66150.22James Rf. <t< td=""><td>Ellison Rf.</td><td>2</td><td>07-01-00</td><td>3</td><td>18</td><td>17.73</td><td>146.41</td></t<>	Ellison Rf.	2	07-01-00	3	18	17.73	146.41
MOSS N.206014031817.94140.80Myrmidon Rí.224050021218.27147.39Slasher Rí. No. 1225050011218.49147.18Bowl Rí.223050031818.51147.54Cenetepede Rí.21912981918.75147.27Wheeler Rf.215109811118.80147.53Davies Rí.222050052418.83147.65Big Broadhurst Rí.227050068818.91147.74Little Broadhurst Rí.21410981318.95147.69Stanley Rí.325020052819.30148.11Old Rí.31605.991719.66149.76Stucco Rí.31605.991719.66149.76Rí. 19-15631605.991719.74149.21Hyde Rí.31905.991719.74149.21Hyde Rí.31905.991719.77149.20EastBlack Rí.31805.9911419.66150.22Ki. 21-149421.04.9921421.10151.72Ki. 21-149421.04.9911819.92150.27James Rí.31305.9911819.92150.22Ki. 21-149421.04.99 <t< td=""><td>Rf. 17-065</td><td>2</td><td>08-01-00</td><td>3</td><td>18</td><td>17.87</td><td>146.74</td></t<>	Rf. 17-065	2	08-01-00	3	18	17.87	146.74
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	MOSS KI.	2	24.05.00	3	18	17.94	146.80
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Slasher Rf No. 1	2	25-05-00	2	12	18.49	147.39
Cenetepede Rf.216+10-9811218.74147.53Keeper Rf.219-12-981918.75147.27Wheeler Rf.215-10-9811118.80147.53Davies Rf.222.05-0052418.83147.65Big Broadhurst Rf.214.10-981318.95147.69Stanley Rf.3140.78140.981318.95147.69Stanley Rf.325.02-0052.819.30148.11Old Rf.324.02-0042.419.35148.08Stucco Rf.317.05-9921619.56149.60Rf. 19-159316.05-991719.74149.92Black Rf.319.05-991719.74149.21Hyde Rf.319.05-9921819.76150.09Hook Rf.319.05-991719.77149.20EastBlack Rf.313.05-9911419.81150.15White-tip Rf.313.05-9911819.92150.27James Ri.312.05-9921421.10151.72K e2be Rf.313.05-9911819.92150.27James Ri.312.05-9921421.10151.72K e2be Rf.312.05-9911819.92150.27James Ri.	Bowl Rf.	2	23-05-00	3	18	18.51	147.54
Keeper Rf.219-12-981918.75147.27Wheeler Rf.215-10-9811118.80147.53Davies Rf.222050052418.83147.65Big Broadhurst Rf.227050068818.91147.74Little Broadhurst Rf.227050052819.30148.11Old Rf.325020052819.30148.11Old Rf.324020042419.35148.08Stucco Rf.317-05-9921619.56149.60Kf. 19-156316-05-991719.66149.76Rf. 19-159316-05-991719.74149.21Hardy Rf.319.05-9912119.74149.21Hyde Rf.319.05-991719.74149.21Hyde Rf.318.05-992919.79149.43Rebe Rf.314.05-9911419.81150.15White-tip Rf.313.05-9911419.81150.22Rf. 21-149421-04-9921421.10151.72James Rf.312.05-9921319.96150.22Rf. 21-149421-04-9911221.49152.57Rf. 21-149421-04-9911221.49152.57Rf. 21-149421-04-99 <td>Cenetepede Rf.</td> <td>2</td> <td>16-10-98</td> <td>1</td> <td>12</td> <td>18.74</td> <td>147.53</td>	Cenetepede Rf.	2	16-10-98	1	12	18.74	147.53
Wheeler Rf.215.10-9811118.80147.53Davies Rf.222.05-0052418.83147.65Big Broadhurst Rf.227.05-0068818.91147.74Little Broadhurst Rf.214.10-981318.95147.69Stanley Rf.325-02-0052819.30148.11Old Rf.324-02-0042419.35148.08Stucco Rf.317-05-9921619.56149.60Rf. 19-156316-05-991719.66149.76Rf. 19-159316-05-991719.74149.35Hardy Rf.318-05-991719.74149.21Hyde Rf.319-05-9921819.76150.09Hook Rf.319-05-991719.77149.20EastBlack Rf.318-05-992919.79149.43Rebe Rf.313-05-9911419.81150.15White-tip Rf.313-05-9921319.96150.22James Rf.312-05-9921421.10151.72Rf. 21-149421-04-9911221.49152.57Rf. 21-151421-04-9911821.72152.66East Cav418-04-9911821.72152.44Turner Cay4<	Keeper Rf.	2	19-12-98	1	9	18.75	147.27
Davies Rt.222205-0052418.83147.65Big Broadhurst Rf.22705-0068818.91147.74Little Broadhurst Rf.21410-981318.95147.69Stanley Rf.32502-0052819.30148.11Old Rf.32402-0042419.35148.08Stucco Rf.317-05-9921619.56149.60Rf. 19-156316-05-991719.66149.76Rf. 19-159316-05-991719.74149.35Black Rf.31805-991719.74149.35Hardy Rf.31905-991719.74149.21Hyde Rf.31505-992919.77149.20East-Black Rf.31805-991719.77149.20East-Black Rf.31305-9911419.81150.15White-tip Rf.31305-9911819.92150.27James Rf.31205-9921421.10151.72Rf. 21-15142104-9911214.49150.15Kf. 21-149421-04-9911214.99152.57Rf. 21-15142104-9911821.72152.44Hurner Cay41804-9911821.72152.44Hurner Cay4180	Wheeler Rf.	2	15-10-98	1	11	18.80	147.53
Big Broadmurst Rr.22/-05-006606016.9114/.74Little Broadhurst Rf.214/10-981318.95147.69Stanley Rf.325-02-0052819.30148.11Old Rf.317-05-9921619.35148.08Stucco Rf.317-05-9921619.56149.60Rf. 19-156316-05-991719.66149.76Rf. 19-159316-05-991719.74149.92Black Rf.319-05-991719.74149.21Hyde Rf.319-05-991719.77149.20East-Black Rf.319-05-992919.79149.43Rebe Rf.314-05-9911419.81150.15White-tip Rf.313-05-9911819.92150.27James Rf.312-05-9921421.10151.72Rf. 21-149421-04-9921421.10151.72Rf. 21-151420-04-991321.56151.48Recreation Cay418-04-9918earch only21.68152.44Turner Cay418-04-9918earch only21.68152.44Turner Cay418-04-9911821.72152.56Detour Rf.417-04-9918earch only21.68152.42	Davies Rt.	2	22-05-00	5	24	18.83	147.65
Little Dodultins Ri.21440901316.95144.05Stanley Ri.325020052819.30148.11Old Ri.324020042419.35148.08Stucco Ri.317.059921619.56149.60Ki. 19-156316.05-991719.66149.76Ri. 19-159316.05-991719.74149.92Black Ri.318.05-991719.74149.21Hyde Ri.319.05-991719.74149.21Hyde Ri.319.05-991719.77149.20East-Black Rf.318.05-992919.77149.20East-Black Rf.314.05-9911419.81150.15White-tip Rf.313.05-9911819.92150.27James Ri.312.05-9921421.10151.72Rf. 21-149421.04-9921421.10151.72Rf. 21-151420.04-991321.56151.48Recreation Cay418.04-9911821.72152.57Rf. 21-433421.04-9911821.72152.56Detour Rf.417.04-9921421.79152.44Turner Cay418.04-9911821.76152.42Half Tide Rf.41	Little Broadburst Rf.	2	27-05-00	0 1	00	18.91	147.74
Salar (1)3224020042419.35148.08Stucco Rf.317-05-9921619.56149.60Rf. 19-156316-05-991719.66149.76Rf. 19-159316-05-9911419.67149.92Black Rf.318-05-991719.74149.35Hardy Rf.319-05-991719.74149.21Hyde Rf.319-05-991719.77149.20East-Black Rf.318-05-992919.77149.20East-Black Rf.314-05-9911419.81150.15White-tip Rf.312-05-992919.79149.43Rebe Rf.312-05-9921319.96150.22James Rf.312-05-9921421.10151.72Rf. 21-151420-04-9921421.10151.72Rf. 21-151420-04-991321.56151.48Recreation Cay418-04-991321.56151.48Recreation Cay418-04-9918earch only21.68152.44Turner Cay418-04-9918earch only21.76152.42Half Tide Rf.415-04-9921421.79152.49Rf. 21-551415-04-9931522.00152.66Chinaman Rf.	Stanley Rf	3	25-02-00	5	28	19.30	148 11
Stucco Rf.317-05-9921619.56149.60Rf. 19-156316-05-991719.66149.76Rf. 19-159316-05-9911419.67149.92Black Rf.318-05-991719.74149.35Hardy Rf.319-05-9912119.74149.21Hyde Rf.315-05-9921819.76150.09Hook Rf.318-05-992919.79149.43Rebe Rf.318-05-991719.77149.20East-Black Rf.318-05-992919.79149.43Rebe Rf.313-05-9911419.81150.15White-tip Rf.313-05-9911819.92150.27James Rf.312-05-9921421.10151.72Rf. 21-149421-04-9921421.10151.72Rf. 21-151420-04-9911221.49152.57Rf. 21-433421-04-991321.56151.48Recreation Cay418-04-9911821.72152.56Detour Rf.417-04-9921421.79152.49Half Tide Rf.417-04-9921421.79152.49Rf. 21-551415-04-9931522.00152.66Snake Rf.413-04-99 </td <td>Old Rf.</td> <td>3</td> <td>24-02-00</td> <td>4</td> <td>24</td> <td>19.35</td> <td>148.08</td>	Old Rf.	3	24-02-00	4	24	19.35	148.08
Rf. 19-156316-05-991719.66149.76Rf. 19-159316-05-9911419.67149.92Black Rf.318-05-991719.74149.35Hardy Rf.319-05-9912119.74149.21Hyde Rf.315-05-9921819.76150.09Hook Rf.319-05-991719.77149.20East-Black Rf.318-05-992919.79149.43Rebe Rf.313-05-9911419.81150.15White-tip Rf.313-05-9911819.92150.27James Rf.312-05-9921421.10151.72Rf. 21-149421-04-9921421.10151.72Rf. 21-149421-04-9911221.49152.57Rf. 21-433421-04-991321.56151.48Recreation Cay418-04-9918earch only21.68152.44Turner Cay418-04-9911821.72152.56Detour Rf.417-04-9921421.96152.42Half Tide Rf.415-04-9921421.96152.42Half Tide Rf.416-04-9931522.00152.63Chinaman Rf.416-04-9921220.03152.66Snake Rf.4 </td <td>Stucco Rf.</td> <td>3</td> <td>17-05-99</td> <td>2</td> <td>16</td> <td>19.56</td> <td>149.60</td>	Stucco Rf.	3	17-05-99	2	16	19.56	149.60
Rf. 19-1593 $1605-99$ 114 19.67 149.92 Black Rf.3 $1805-99$ 17 19.74 149.35 Hardy Rf.3 $1905-99$ 121 19.74 149.21 Hyde Rf.3 $1505-99$ 2 18 19.76 150.09 Hook Rf.3 $1905-99$ 17 19.77 149.20 East-Black Rf.3 $1805-99$ 29 19.79 149.43 Rebe Rf.3 $1405-99$ 1 14 19.81 150.15 White-tip Rf.3 $13.05-99$ 2 13 19.92 150.27 James Rf.3 $12.05-99$ 2 14 21.10 151.72 Rf. 21-1494 $21.04-99$ 2 14 21.10 151.72 Rf. 21-1514 $20.04+99$ 2 14 21.12 151.76 East Cav4 $19.04-99$ 1 12 21.49 152.57 Rf. 21-1514 $20.04+99$ 1 3 21.56 151.48 Recreation Cay4 $18.04-99$ 1 18 21.72 152.44 Turner Cay4 $18.04-99$ 1 18 21.72 152.42 Half Tide Rf.4 $17.04-99$ 2 14 21.96 152.06 Rf. 21-5514 $15.04-99$ 3 15 22.00 152.66 Snake Rf.4 $13.04-99$ 2 12 22.03 152.18 Keppel Isl. <td>Rf. 19-156</td> <td>3</td> <td>16-05-99</td> <td>1</td> <td>7</td> <td>19.66</td> <td>149.76</td>	Rf. 19-156	3	16-05-99	1	7	19.66	149.76
Black Rf.318-05-991719.74149.35Hardy Rf.319-05-9912119.74149.21Hyde Rf.315-05-9921819.76150.09Hook Rf.319-05-991719.77149.20East-Black Rf.318-05-992919.79149.43Rebe Rf.314-05-9911419.81150.15White-tip Rf.313-05-9911819.92150.27James Rf.312-05-9921421.10151.72Rf. 21-149421-04-9921421.12151.76East Cav419-04-9911221.49152.57Rf. 21-151420-04-991321.56151.48Recreation Cay418-04-9918earch only21.68152.44Turner Cay418-04-9911821.72152.56Detour Rf.417-04-9921421.79152.49Rf. 21-551415-04-9921821.96152.06Rf. 22-101416-04-9931522.00152.63Chinaman Rf.416-04-992search only22.01152.66Snake Rf.413-04-991search only23.16150.96	Rf. 19-159	3	16-05-99	1	14	19.67	149.92
Hardy R.319-03-3912119.74149.21Hyde Rf.315-05-9921819.76150.09Hook Rf.319-05-991719.77149.20East-Black Rf.318-05-992919.79149.43Rebe Rf.314-05-9911419.81150.15White-tip Rf.313-05-9921319.96150.22James Rf.312-05-9921421.10151.72Rf. 21-149421-04-9921421.12151.76East Cav419-04-9911221.49152.57Rf. 21-151420-04-991321.56151.48Recreation Cav418-04-991321.56151.48Recreation Cay418-04-9918earch only21.68152.44Turner Cay418-04-9918earch only21.76152.42Half Tide Rf.417-04-9921421.79152.49Rf. 21-551415-04-9921821.96152.06Rf. 21-551416-04-9931522.00152.63Chinaman Rf.416-04-992search only22.01152.66Snake Rf.413-04-991search only23.16150.96	Black KI.	3	18-05-99	1	21	19.74	149.35
Hyde Rf.31905 J921019.77149.20East-Black Rf.318-05-992919.77149.20East-Black Rf.314-05-9911419.81150.15White-tip Rf.313-05-9911819.92150.27James Rf.312-05-9921319.96150.22Rf. 21-149421-04-9921421.10151.72Rf. 21-151420-04-9921421.12151.76East Cav419-04-9911221.49152.57Rf. 21-433421-04-991321.56151.48Recreation Cay418-04-991search only21.68152.44Turner Cay418-04-9911821.72152.56Detour Rf.417-04-991search only21.76152.42Half Tide Rf.417-04-9921421.79152.49Rf. 21-551415-04-9921821.96152.06Rf. 22-101416-04-9931522.00152.63Chinaman Rf.416-04-992search only22.01152.66Snake Rf.413-04-991search only23.16150.96	Hyde Rf	3	15-05-99	2	18	19.74	149.21
East-Black Rf.318-05-992919.79149.43Rebe Rf.314-05-9911419.81150.15White-tip Rf.313-05-9911819.92150.27James Rf.312-05-9921319.96150.22Rf. 21-149421-04-9921421.10151.72Rf. 21-151420-04-9921421.12151.76East Cay419-04-9911221.49152.57Rf. 21-433421-04-991321.56151.48Recreation Cay418-04-991search only21.68152.44Turner Cay418-04-9911821.72152.56Detour Rf.417-04-991search only21.76152.42Half Tide Rf.417-04-9921421.79152.49Rf. 21-551415-04-9921821.96152.63Chinaman Rf.416-04-9931522.00152.63Snake Rf.413-04-9921222.03152.18Keppel Isl.413-04-991search only23.16150.96	Hook Rf.	3	19-05-99	1	7	19.77	149.20
Rebe Rf.314-05-9911419.81150.15White-tip Rf.313-05-9911819.92150.27James Rf.312-05-9921319.96150.22Rf. 21-149421-04-9921421.10151.72Rf. 21-151420-04-9921421.12151.76East Cay419-04-9911221.49152.57Rf. 21-433421-04-991321.56151.48Recreation Cay418-04-991search only21.68152.44Turner Cay418-04-9911821.72152.56Detour Rf.417-04-991search only21.76152.42Half Tide Rf.417-04-9921421.79152.49Rf. 21-551415-04-9921821.96152.06Kf. 22-101416-04-9931522.00152.63Chinaman Rf.413-04-9921222.03152.18Keppel Isl.413-04-991search only23.16150.96	East-Black Rf.	3	18-05-99	2	9	19.79	149.43
White-tip Rf.313-05-9911819.92150.27James Rf.312-05-9921319.96150.22Rf. 21-149421-04-9921421.10151.72Rf. 21-151420-04-9921421.12151.76East Cay419-04-9911221.49152.57Rf. 21-433421-04-991321.56151.48Recreation Cay418-04-991search only21.68152.44Turner Cay418-04-9911821.72152.56Detour Rf.417-04-991search only21.76152.42Half Tide Rf.417-04-9921421.79152.49Rf. 21-551415-04-9921821.96152.06Chinaman Rf.416-04-9931522.00152.63Chinaman Rf.413-04-9921222.03152.18Keppel Isl.413-04-991search only23.16150.96	Rebe Rf.	3	14-05-99	1	14	19.81	150.15
James Rt.3 $12\cdot05\cdot99$ 213 $19\cdot96$ $150\cdot22$ Rf. 21·1494 $21\cdot04\cdot99$ 214 $21\cdot10$ $151\cdot72$ Rf. 21·1514 $20\cdot04\cdot99$ 214 $21\cdot12$ $151\cdot76$ East Cav4 $19\cdot04\cdot99$ 112 $21\cdot49$ $152\cdot57$ Rf. 21·4334 $21\cdot04\cdot99$ 13 $21\cdot56$ $151\cdot48$ Recreation Cay4 $18\cdot04\cdot99$ 1search only $21\cdot68$ $152\cdot44$ Turner Cay4 $18\cdot04\cdot99$ 1search only $21\cdot76$ $152\cdot42$ Detour Rf.4 $17\cdot04\cdot99$ 1search only $21\cdot76$ $152\cdot42$ Half Tide Rf.4 $17\cdot04\cdot99$ 2 14 $21\cdot79$ $152\cdot49$ Rf. 21·5514 $15\cdot04\cdot99$ 2 18 21.96 $152\cdot66$ Chinaman Rf.4 $16\cdot04\cdot99$ 3 15 22.00 $152\cdot63$ Chinaman Rf.4 $13\cdot04\cdot99$ 2 12 $22\cdot03$ $152\cdot18$ Keppel Isl.4 $13\cdot04\cdot99$ 1search only $23\cdot16$ $150\cdot96$	White-tip Rf.	3	13-05-99	1	18	19.92	150.27
Rr. 21-149421-04-9921421.10 151.72 Rf. 21-151420-04-9921421.12 151.76 East Cav419-04-9911221.49 152.57 Rf. 21-433421-04-991321.56 151.48 Recreation Cay418-04-991search only21.68 152.44 Turner Cay418-04-991search only21.76 152.42 Detour Rf.417-04-991search only21.76 152.42 Half Tide Rf.417-04-9921421.79 152.49 Rf. 21-551415-04-9921821.96 152.06 Rf. 22-101416-04-9931522.00 152.63 Chinaman Rf.413-04-9921222.03 152.18 Keppel Isl.413-04-991search only23.16 150.96	James Rt.	3	12-05-99	2	13	19.96	150.22
R. 21-131420-04-9911421.12151.76East Cav419-04-9911221.49152.57Rf. 21-433421-04-991321.56151.48Recreation Cay418-04-991search only21.68152.44Turner Cay418-04-9911821.72152.56Detour Rf.417-04-991search only21.76152.42Half Tide Rf.417-04-9921421.79152.49Rf. 21-551415-04-9921821.96152.66Rf. 22-101416-04-9931522.00152.63Chinaman Rf.413-04-9921222.03152.18Keppel Isl.413-04-991search only23.16150.96	RT. 21-149 Rf. 21.151	4	21-04-99	2	14	21.10	151./2
Late Cuty413 04-9911214 15152.37Recreation Cay418-04-991321.56151.48Recreation Cay418-04-991search only21.68152.44Turner Cay418-04-9911821.72152.56Detour Rf.417-04-991search only21.76152.42Half Tide Rf.417-04-9921421.79152.49Rf. 21-551415-04-9921821.96152.06Rf. 22-101416-04-9931522.00152.63Chinaman Rf.416-04-992search only22.01152.66Snake Rf.413-04-991search only23.16150.96	Fast Cav	4	19-04-99	1	14	21.12	152 57
Recreation Cay418-04-991search only21.68152.44Turner Cay418-04-9911821.72152.56Detour Rf.417-04-991search only21.76152.42Half Tide Rf.417-04-9921421.79152.49Rf. 21-551415-04-9921821.96152.66Rf. 22-101416-04-9931522.00152.63Chinaman Rf.416-04-992search only22.01152.66Snake Rf.413-04-991search only23.16150.96	Rf. 21-433	4	21-04-99	1	3	21.56	151.48
Turner Cay418-04-9911821.72152.56Detour Rf.417-04-991search only21.76152.42Half Tide Rf.417-04-9921421.79152.49Rf. 21-551415-04-9921821.96152.06Rf. 22-101416-04-9931522.00152.63Chinaman Rf.416-04-992search only22.01152.66Snake Rf.413-04-9921222.03152.18Keppel Isl.413-04-991search only23.16150.96	Recreation Cay	4	18-04-99	1	search only	21.68	152.44
Detour Rf.417-04-991search only21.76152.42Half Tide Rf.417-04-9921421.79152.49Rf. 21-551415-04-9921821.96152.06Rf. 22-101416-04-9931522.00152.63Chinaman Rf.416-04-992search only22.01152.66Snake Rf.413-04-9921222.03152.18Keppel Isl.413-04-991search only23.16150.96	Turner Cay	4	18-04-99	1	18	21.72	152.56
Halt Lide Rf.417-04-9921421.79152.49Rf. 21-551415-04-9921821.96152.06Rf. 22-101416-04-9931522.00152.63Chinaman Rf.416-04-992search only22.01152.66Snake Rf.413-04-9921222.03152.18Keppel Isl.413-04-991search only23.16150.96	Detour Rf.	4	17-04-99	1	search only	21.76	152.42
R1. 21-351415-04-9921821.96152.06Rf. 22-101416-04-9931522.00152.63Chinaman Rf.416-04-992search only22.01152.66Snake Rf.413-04-9921222.03152.18Keppel Isl.413-04-991search only23.16150.96	Halt lide Kt.	4	1/-04-99	2	14	21./9	152.49
Chinaman Rf.416-04-992search only22.01152.66Snake Rf.413-04-9921222.03152.18Keppel Isl.413-04-991search only23.16150.96	NI. 21-331 Rf 22-101	4 1	15-04-99 16-07.00	<u>∠</u> 3	10	21.90	152.00
Snake Rf. 4 13-04-99 2 12 22.03 152.18 Keppel Isl. 4 13-04-99 1 search only 23.16 150.96	Chinaman Rf.	4	16-04-99	2	search only	22.00	152.66
Keppel Isl. 4 13-04-99 1 search only 23.16 150.96	Snake Rf.	4	13-04-99	2	12	22.03	152.18
	Keppel Isl.	4	13-04-99	1	search only	23.16	150.96

Table 1. Number and locations of manta tows or searches on reefs of the GBR.



FIGURE 1. Sample and transect locations on northern (top map) and southern (bottom map) reefs of the Great Barrier Reef

A rough estimate of the total stock size in the main fished area of the GBR before and after the fishery on black teatfish was obtained as follows. A GIS coverage provided by the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority gave the size of each reef in the GBR as a 'dry-reef area'. Comparison of that area with the reefs of our surveys indicates that this reef area is a reasonable estimate for the size of the habitat of *Holothuria nobilis* at each reef. In some instances, the area might be an overestimate because sandy backreef areas are included in these estimates. However, the fact that on some reefs *H. nobilis* were also detected in deeper habitats (and thus not included in the estimates) will balance this bias to some degree.

Using the GIS coverage, the total habitat area for black teatfish in the main fished area (between 12° and 19° S) of the GBR was calculated, summing areas across all mid shelf and outer shelf reefs. Inshore reefs were excluded because our field surveys indicated that they were not inhabited by *H. nobilis*. For estimates of the potential virgin (before fishing) biomass, it was assumed that natural densities corresponded to the average density currently found on green (protected) reefs. Using the upper and lower 95% confidence limit of the density estimates gives a 95% confidence range of the total number of individuals before fishing. However, it should be emphasized that this range only takes into account the variance due to errors in density estimates, and not potential errors in the estimate of the habitat size. The estimates of total numbers were transformed to biomass values by multiplying with the average gutted weight of all individuals dissected and weighed during this study. Gutted weight was chosen because it is the unit in which catch rates are reported.

Estimates of the actual biomass after fishery closure were obtained. The total habitat size over all fished and all protected reefs separately as described above. Standing stocks on these were estimated by multiplying the habitat areas with the respective densities measured for fished and unfished reefs (including confidence limits), and total biomass was estimated by subsequent multiplication using the total average gutted weight.

TEMPORAL SURVEYS OF BÊCHE-DE-MER AND RECOVERY AFTER CLOSURE TO FISHING

Twenty three of the reefs in the area between Townsville and Princess Charlotte Bay initially surveyed in 1998 and 1999, were resurveyed approximately one year after the closure of the fishery, and two years after the closure. Five of these reefs were protected from fishing (green reefs) prior to closure of the fishery, and 14 were open to fishing (blue reefs). Four reefs, which were divided into fished and un-fished areas, were also

investigated. On most of these reefs, manta-tow transects were repeated as during the original survey. On 11 reefs individuals of *H. nobilis* were also collected and weighed.

DISPERSAL AND RECRUITMENT

Dispersal and sources of recruitment were studied using genetic techniques to establish the amount of gene flow among populations, and infer the dispersal among populations.

Sampling in the GBR

Samples of *Holothuria nobilis* were obtained from shallow (0.5 to 4 m, depending on tide level) reef flat areas from 15 reefs of the GBR from all sectors. As a large area of each reef had to be searched, sub-samples from different areas within most reefs could not be obtained, with a few exceptions. The exceptions were Hicks Reef (frontreef and backreef), Ribbon Reef No. 10 (north and south), Michaelmas Cay (north and south), Big Broadhurst Reef (NE and SE-reef flat, West Bommie), and Reefs 21-149 and 21-151 (backreef and frontreef on both).

Samples were obtained during research cruises in September 1998 (Davie Reef, Hicks Reef and Ribbon Reef No. 10 south), April 1999 (East Cay, Turner Cay, Reef 21-149, Reef 21-151), May 1999 (White Tip and Stucco Reef), August 1999 (Reef 13-050), and September 1999 (Ribbon Reef No. 10 north, Opal Reef, Michaelmas Cay). Holothurian samples from Little Broadhurst and Davies Reef were obtained both in October and December 1998. In Big Broadhurst Reef, holothurians were sampled in October and December 1998, and in February, August and September 1999, providing samples for which tests of temporal stability of gene frequencies could be made.

After sampling, animals were kept for several hours on board the research vessel in 60 L containers with flowing seawater to allow the gut contents to be partially voided before processing. To obtain a sample of the gut lining, a cut approximately three cm long was made near the oral end of the ventral surface of the animal. The internal organs were removed, a length of the gut cut out and cleaned of any remaining sediment. Samples were immediately snap frozen in liquid nitrogen in small zip-lock bags. *Holothuria nobilis* was shown to survive this dissection procedure in most cases (Uthicke unpublished data, see also Reichenbach *et al.* 1996 on the ability for regeneration in *H. nobilis*). Therefore, to minimise the impact of the samples on the holothurian populations, the animals were usually returned to the reef flat or in the backreef area from which they were sampled.

In addition to the allozyme analysis, variation was analysed in a mitochondrial DNA fragment from *H. nobilis* collected from three reefs of the Northern Section of the GBR (Reef 13-050, Davie Reef, Hicks Reef), and two reefs in each of the Cairns Section (Michaelmas Reef and Opal Reef), the Central Section near Townsville (Big Broadhurst and Davies), the Central Section near the Whitsunday area (Stucco Reef and White Tip Reef), and the Southern Section (Reef 21-151 and Turner Cay).

Visual search for recruits

Intensive searches for the presence of small (<500g) *H. nobilis,* which are potentially juveniles, during the surveys described above and in additional field visits were undertaken. However only five such individuals were found in total. From these observations it is clear that recruitment was low. Due to the small number of individuals genetic analysis to identify the potential source population for recruits could not be conducted.

Sampling sandfish from NT and WA

Although considerable effort was made to obtain samples from NT and WA only one population was obtained from NT. In September 2001 FRDC agreed to the deletion of this objective, as it was unlikely that further populations could be obtained during the project and there was insufficient time remaining for their laboratory analysis.

Enzyme electrophoresis

Prior to the work described here, polymorphic enzyme systems for three holothurian species, *H. atra* and *S. chloronotus* (Ballment *et al.*1997) and *H. scabra*, had already been developed (Uthicke and Benzie 1999). These established techniques were tested in a wider range of species to determine their general applicability. The new species tested were *Actinopyga echinites*, *A. miliaris*, *H. nobilis*, *H. fuscogilva*, *H. fuscopunctata*, *T. ananas* and *S. variegatus*.

An initial screening of 27 enzyme systems followed the general procedures outlined in Ballment et al. (1997). Approximately 250 mg of frozen gut tissue was homogenised in the same volume of Tris HCl buffer (100 mM Tris to pH 8.0 with HCl) prior to electrophoresis. Electrophoresis was performed on 12% horizontal starch gels, testing three buffer systems: TEC7.9 (electrode buffer 135 mM Tris, 32 mM citric acid, 4 mM Na₂EDTA, pH 7.87; gel buffer 8.5 mM Tris, 2 mM citric acid, 0.27 mM Na₂EDTA, pH 7.87), TG8.4 (electrode buffer 25 mM Tris, 192 mM glycine pH 8.4; gel buffer same as electrode buffer) and HC6.5 (electrode buffer 65 mM Histidine, 7 mM Citric acid H₂O, gel buffer 16 mM Histidine, 2 mM Citric acid H₂O). Based on experience with previous holothurian species, some enzymes were also tested on three buffer systems using cellulose acetate Gels (CellogelTM): CP6.4 (10 mM Citrate-phosphate), Phos7 (20 mM Na phosphate) and TM7.8 (50 mM Tris-maleate). Although several enzyme systems were only faintly active, a variety of enzymes were found to be suitable for population genetic screening of all the species tested (Table 2). Most enzymes working in one species appeared to work in the majority of the other species. Several enzyme systems were well resolved and variable in most of the species tested (e.g. GPI, PGM, HK).

After the initial tests described above, 20 individuals of *H. nobilis* were screened to optimise buffer systems and to test for polymorphisms in that species. Interpretable polymorphisms were detected in the following seven enzymes systems: FL-EST, GPI, HK, MDH, MPI, PGM and TPI. For GPI and PGM, best resolution was achieved on 12% starch gels using the TEC7.9 buffer. HK, MDH and TPI were resolved best on 12% starch gels using TG8.4 buffer. Cellulose acetate (Cellogel[™]) gels with TM7.8 (Tris-maleate pH 7.8) buffer were used to score FL-EST and MPI. Electrophoresis on Cellogel[™] was performed for 75 min at 200 V, starch gels were run for 16 h (TEC7.9: 75 V, TG8.4: 230V). For details on buffer composition, staining and electrophoresis methods see Ballment *et al.* (1997). Alleles were labeled according to their mobility relative to the most common allele in the total sample, which was set at 100.

TABLE 2. Enzymes used in screening for activity gut tissue from seven bêche-de-mer species: Actinopyga echinites (AE), A. miliaris (AM), Holothuria nobilis (HN), H. fuscogilva (HF), H. fuscopunctata (ET), Thelenota ananas (TA) and Stichopus variegatus (SV). Except for the peptidases, which have been named according to the peptide used as substrate, enzyme names are those recommended by the International Union of Biochemistry's Nomenclature Committee (IUBNC, 1984). Bold print indicates the potential to use an enzyme for the respective species in further studies, Bold and Italics print indicates systems used for population genetic screening in H. nobilis. M, P = monomorophic and polymorphic, respectively, however only based on the study of three individuals.

AAT Asparate aminotransferase 2.6.1.1 no activity ALPH Alanine aminotransferase 2.6.1.2 no activity DIA Dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase, 1.5.1.7 low activity (Diaphorase) 1.5.1.7 low activity no activity ENOL Enolase 1.5.1.7 low activity FBP Fructose bisphosphatase 3.1.11 Best on TEC, faint and blurry for most spp., also good on CP (Cellogel), good resolution (M) for HF General: good activity on CE(later studies showed very good activity on CE(later studies showed very good activity on CE log gels). AE, AM, TA: P(?). HN, HF, SUE: M GA3PD Glyceral-aphosphate dehydrogenase 1.1.1.8 low activity on TG for AE, SV, ET GUEOB Glocose dehydrogenase 1.1.1.47 no activity no activity GCDH Glocose dehydrogenase 1.1.1.47 no activity no activity IDH Isocitrate dehydrogenase 1.1.1.47 no activity no activity IDH Isocitrate dehydrogenase 1.1.1.47 no activity no activity IDH Isocitrate dehydrogenase 1.1.1.27 Tint activity TG, PTC. AM, A	Abbrev.	Enzyme	E.C. No.	Best buffer/Comments
ALAT Alarine animotransferase 2.6.12 no activity AIPDH Alanopine dehydrogenase 1.5.1.7 low activity in Actinopyga spp. DIA Dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase 1.5.1.7 low activity ENOL Enolase 4.2.1.11 low activity FBP Fructose bisphosphatase 3.1.3.11 General: good activity on Cello gels), AE, AM, TA: P(?), HN, HF, SV,FT: M GA3PD Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate 1.2.1.12 only faint activity G3PD Glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase 1.1.1.8 low activity on TG for AE, SV, FT GCDH Glocose-6-phosphate isomerase 5.3.1.9 active on TG, TEC and HC, best resolution on HC. AE, AM, HF: M. HN, ET, TA SV: P GCDH Glocose dehydrogenase 1.1.1.47 no activity active no TG, TEC and HC, best resolution on TG, OK on TEC HK Hexokinase 2.7.11 General: good activity and resolution on TG, OK on TEC AE, AM, HF, ETP. HN, TA, SV: M IDH Isocitrate dehydrogenase 1.1.1.27 faint activity some samples show activity ILP Peptidase (leucylproline substrate) 3.4.11/13 TG, PH7. AE; P, HN; M. AM, HF, TA; P, HF, SV: M IDH Isocitrate dehydrogena	AAT	Aspartate aminotransferase	2.6.1.1	no activity
ALPDH Alanopine dehydrogenase 1.5.1.17 Iow activity in Actinopyga spp. DIA Dihydrolipoanide dehydrogenase, 1.8.1.4 no activity FNOL Enolase 4.2.1.11 Best on TEC, faint and blurry for most spp., also good on CP (Cellogell, good resolution (M) for HF FBP Fructose bisphosphates 3.1.11 Best on TEC, faint and blurry for most spp., also good activity on TEG (later studies showed very good activity on TEG (later studies showed very good activity on TEG (later studies showed very good activity on TEG (lote, best resolution on HC. TF (?), HN, HF, SV, ET (?), HA, KM, HF, TF, C, HN, KM, HF, TY, C, D, SV; P G3PD Glycerol3-phosphate isomerase 5.3.1.9 low activity on TG for AE, SV, ET active on TC, TEC and HC, best resolution on HC. AC, AM, HF, M, HT, TA, SV; P GCDH Glocose dehydrogenase 1.1.1.47 no activity and resolution on TG, OK on TEC AE, AM, HF, C, D, ET, N, TA, SV; M IDH Isocitrate dehydrogenase 1.1.1.42 TA, SV (on HC); M, AE, AM, HF (on TEC); M, HN, ET, TA; P, HN, M, AM, HF, TA, ET, SV; only some samples show activity IDH Lactate dehydrogenase 1.1.1.27 faint activity Col, Dwer one blurry with the exception of SV, upper locus; P, FN, NF, M ILP Peptidase (leucyliptyleyleyleyleyleyleyleyleyleyleyleyleyley	ALAT	Alanine aminotransferase	2.6.1.2	no activity
DIA Dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase, (Diaphorase) 1.8.1.4 no activity 1.8.1.4 ENOL Enolase 4.2.1.11 low activity Best on TEC, faint and blurry for most spp., also good on CP (Cellogel), good resolution (M) for HF FLST Carboxylesterase 3.1.11 General: good activity on TEC (later studies showed very shower focus) IDH Isocitrate dehydrogenase (laccafedoyldycing substrate) 1.1.1.42 TA, SV (on HC): M. AE, AM, HF, (on TEC): M. HN, FT, SV: M LDH Lactate dehydrogenase (laccafedoyldycogenase) <td< td=""><td>ALPDH</td><td>Alanopine dehydrogenase</td><td>1.5.1.17</td><td>low activity in Actinopyga spp.</td></td<>	ALPDH	Alanopine dehydrogenase	1.5.1.17	low activity in Actinopyga spp.
IDiaphorase)4.2.1.11Iow activityFNOLFroctose bisphosphatae4.2.1.11Best on TEC, faint and blurry for most spp., also good on CP (Cellogel), good resolution (M) for HFFLESTCarboxylesterase3.1.11Best on TEC, faint and blurry for most spp., also good activity on TEC (later studies showed very good activity on TEG (later studies showed very good activity on TEG (later studies) (GelpediphydrogenaseGA3PDGlycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase GPI1.2.1.12only faint activity active on TG, TEC and HC, best resolution on HC. AE, AM, HF, M. HN, ET, TA SV: PGCDHGlocose dehydrogenase HK1.1.1.47no activity and resolution on TG, OK on TEC AE, AM, HF, ET: P. HN, TA, SV: MIDHIsocitrate dehydrogenase (ILH exokinase)1.1.1.42TA, SV (on HC): M. AE, AM, HF (on TEC): M. HA, ET: only very faint faint activityLDHLlactate dehydrogenase (lLH explayed gelphydige)3.4.11/13 3.4.11/13TG, pH 7. AE; P. HN; M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: only some samples show activityLPPeptidase (leucylprosine substrate) Peptidase (leucylprosine substrate) MDH3.4.11/13 Malate dehydrogenase3.4.11/13 3.1.1.1.40MDHMalate dehydrogenase dehydrogenase1.1.1.40TC, pH 7. AE; AM, HT(7), TA, SV: P. HN, HF: M SV in both (?), no activity on TEC, old, bover one blurry with the exception of SV. upper locus: P for SV lower locus: AE, AM, HT(7), TA, SV: P. HN, HF: M ERMDHMalate dehydrogenase (lABP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40TC, Cloci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?), mower locus: AE, AM, HT(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HF: M ET, SV: M <tr< td=""><td>DIA</td><td>Dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase,</td><td>1.8.1.4</td><td>no activity</td></tr<>	DIA	Dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase,	1.8.1.4	no activity
ENOL Enolase 4.2.1.11 Iow activity FBP Fructose bisphosphatae 3.1.3.11 Best on TEC, faint and blurry for most spp., also good on CP (Cellogel), good resolution (M) for HF FLEST Carboxylesterase 3.1.11 General: good activity on TEC [atter studies showed very good activity on TEC [atter studies showed very good activity on CE] (egls). AE, AM, TA: P (P), HN, HF, SVET: M GA3PD Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate 1.2.1.12 only faint activity G3PD Glycerol-3-phosphate longerase 5.3.1.9 active on TG, TEC and HC, best resolution on HC. AE, AM, HF: M. HN, ET, TA SV: P GCDH Glocose dehydrogenase 1.1.1.47 no activity on activity IDH Isocitrate dehydrogenase (NADP+) 1.1.1.42 TA, SV (on HC): M. AE, AM, HF (on TEC): M. HN, ET: nP, two; Faint LGG Peptidase (leucylgycylgyclgs substrate) 3.4.11/13 TG, pH7. AE: P. HN: M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: only some samples show activity LGG Peptidase (leucylgronine substrate) 3.4.11/13 TG, pH7. AE: P. HN: M. AM, HF: M MDH Malate dehydrogenase 1.1.1.27 faint activity Go, col, lower one blurry with the exception of SV. upper locus: P for SV lower locus: AE, AM, HF, NN, TA, SV: M VL		(Diaphorase)		,
FBPFructose bisphosphatase3.1.3.11Best on TEC, faint and blurry for most spp., also good on CP (Cellogel), good resolution (M) for HF General: good activity on TEC (later studies showed very good activity on Cello gels). AE, AM, TA: P (2), HN, HF, SV,ET: MGA3PDGlyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase1.2.1.12only faint activity only faint activityG3PDGlycerol3-phosphate dehydrogenase GPI1.1.1.8low activity on TG for AE, SV, ET active on TG, TEC and HC, best resolution on HC. AE, AM, HF, M. HN, ET, TA SV: PGCDHGlocose dehydrogenase Hexokinase1.1.1.47no activity on activity and resolution on TG, OK on TEC AE, AM, HF, ET: P. HN, TA, SV: MIDHIsocitrate dehydrogenase (Lactate dehydrogenase (LGG)1.1.1.27General: good activity on TG SV: P no activityIDHL4actate dehydrogenase (LGG)1.1.1.27faint activity rom samples show activity on activityLPPeptidase (leucylgroline substrate) VL3.4.11/13 rG, pH7. AE, P. HN: M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: only some samples show activity on activityLPPeptidase (leucylgroline substrate) HAlate dehydrogenase3.4.11/13 rG, pH 7. AE, AM, ET (2), TA, SV: P. HN, HF: M General: good activity on TG, 2 loci, lower one blurry with the exception of SV. upper locus: P for SV lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, ET, TA: M. SV: P(2)MEMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- dehydrogenase(docarboxylating)1.1.1.42MPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8PGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(docarboxylating)1.1.1.44MPIMannose-6-phosphate isomer	enol	Enolase	4.2.1.11	low activity
FL-ESTCarboxylesterase3.1.1.1good on CP (Cellogel), good resolution (M) for HF General: good activity on TEC (later studies showed very good activity on TEC (later studies showed very good activity on TEC (later studies). AE, AM, TA: P (I). HN, HF, SV,ET: M only faint activityGA3PDGlyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase GPI1.1.1.8low activity on TG for AE, SV, ET active on TG, TEC and HC, best resolution on HC. AE, AM, HF: M. HN, ET, TA SV: P no activityGCDHGlocose dehydrogenase (LCCP)1.1.1.47low activity on TG for AE, SV, ET active on TG, TEC and HC, best resolution on TG, OK on TEC AE, AM, HF: M. HN, ET, TA SV: P no activityIDHIsocitrate dehydrogenase (NADP+)1.1.1.42TA, SV (on HC): M. AE, AM, HF (on TEC): M. HN, ET: only very faint faint activityLDHL-Lactate dehydrogenase Peptidase (leucylgroline substrate)3.4.11/13TG, pH 7: AE: P. HN, M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: only some samples show activity no activity no activity no activityLPPeptidase (leucylgroline substrate) Peptidase (leucylgroline substrate)3.4.11/13 3.4.11/13TG, pH 7: AE, AM, HN, ET, TA: P. HF, SV: M TG, pH 7: AE, AM, HN, ET, TA: P. HF, SV: M MDHMDHMalate dehydrogenase dearboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40TEC, 2 loci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?), lower locus: AE, AM, HT, CI, TA, SV: P. HN, HF enzyme)MPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8best on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(dccarboxylating)2.7.2.3only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activity	FBP	Fructose bisphosphatase	3.1.3.11	Best on TEC, faint and blurry for most spp., also
FL-EST Carboxylesterase 3.1.1.1 Ceneral: good activity on TEC (later studies showed very good activity on TEC for AE, SV, ET active on TG, TEC and HC, best resolution on HC. AE, AM, HF, ET, HM, HF, SV, ET GA3PD Glycerol3-phosphate dehydrogenase 1.1.1.8 low activity on TEC for AE, SV, ET active on TG, TEC and HC, best resolution on HC. AE, AM, HF, ET, P, HN, TA, SV: P GCDH Glocose dehydrogenase (NADP+) 1.1.1.47 no activity and resolution on TG, OK on TEC IDH Isocitrate dehydrogenase (NADP+) 1.1.1.27 TA, SV (on HC): M. AE, AM, HF (on TEC): M. HN, ET, OK SV: P IDH Isocitrate dehydrogenase 1.1.1.27 Ta, SV (on HC): M. AE, AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: only some samples show activity ILP Peptidase (leucylgroline substrate) 3.4.11/13 TG, pH7 AE, AM, HF, ET, AF, SV: M VL Peptidase (leucylgroline substrate) 3.4.11/13 TG, pH7 AE, AM, HF, IT, A, SV: P. HN, HF: M MDH Malate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate-decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme) 1.1.1.40 TEC, 2 loci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?), lower one blurny with the exception of SV. upper locus: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HF<				good on CP (Cellogel), good resolution (M) for HF
GA3PDGlyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase1.2.1.12showed ver good activity on Čello gels). AE, AM, TX: P (?). FIN, HF, SV,ET: M only faint activityGA3PDGlycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase Glucose-6-phosphate isomerase1.1.1.8conly faint activityGCDHGlocose dehydrogenase HK1.1.1.47Iow activity on TG for AE, SV, FT active on TG, TEC and HC, best resolution on HC. AE, AM, HF: M. HN, ET, TA SV: P no activityGCDHGlocose dehydrogenase HK1.1.1.47Iow activity on TG for AE, SV, FT active on TG, TEC and HC, best resolution on TG, OK on TEC AE, AM, HF: M. HN, ET, TA SV: M TA, SV (on HC): M. AE, AM, HF (on TEC): M. HN, ET is only very faint faint activityIDHIsocitrate dehydrogenase (lucylglycylglycine substrate)1.1.1.27IDHL-lactate dehydrogenase (lucylglycylglycine substrate)3.4.11/13 3.4.11/13TG, pH7. AE: P. HN. M. AN, HF, TA, ET, SV: only some samples show activity no activityUPPeptidase (lucylgroine substrate) Peptidase (lucylgroine substrate)3.4.11/13 3.4.11/13TG, pH 3: AE, AM, HN, ET, TA: P. HF, SV: M TG, pH 3: AE, AM, HK, ET, TA, SV: P. HN, HF: M General: good activity on TG, 2 loci, lover one blurry with the exception of SV. upper locus: P for SV lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, ET, TA: SV: P. HN, HF lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, TA, SV: P. HN, HF lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, TA, SV: P. HN, HF lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, TA, SV: P. HN, HF lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, TA, SV: P. HN, HF lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, TA, SV: P. HN, HF lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, TA, SV: P. HN, HF lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, TA, SV: P. HN, HF lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, TA, SV: P. HN, HF lower locus: A	FL-EST	Carboxylesterase	3.1.1.1	General: good activity on TEC (later studies
GA3PDGiveraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase1.2.1.12TA: P (?). <i>HN</i> , HF, SV, ET: MG3PDGiveral3-phosphate dehydrogenase Glucose-6-phosphate isomerase1.1.1.8Iow activity on TG or AE, SV, ET active on TC, TEC and HC, best resolution on HC. AE, AM, HF: M. <i>HN</i> , ET, TA SV: PGCDHGlocose dehydrogenase HK1.1.1.47Iow activity on TG, TEC and HC, best resolution on TG, OK on TEC AE, AM, HF: M. <i>HN</i> , ET, ASV: MIDHIsocitrate dehydrogenase Peptidase (leucylglycylglycine substrate)1.1.1.47In activity TG, pH7. AE: P. HN, TA, SV: MLDHL-Lactate dehydrogenase Peptidase (leucylgroine substrate)3.4.11/13 3.4.11/13TG, pH7. AE: P. HN: M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: only some samples show activity In activityLPPeptidase (leucylproline substrate) Peptidase (valylleucine substrate)3.4.11/13 3.4.11/13TG, pH7. AE: P. HN: M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: M TG, pH7. AE: P. HN: M, AM, HF, TA, SV: P. HN, HF: M General: good activity on TG, 2 loci, lower one blurry with the exception of SV. upper locus: P for SV lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, ET, TA: M. SV: P(?)MEMalate dehydrogenase decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40TEC, 2 loci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?), lower locus: AE, AM, HF, (?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)2.7.2.3Su on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGMPhosphoglucomutase5.3.1.8best on TEC, also OK on HC, only faintly active in ET. ET. C. Cl, O, IN, HF: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurryPGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2g		,		showed very good activity on Cello gels). AE, AM,
GA3PDGlyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase1.2.1.12only faint activityGJPDGlycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase Glucose-6-phosphate isomerase1.1.1.8low activity on TG for AE, SV, ET active on TG, TEC and HC, best resolution on HC. AE, AM, HF: M. HN, ET, TA SV: P no activityGCDHGlocose dehydrogenase HK1.1.1.47low activity on TG for AE, SV, ET active on TG, TEC and HC, best resolution on TG, OK on TEC AE, AM, HF: M. HN, ET, TA, SV: M TA, SV: MIDHIsocitrate dehydrogenase (HCG Peptidase (leucylglycylglycine substrate) Peptidase (leucylglycylglycine substrate) TP Peptidase (leucylglycylglycine substrate) MDH1.1.1.27faint activity mo activityLP Peptidase (leucylglycylglycine substrate) WDH3.4.11/13 Malate dehydrogenase (leucyltrosine substrate) MPI3.4.11/13 mo activity mo activity mo activity mo activity mo activity mo activity mo activitymo activity mo activity mo activity mo activity mo activity mo activity mo activityMEMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40TEC, 2 loci in AE, AM, HF,				TA: P (?). HN, HF, SV,ET: M
dehydrogenase1.1.1.8Iow activity on TG for AE, SV, ETG3PDGlycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase1.1.1.8GPIGlucose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.9active on TC, TEC and HC, best resolution on HC.AE, AM, HF, HX.HaxokinaseGCDHGlocose dehydrogenase1.1.1.47HKHexokinase2.7.1.1GGPeptidase (hapdrogenase (NADP+)1.1.1.47IDHIsocitrate dehydrogenase1.1.1.27IDHLactate dehydrogenase1.1.1.27ICGPeptidase (leucylglycylglycine substrate)3.4.11/13ICGPeptidase (leucylglycylglycine substrate)3.4.11/13IDHPeptidase (leucylgrosine substrate)3.4.11/13ICGPeptidase (leucylgrosine substrate)3.4.11/13ICGPeptidase (leucylgrosine substrate)3.4.11/13ICGPeptidase (leucylgrosine substrate)3.4.11/13IDHNalate dehydrogenase1.1.1.37MDHMalate dehydrogenase1.1.1.37MEMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40MPIManose-ophosphate isomerase5.3.1.8PGDPhosphoglyconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)2.7.2.3PGKPhosphoglycerat kinase2.7.2.3PGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2SODSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1STRDHStrombine dehydroxinase1.15.1.1FTPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TGStrombine dehydroxinase<	GA3PD	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate	1.2.1.12	only faint activity
G3PD GPIGlycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase Glucose-6-phosphate isomerase1.1.1.8 5.3.1.9Iow activity on TG for AE, SV, ET active on TG, TEC and HC, best resolution on HC. AE, AM, HF: M. HN, ET, TA SV: PGCDH HKGlocose dehydrogenase HKK1.1.1.47 Hexokinaseno activity of activity and resolution on TG, OK on TEC AE, AM, HF, ET. P. HN, TA, SV: MIDHIsocitrate dehydrogenase Peptidase (leucylglycylglycine substrate)1.1.1.27 A, 5V (on HC): M. AE, AM, HF (on TEC): M. HN, ET: only very faint faint activity on activityLDHL-Lactate dehydrogenase Peptidase (leucylgropilne substrate)3.4.11/13 3.4.11/13TG, pH7. AE: P. HN: M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: only some samples show activity no activityLP Peptidase (leucylgropilne substrate)3.4.11/13 3.4.11/13TG, pH 7: AE, AM, HN, ET, TA: P. HF, SV: M TG, pH 8: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HF: M General: good activity on TS. Lopper locus: P for SV lower locus: AE, AM, HF, TA, SV: P. HN, HF: M SU lower locus: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HF: M General: good activity on TS. Lopper locus: P for SV lower locus: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HF enzyme)MEMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.40TEC, 2 loci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?), lower locus: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HF enzyme)MPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8best on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44best on Storch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF, TA, SV: MPGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2good activity	_	dehydrogenase		
GPIGlucose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.9active on TG, TEC and HC, best resolution on HC. AE, AM, HF, M. HN, ET, TA SV: PGCDHGlocose dehydrogenase1.1.1.47no activityHKHexokinase2.7.1.1General: good activity and resolution on TG, OK on TEC AE, AM, HF, KH, FT: P. HN, TA, SV: MIDHIsocitrate dehydrogenase1.1.1.27faint activityLDHL-Lactate dehydrogenase1.1.1.27faint activityLGGPeptidase (leucylglycylglycine substrate)3.4.11/13TG, pH7. AE: P. HN, TA, SV: MLTPeptidase (leucylgropline substrate)3.4.11/13TG, pH7. AE: P. HN: M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: only some samples show activityVLPeptidase (leucylgropline substrate)3.4.11/13TG, pH 3: AE, AM, ET(7), TA, SV: P. HN, HF: MMDHMalate dehydrogenase1.1.1.37General: good activity on TG, 2 loci, lower one blurry with the exception of SV. upper locus: P for SV lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, ET, TA: M. SV: P(?)MEMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40TEC, 2 loci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?), lower locus: AE, AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44best on THC (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGMPhosphogluconatese5.4.2.2good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC, and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySODSuperoxide dismutase1.15.11some activity on some stains	G3PD	Glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase	1.1.1.8	low activity on TG for AE, SV, ET
GCDH GCGlocose dehydrogenase1.1.1.47AE, AM, HF: M. HN, ET, TA SV: P no activityGCDH HKGlocose dehydrogenase1.1.1.47no activityHKHexokinase2.7.1.1General: good activity and resolution on TG, OK on TEC AE, AM, HF: N. HN, ET, TA SV: MIDHIsocitrate dehydrogenase1.1.1.42TA, SV (on HC): M. AE, AM, HF (on TEC): M. HN, ET: only very faint faint activityLGGPeptidase (leucylglycylglycine substrate)3.4.11/13TG, pH7. AE, P. HN: M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: only some samples show activity no activityLTPeptidase (leucyltrosine substrate)3.4.11/13TG, pH 7. AE, AM, HT?, TA, SV: P. HN, HF: MMDHMalate dehydrogenase1.1.1.37TG, pH 7. AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HF: MMDHMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40TEC, 2 loci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?), lower locus: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HFMPIManose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8best on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44best on TC c, also OK on HC, only faintly active in ET. ET. Cand TG. HN, HF, TA, SV: MPGMPhosphogluconutase5.4.2.2good activity or some stains, but not interpretable low activity or most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF, TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySODSuperoxide dismutase STRDHSuperoxide dismutase Strombine dehydroxinase TPI1.15.1.1SO	GPI	Glucose-6-phosphate isomerase	5.3.1.9	active on TG. TEC and HC. best resolution on HC.
GCDH HKGlocose dehydrogenase Hexokinase1.1.1.47no activity General: good activity and resolution on TG, OK on TEC AE, AM, HF, ET: P. HN, TA, SV: MIDHIsocitrate dehydrogenase (NADP+)1.1.1.42TA, SV (on HC): M. AE, AM, HF (on TEC): M. HN, ET: only very faint faint activityLDHLLactate dehydrogenase (leucylglycylglycine substrate)1.1.1.27TG, PH7. AE: P. HN: M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: only some samples show activity no activityLPPeptidase (leucylproline substrate) Peptidase (leucyllyrosine substrate)3.4.11/13TG, PH 7. AE: P. HN: M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: M 3.4.11/13LTPeptidase (leucyllyrosine substrate) MDH3.4.11/13TG, PH 7. AE: P. HN: M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: M 3.4.11/13TG, PH 7. AE, AM, HN, ET, TA: P. HF, SV: M 3.4.11/13MDHMalate dehydrogenase1.1.1.40TG, PH 7. AE, AM, HN, ET, TA: P. HF, SV: P. 1.1.37MEMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40TEC, 2 loci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?), lower locus: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HF enzyme)MPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8best on TEC, also OK on HC, only faintly active in ET. AE, AM, HN, HF, TA, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)2.7.2.3only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activity good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. H/N, HF, TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurryPGMPhosphoglucomutase1.15.1.1- - - TEC and TG. H/N, HF, TEC, TC, some alleles better<				AE, AM, HF: M. <i>HN</i> , ET, TA SV: P
HKHexokinase2.7.1.1General: good activity and resolution on TG, OK on TEC AE, AM, HF, ET: P. HN, TA, SV: MIDHIsocitrate dehydrogenase (NADP+)1.1.1.42TA, SV (on HC): M. AE, AM, HF (on TEC): M. HN, ET: only very faint faint activityLDHL-Lactate dehydrogenase (leucylglycylglycine substrate)1.1.1.27faint activity some samples show activity no activityLPPeptidase (leucylgrosine substrate) Peptidase (leucylgrosine substrate)3.4.11/13TG, pH 7. AE: P. HN: M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: only some samples show activity no activity mo activity to activity on TG, 2 loci, lower one blurry with the exception of SV. upper locus: P for SV lower locus: AE, AM, HT, HN, ET, TA: M. SV: P(i)MEMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40TEC, 2 loci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?), lower locus: AE, AM, HF(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HF more locus: AE, AM, HT(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HF enzyme)MPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8best on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)2.7.2.3only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activityPGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2good activity on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AE TTC, pr(?). TA: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySOD STRDHSuperoxide dismutase Triose-phosphate isomerase1.15.1.1SOD STRDHSuperoxide dismutase Triose-phosphate isomerase1.15.1.1SOD STRDHSuperoxide dismutase Trios	GCDH	Glocose dehydrogenase	1.1.1.47	no activity
IDHIsocitrate dehydrogenase (NADP+)1.1.1.42In the sector of the sector the sector of	НК	Hexokinase	2.7.1.1	General: good activity and resolution on TG. OK
IDHIsocitrate dehydrogenase (NADP+)1.1.1.42AE, AM, HF, ET: P. HN, TA, SV: M TA, SV (on HC): M. AE, AM, HF (on TEC): M. HN, ST: only very faint faint activityLDHL-Lactate dehydrogenase Peptidase (leucylglycylglycine substrate)1.1.1.27faint activity TG, pH7. AE: P. HN: M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: only some samples show activityLPPeptidase (leucylgroline substrate) Peptidase (leucylgrosine substrate)3.4.11/13TG, pH 7: AE: AM, HN, ET, TA: P. HF, SV: M on activityVLPeptidase (valylleucine substrate) Peptidase (valylleucine substrate)3.4.11/13TG, pH 8: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HF: M General: good activity on TG, 2 loci, lower one blurry with the exception of SV. upper locus: P for SV lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, ET, TA: M. SV: P(?)MEMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40TEC, 2 loci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?), lower locus: AE, AM, HF, (2), TA, SV: P. HN, HF enzyme)MPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8best on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44best on TEC, also OK on HC, only faintly active in ET. AE, AM, HN, HF, TA, SV: MPGMPhosphoglucomatase5.4.2.2only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activity good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySODSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1some activity on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AE TIT				on TEC
IDHIsocitrate dehydrogenase (NADP+)1.1.1.42TA, SV (on HC): M. AE, AM, HF (on TEC): M. HN, ET: only very faint faint activityLDHL-Lactate dehydrogenase1.1.1.27LGGPeptidase (leucylglycylglycine substrate)3.4.11/13LPPeptidase (leucylproline substrate)3.4.11/13LTPeptidase (leucyltyrosine substrate)3.4.11/13LTPeptidase (valylleucine substrate)3.4.11/13MDHMalate dehydrogenase3.4.11/13MDHMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40MPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8PGDPhosphoglycerat kinase5.3.1.8PGKPhosphoglycerat kinase2.7.2.3PGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2SOD STRDHSuperoxide dismutase5.4.2.2SOD STRDHSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1SOD STRDHSuperoxide dismutase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, orten faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, TET, MSV: SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, TET, M				AE, AM, HF, ET: P. HN, TA, SV: M
LDHL-Lactate dehydrogenase1.1.1.27LGGPeptidase (leucylglycylglycine substrate)3.4.11/13TG, pH7. AE: P. HN: M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: only some samples show activityLPPeptidase (leucyltyrosine substrate)3.4.11/13TG, pH7. AE: P. HN: M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: only some samples show activityLPPeptidase (leucyltyrosine substrate)3.4.11/13TG, pH 7. AE: P. HN: M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: only some samples show activityVLPeptidase (leucyltyrosine substrate)3.4.11/13TG, pH 8: AE, AM, ET (7), TA, SV: P. HN, HF: M General: good activity on TG, 2 loci, lower one blurry with the exception of SV. upper locus: P for SV lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, ET, TA: M. SV: P(?)MEMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40TEC, 2 loci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?), lower locus: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HF enzyme)MPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8best on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44best on TEC, also OK on HC, only faintly active in ET. AE, AM, HN, HF, TA, SV: M only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activity good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySOD STRDHSuperoxide dismutase Strombine dehydroxinase1.15.1.1 - Stombine dehydroxinase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, TE: M	IDH	Isocitrate dehvdrogenase (NADP+)	1.1.1.42	TA, SV (on HC): M. AE, AM, HF (on TEC): M.
LDH LGGL-Lactate dehydrogenase Peptidase (leucylglycylglycine substrate)1.1.1.27 3.4.11/13faint activity TG, pH7. AE: P. HN: M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: only some samples show activityLP LTPeptidase (leucylgronine substrate) Peptidase (ueuyltyrosine substrate)3.4.11/13TG, pH7. AE: P. HN: M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: only some samples show activityVL MDHPeptidase (valylleucine substrate) MDH3.4.11/13TG, pH 7: AE, AM, HN, ET, TA: P. HF, SV: M 1.1.1.37MDHMalate dehydrogenase1.1.1.27MEMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40MPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8PGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44PGKPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44PGKPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2SOD STRDHSuperoxide dismutase5.4.2.2SOD STRDHSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1SOD STRDHSuperoxide dismutase5.3.1.8FIRDHStrombine dehydroxinase5.3.1.1Triose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1FIEC, TC, Gotten faint activitySOD STRDHSuperoxide dismutaseSIRDHStrombine dehydroxinaseTPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1Triose-phosphate isomeraseSUD Strombine dehydroxinaseSUD Strombine dehydroxinaseSUD Strombine dehydroxinaseTPITriose-phosphate isomeraseSUD Stro		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		HN. FT: only very faint
LGGPeptidase (leucylglycylglycine substrate)3.4.11/13TG, pH7. AE: P. HN: M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: only some samples show activityLPPeptidase (leucylproline substrate)3.4.11/13no activityLTPeptidase (leucyltyrosine substrate)3.4.11/13TG, pH 7: AE, AM, HN, ET, TA: P. HF, SV: MVLPeptidase (valylleucine substrate)3.4.11/13TG, pH 7: AE, AM, HN, ET, TA: P. HF, SV: MMDHMalate dehydrogenase1.1.1.37TG, pH 8: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HF: MMEMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40TEC, 2 loci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?), lower locus: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HFMPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8best on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44best on TEC, also OK on HC, only faintly active in ET. AE, AM, HN, HF, TA, SV: MPGKPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySODSuperoxide dismutase Strombine dehydroxinase1.15.1.1some activity on some stains, but not interpretable on activity, works faintly on TG for AE TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M	LDH	L-Lactate dehvdrogenase	1.1.1.27	faint activity
LPPeptidase (leucylproline substrate) Peptidase (leucyltyrosine substrate) Peptidase (leucyltyrosine substrate) MDH3.4.11/13 Malate dehydrogenase3.4.11/13 3.4.11/13 MLTG, pH 7: AE, AM, HN, ET, TA: P. HF, SV: M TG, pH 7: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HF: M General: good activity on TG, 2 loci, lower one blurry with the exception of SV. upper locus: P for SV lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, ET, TA: M. SV: P(?)MEMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40TEC, 2 loci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?), lower locus: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HFMPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8best on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44best on TEC, also OK on HC, only faintly active in ET. AE, AM, HN, HF, TA, SV: MPGKPhosphoglucomatase5.4.2.2good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySOD STRDHSuperoxide dismutase Strombine dehydroxinase1.15.1.1 - - - -some activity on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AE TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M	LGG	Peptidase (leucylglycylglycine substrate)	3.4.11/13	TG, pH7. AE: P. HN: M. AM, HF, TA, ET, SV: only
LP LTPeptidase (leucylproline substrate) Peptidase (leucyltyrosine substrate)3.4.11/13 3.4.11/13no activity TG, pH 7: AE, AM, HN, ET, TA: P. HF, SV: M TG, pH 8: AE, AM, ET(1), TA, SV: P. HN, HF: M General: good activity on TG, 2 loci, lower one blurry with the exception of SV. upper locus: P for SV lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, ET, TA: M. SV: P(?)MEMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40TC, 2 loci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?), lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, ET, TA: M. SV: P(?)MPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8best on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44best on TEC, also OK on HC, only faintly active in ET. AE, AM, HN, HF, TA, SV: MPGKPhosphoglucomutase2.7.2.3only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activity good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySODSuperoxide dismutase Strombine dehydroxinase1.15.1.1SODSuperoxide dismutase Strombine dehydroxinase1.15.1.1FIPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1Triose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M			,	some samples show activity
LTPeptidase (leucyltyrosine substrate) Peptidase (valylleucine substrate)3.4.11/13TG, pH 7: AE, AM, HN, ET, TA: P. HF, SV: MVLPeptidase (valylleucine substrate) MDH3.4.11/13TG, pH 7: AE, AM, HN, ET, TA: P. HF, SV: MMDHMalate dehydrogenase1.1.1.37TG, pH 8: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HF: M General: good activity on TG, 2 loci, lower one blurry with the exception of SV. upper locus: P for SV lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, ET, TA: M. SV: P(?)MEMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40TEC, 2 loci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?), lower locus: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HFMPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8best on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44best on TEC, also OK on HC, only faintly active in ET. AE, AM, HN, HF, TA, SV: MPGKPhosphoglucomutase2.7.2.3only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activityPGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySODSuperoxide dismutase Strombine dehydroxinase1.15.1.1some activity, on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AETPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M	LP	Peptidase (leucylproline substrate)	3.4.11/13	no activity
VLPeptidase (valylleucine substrate) MDH3.4.11/13 Malate dehydrogenaseTG, pH 8: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HF: M General: good activity on TG, 2 loci, lower one blurry with the exception of SV. upper locus: P for SV lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, ET, TA: M. SV: P(?)MEMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40TEC, 2 loci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?), lower locus: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HFMPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8best on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44best on TEC, also OK on HC, only faintly active in ET. AE, AM, HN, HF, TA, SV: MPGKPhosphoglycerat kinase2.7.2.3only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activityPGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySOD STRDHSuperoxide dismutase Triose-phosphate isomerase1.15.1.1some activity on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AE TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M	LT	Peptidase (leucyltyrosine substrate)	3.4.11/13	TG, pH 7: AE, AM, HN, ET, TA: P. HF, SV: M
MDHMalate dehydrogenase1.1.1.37General: good activity on TG, 2 loci, lower one blurry with the exception of SV. upper locus: P for SV lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, ET, TA: M. SV: P(?)MEMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40TEC, 2 loci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?), lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, ET, TA: SV: P(?)MPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8best on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44best on TEC, also OK on HC, only faintly active in ET. AE, AM, HN, HF, TA, SV: MPGKPhosphoglucomutase2.7.2.3only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activityPGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySOD STRDHSuperoxide dismutase Strombine dehydroxinase1.15.1.1some activity on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AETPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M	VL	Peptidase (valvlleucine substrate)	3.4.11/13	TG, pH 8: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HF: M
MEMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40TEC, 2 loci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?), lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, ET, TA: M. SV: P(?)MPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8best on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44best on TEC, also OK on HC, only faintly active in ET. AE, AM, HN, HF, TA, SV: MPGKPhosphoglycerat kinase2.7.2.3only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activityPGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySOD STRDHSuperoxide dismutase Strombine dehydroxinase1.15.1.1some activity on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AETPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M	MDH	Malate dehvdrogenase	1.1.1.37	General: good activity on TG, 2 loci, lower one
MEMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40SV: N P(?)MPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8best on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44best on TEC, also OK on HC, only faintly active in ET. AE, AM, HN, HF, TA, SV: MPGKPhosphoglycerat kinase2.7.2.3only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activityPGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySODSuperoxide dismutase Strombine dehydroxinase1.15.1.1some activity, works faintly on TG for AETPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M		, 0		blurry with the exception of SV. upper locus: P for
MEMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40TEC, 2 loci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?), lower locus: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HFMPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8best on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44best on TEC, also OK on HC, only faintly active in ET. AE, AM, HN, HF, TA, SV: MPGKPhosphoglycerat kinase2.7.2.3only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activityPGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySODSuperoxide dismutase Strombine dehydroxinase1.15.1.1some activity, works faintly on TG for AETPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M				SV lower locus: AE, AM, HF, HN, ET, TA: M. SV:
MEMalate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate- decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)1.1.1.40TEC, 2 loci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?), lower locus: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HFMPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8best on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44best on TEC, also OK on HC, only faintly active in ET. AE, AM, HN, HF, TA, SV: MPGKPhosphoglycerat kinase2.7.2.3only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activityPGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySODSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1some activity on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AETPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M				P(?)
decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic enzyme)lower locus: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HFMPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8best on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44best on TEC, also OK on HC, only faintly active in ET. AE, AM, HN, HF, TA, SV: MPGKPhosphoglycerat kinase2.7.2.3only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activityPGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySODSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1some activity on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AETPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M	ME	Malate dehydrogenase (oxaloacetate-	1.1.1.40	TEC, 2 loci in AE, TA, upper locus V in both (?),
MPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8best on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44best on TEC, also OK on HC, only faintly active in ET. AE, AM, HN, HF, TA, SV: MPGKPhosphoglycerat kinase2.7.2.3only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activityPGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySOD STRDHSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1 - Strombine dehydroxinasesome activity on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AE TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M		decarboxylating) (NADP+) (Malic		lower locus: AE, AM, ET(?), TA, SV: P. HN, HF
MPIMannose-6-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.8best on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE, ET, SV: MPGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44best on TEC, also OK on HC, only faintly active in ET. AE, AM, HN, HF, TA, SV: MPGKPhosphoglycerat kinase2.7.2.3only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activityPGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySOD STRDHSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1 - Triose-phosphate isomerasesome activity on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AE TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M		enzyme)		
PGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44ET, SV: MPGKPhosphoglycerat kinase2.7.2.3only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activityPGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySOD STRDHSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1 - Triose-phosphate isomerasesome activity on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AE TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M	MPI	Mannose-6-phosphate isomerase	5.3.1.8	best on TM (Cello). AM, HF(?), HN, TA(?): V. AE,
PGDPhosphogluconate dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)1.1.1.44best on TEC, also OK on HC, only faintly active in ET. AE, AM, HN, HF, TA, SV: MPGKPhosphoglycerat kinase2.7.2.3only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activityPGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySODSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1some activity on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AETPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M				ET, SV: M
dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)ET. AE, AM, HN, HF, TA, SV: MPGKPhosphoglycerat kinase2.7.2.3only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activityPGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySODSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1some activity on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AETPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M	PGD	Phosphogluconate	1.1.1.44	best on TEC, also OK on HC, only faintly active in
PGKPhosphoglycerat kinase2.7.2.3AE, AM, HN, HF, TA, SV: MPGMPhosphoglucomutase2.7.2.3only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activityPGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySODSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1some activity on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AESTRDHStrombine dehydroxinase-low activity, works faintly on TG for AETPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M		dehydrogenase(decarboxylating)		ET.
PGKPhosphoglycerat kinase2.7.2.3only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low activityPGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySODSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1some activity on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AESTRDHStrombine dehydroxinase-low activity, works faintly on TG for AETPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M				AE, AM, HN, HF, TA, SV: M
PGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2activity good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySODSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1some activity on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AESTRDHStrombine dehydroxinase-low activity, works faintly on TG for AETPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M	PGK	Phosphoglycerat kinase	2.7.2.3	only tested on Cellogel, best on Phos, but low
PGMPhosphoglucomutase5.4.2.2good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P. TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySODSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1some activity on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AESTRDHStrombine dehydroxinase-low activity, works faintly on TG for AETPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M				activity
SODSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySODSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1some activity on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AESTRDHStrombine dehydroxinase-low activity, works faintly on TG for AETPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M	PGM	Phosphoglucomutase	5.4.2.2	good activity for most on Starch. AM, AE: clearly P.
SODSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC, but blurrySODSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1some activity on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AESTRDHStrombine dehydroxinase-low activity, works faintly on TG for AETPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M				TEC and TG. HN, HF: TEC, TG, some alleles better
SODSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1but blurrySTRDHStrombine dehydroxinase-low activity on some stains, but not interpretableTPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M)AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M				on HC. ET: TEC, P(?). TA: TEC, HC P(?). SV: TEC,
SODSuperoxide dismutase1.15.1.1some activity on some stains, but not interpretable low activity, works faintly on TG for AESTRDHStrombine dehydroxinase-low activity, works faintly on TG for AETPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M				but blurry
STRDHStrombine dehydroxinase-Iow activity, works faintly on TG for AETPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M)AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M	SOD	Superoxide dismutase	1.15.1.1	some activity on some stains, but not interpretable
TPITriose-phosphate isomerase5.3.1.1TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M) AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M	STRDH	Strombine dehydroxinase	-	low activity, works faintly on TG for AE
AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M	TPI	Triose-phosphate isomerase	5.3.1.1	TEC, TG, often faint and slow TA: V. SV: 2 loci (M)
				AE, AM, HN, HF, ET: M

DNA extraction

Frozen gut samples were removed from the freezer and kept on liquid nitrogen until processing. The frozen samples were broken into chips and 50-80 mg of each sample was weighed and placed into a 1500 μ L microcentrifuge tube. 500 μ L of hot (60° C) CTAB extraction buffer (100 mM Tris-Cl pH 8.0, 1.4 M NaCl, 20 mM EDTA, 2% CTAB, 2% polyvenyl pyrolidone) and 12.5 µL of proteinase K (Promega, 20 mg/ml) were pipetted directly on the sample. The sample was briefly ground with a cleaned plastic pestle, vortexed and incubated over night at 60° C. After addition of 5µLRNase A (10 mg/ml) the samples were incubated for 60 min at 37°C. After cooling to room temperature, 500 µLphenol : chloroform : isoamyl alcohol (25 : 24 : 1) was added, samples were vortexed and centrifuged (15900 g) for 5 min. The supernatant was carefully removed, 500 µLchloroform was added and samples vortexed and centrifuged again. The supernatant was transferred to another vial, and DNA was precipitated by adding 30 µLsodium acetate (3 M, pH 5.2) and 600 mL100% ethanol. Samples were allowed to precipitate for 15 min at room temperature and than centrifuged (15900 g) for 15min. The supernatant was removed and the pellet washed once with 1 mL70 % ethanol. The samples were air-dried for about 30 min at 60°C, and 110 µLsterilised water was added. Samples were vortexed and left for several hours to resuspend the DNA. DNA quality was checked optically on 1 % agarose/1xTBE gels stained with ethidium bromide, and concentrations were measured in a Genequant (Pharmacia). This treatment usually resulted in final concentrations of 200 to 400 µg/mLDNA.

Mt DNA amplification and sequencing

A region of the mitochondrial cytochrom oxidase I (COI) gene was amplified using primers described by Arndt *et al.* (1996) (CO1e-F: 5'ATAATGATAGGAGGRTTTGG3', COIe-R: 5'GCTCGTGTRTCTACRTCCAT3'). These primers amplify 674 nucleotides of the echinoderm COI gene, corresponding to positions 6001 to 6674 of the mitochondrial genome of the echinoid *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus* (Jacobs *et al.* 1988).

PCR amplification is conducted using final concentrations of 1 μ m of each primer, 2.5 μ M MgCl₂, 1 x PCR Buffer, 200 μ M of each dNTP and 2.5 units Taq-polymerase (Quiagen) and 40-80 ng DNA is added. PCR reactions were conducted on Perkin-Elmer (GeneAmp 9700) thermocyclers, loading the samples at 95°C. This was followed by 40 cycles of 30 sec of denaturation at 95°C, 30 sec of annealing at a temperature of 50°C, and 80 sec

extension at 72°C. The 40 cycles were followed by a final extension of 10 min, and cooling to 4°C until PCR products were removed from the thermocycler.

All PCR products were checked for the presence of bands on 1% agarose gels (1 x TBE). Most samples showed bands of the expected size (~ 640 bp), some samples which did not amplify at the first attempt did amplify in a second PCR run. For sequencing, the PCR products were cleaned using QIAaquick PCR purification kit (Quiagen), and their concentrations measured on a Genequant (Pharmacia) spectrophotometer. All PCR products were diluted to a final concentration between 10 and 25 μ g/mL. For the sequencing reaction, Big Dye (ABI) sequencing reagents were used, following the instructions of the supplier. However, to achieve higher cost efficiency we scaled down the reactions to $\frac{3}{4}$ of the original instructions. DNA from each sample was sequenced in both directions, using 5 pm of either the forward or reverse primer per reaction. 5 μ L of the diluted DNA were added to each reaction, and PCR amplification conducted as required by the supplier of the sequencing kit. Sequencing products were precipitated by adding 1.5 μ L sodium acetate (3 M, pH 5.2) and 37.5 μ L100% ethanol, centrifuging the sample and washing the pellet once with 190 μ L 70% ethanol. Samples were sequenced on a ABI 377 sequencer.

PERIOD OF REPRODUCTION OF THE BLACK TEATFISH ON THE GBR

The Gonado-Somatic Index (short: gonad index, GI) was used to describe the period of reproduction in *H. nobilis*. It was initially planned to obtain 30 samples from reefs in the central section in the GBR every six weeks over 18 months. However, low densities of this species meant only 15 to 20 animals of this species were collected from two reefs, but only from one reef per sample time. Adverse weather conditions prevented samples being taken as regularly as planned.

All animals were weighed prior to dissections, which took place through an approximately five cm incision in the trivum ("ventral surface"). Gonads were removed and frozen in individual bags and the remaining body wall re-weighed. This second weight is termed "gutted" weight and is considered more accurate because variable amounts of water can be retained in the whole animal. In the laboratory, gonads were sexed macroscopically, or in some cases with the aid of microscopes, and weighed. Gonad indices presented

here are the weight of the gonad as a percentage of the weight of the body wall (total weight or gutted weight).

GROWTH RATES FOR BLACK TEATFISH

Experiments for this study were conducted on Davies Reef (18°50'S, 147°38'E) and in two locations of Lizard Island (14°40'S, 145°28'E). A total of 91 individuals of *Holothuria nobilis* were collected in May 2000 on the reef flats of Davies Reef and Bowl Reef (18°30'S, 147°33'E), in the central section of the GBR. Animals were brought on board a research vessel and kept in flowing seawater in 60 L containers. On Lizard Island, first samples were taken in June 2000 from two sample locations: 1) near Bird Islet (56 animals) and 2) near Palfrey Island (54 animals). Individuals from Davies Reefs were weighed using a spring balance (Salter Super Samson, $\pm 25g$) and animals on Lizard Island were weighed with an electronic balance (± 1 g) after a minimum time of five minutes outside the water (this minimised the amount of water retained in the animals respiratory trees). Repeated measurements of 20 individuals showed that measurements have an average coefficient of variation of 5.8% of the mean. This variation is assumed to have resulted mainly from variation in the amount of seawater retained in the body cavity.

A small tissue biopsy (approximately 1 g) was taken from the ventral epidermis of each individual and preserved in 100% ethanol for later DNA fingerprint analysis. Tissue samples from the first sampling time on Davies Reef were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and subsequently stored at -70° C. However, later tests showed that amplification success was higher with ethanol preserved samples. Animals were carefully returned to a distinct area at the back reef of Davies Reef that had been previously cleared of all *H. nobilis* detected in a two-hour search. On Lizard Island, animals were returned to the area of their origin, and the GPS position marked. Animals from Palfrey Island were released at two locations 90 m apart, to obtain some additional information on migration rates.

In November 2000, approximately six months later, 89 individuals from an area of up to 150 m from the release position on Davies Reef were collected during a six-hour search by manta tow. Similarly, 52 animals were collected from Bird Island and 57 from the two locations near Palfrey Island in December 2000. Animals were weighed, a tissue sample taken and individuals were released as described above. In May and June 2001, one year after the initial samples had been obtained, the procedure was repeated for a third time,

collecting 81 individuals in about four hours at Davies Reef, 59, and 55 at Bird and Palfrey Island, respectively.

Individual animals were identified by their DNA fingerprint patterns allowing growth to be assessed in specific individuals weighed over time.

DNA fingerprinting (AFLP)

DNA extractions from epidermal holothurian tissues were performed using Quiagen DNeasy extraction kits following instructions of the manufacturer. However, repeatability of the amplifications was greatly improved by reducing the initial amount of tissue to 10-20 mg, using twice the recommended amount of proteinase and performing an extra cleaning step using Sephadex CL6B spincolumns.

DNA fingerprints from each individual were obtained using the amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) technique following general procedures described by Vos et al. (1995), with some variations as described by Wilson et al. (2002). In short, 100 ng of genomic DNA were digested with EcoRI and MSEI, followed by ligation of respective adapters in a 50 μ L reaction volume. 1 μ L of these ligations were used directly in 20 μ L pre-amplifications using primers with a single selective base. EcoRI-AAG and Msel-CGT were used as selective primers in the second amplification step after initial tests indicated that the combination of two times three selective bases yielded an appropriate amount of bands with variation. The EcoRI-AAG primer was end-labeled with ³³P and amplification products subjected to electrophoresis for 2.5 h on a 5% denaturing acrylamide gel, and later visualised through exposure to film (Kodak, BioMax). The primers resulted in approximately 80 bands in the well-resolved range between 100 and 480 nucleotides. Out of these bands, 31 that were polymorphic and could be reliably scored (as tested in repeated extractions and subsequent amplifications of 20 individuals), were chosen for assay. The presence or absence of each of these bands was scored for each individual to form a DNA fingerprint. Every individual was scored twice in two independent selective amplifications. Several individuals that had distinctly fewer bands than all other individuals were deemed as not having successfully amplified and were discarded from further analyses.

STATISTICAL ANALYSES

Survey data

Statistical analyses for the field surveys comparing number of individuals, biomass or gonad indices were conducted using a variety of ANOVA models or t-tests as performed by Statistica 4.5 (Statsoft 1994). Prior to ANOVAs, data were tested for homogeneity of variances with Cochran's C test, and transformed if necessary as indicated in the results.

Allozymes

Allele frequencies, basic statistics of genetic variability, cluster analysis, F-statistics and tests of conformation to Hardy-Weinberg expectations were performed using the TFPGA package (Miller 1997). Weir and Cockerham's (1984) methods for calculating Wright's F-statistics with corrections for unequal sample size were used with algorithms of TFPGA. Genetic variation was partitioned into that occurring within populations (F_{IS}) and that occurring between populations (F_{ST}). The significance of F_{IS} and F_{ST} values was tested using the χ^2 statistic. For tests of $F_{IS'} \chi^2 = N(F_{IS})^2$ (k-1) with degrees of freedom (d.f.) = [k(k-1)]/2 where N is the total number of individuals sampled and k the number of alleles at the locus. For tests of $F_{ST} \chi^2 = 2N(F_{ST})$ (k-1) with d.f. = (k-1)(s-1), where N and k are defined as above and s is the number of populations sampled (Waples 1987). In addition, the 95% confidence intervals for the average F_{ST} and F_{IS} values were calculated by bootstrapping across loci.

Deviations from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium for each locus at each reef were tested by an Exact-Test choosing the conventional Monte Carlo method with the default settings in TFPGA. Significance values were appropriately corrected for multiple simultaneous tests (Miller 1966).

To test whether the allozyme data provide evidence for asexual reproduction in *Holothuria nobilis,* two parameters which proved to be reliable indicators in previous studies were calculated (Uthicke *et al.* 1998; 1999). The ratio of the number of genotypes observed in the population (N_{go}) over the sample size (N_i) provides a measure for the minimum input of sexual reproduction. The maximum input through sexual reproduction in each population can be estimated by calculating the maximum number of sexually

produced individuals (N^*) and dividing this over the sample size. The calculations of these two parameters are described in detail in Uthicke *et al.* (1998).

mtDNA

All sequences were aligned using Assemblylign. The Kimura 2-parameter substitution model was used in the following calculations. Haplotype and nucleotide diversity were calculated using Arlequin 2.001 (Schneider *et al.* 2000). This program was also used to calculate the genetic distances between populations and to perform the following computations on Analysis of Molecular Variation (AMOVA) and F_{sT} statistics. AMOVA (Excoffier *et al.* 1992) was used to partition the total molecular variance (σ^2) into covariance components due to differences within populations (σ^2_c), among populations within groups (σ^2_b) and among groups (σ^2_a). The significance of the respective fixation indices (F_{sT}, F_{sC} and F_{cT}) was tested using permutation procedures described in Excoffier *et al.* (1992) with 1000 permutations. F_{sT} values between all pair of populations were calculated and their significance tested using the permutation procedure.

RESULTS

DEVELOPMENT OF SURVEY METHODOLOGY

Estimates for *H. atra* obtained from 10 transects for each method were in the same order of magnitude, whereas densities for *S. chloronotus* were somewhat lower using manta tows (Table 3). This may reflect the fact that these animals are sometimes semi-cryptic and thus harder to detect during manta tows. No *H. nobilis* was discovered during the 40m² and 100m² transects. This reflects the low densities of these animals when compared to the more common species, and the much-increased area using the manta tow technique. Although the smaller transects may be sufficient for the more abundant species, it was concluded that manta tows were the best method to use during the surveys as *H. nobilis* was the main target species.

	10 tran	isects	Densities (ind. x ha. ⁻¹ , +- SD)			
Method	Total Time (min)	Total area (m²)	H. nobilis	H. atra	S. chloronotus	
100 m ² Transect 40 m ² Transect 500 m ² Manta	60 40 40	1000 400 5000	0 (0) 0 (0) 12.0 (19.3)	370 (231) 475 (299) 532 (283)	110 (159) 125 (176) 66 (36)	

Table 3.	Comparison	of methods for	estimating	holothurian	densities in	reef flat areas.
Table 5.	Companson	of file file as for	Countrating	noioununun	uchistics in	icci nat areas.

SPATIAL SURVEYS AND STOCK SIZE OF BÊCHE-DE-MER OVER THE GBR

Black Teatfish

Holothuria nobilis occurs on outer and midshelf reefs and appears to achieve highest abundances on the Ribbon Reefs (Fig. 2). In spot checks and search tows on locations closer to the shore (as indicated in Fig. 1) *H. nobilis* was never detected. Significant differences were observed between reefs closed to fishing (green reefs) and those reefs open to fishing (blue reefs) (factor Zone - Blue vs. Green reefs), and between different sectors of the GBR (factor Sector), but the interaction between those factors was also significant (Table 4). The explanation for this interaction is shown in Fig. 3. In general, densities on the green (un-fished reefs) decrease from north to south, indicating that this species is naturally more abundant in the northern two sectors, i.e. the area North of Townsville.



FIGURE 2. Distribution map of *Holothuria nobilis* (black teatfish) on northern (top map) and southern (bottom map) reefs of the Great Barrier Reef.



FIGURE 3. Average densities of *Holothuria nobilis* in four arbitrary sectors, and in green (Closed Reef) and blue (Open Reef) reefs of the Great Barrier Reef. Error bars indicate 1 SE.

Source of Variation	Df	Mean Square	F	Р
Zone	1	6 928	7 67	0.008
Sector	3	6.588	7.23	< 0.001
$\mathbf{Z} \times \mathbf{R}$	3	7.925	8.77	< 0.001
R eef (Z , S)	49	0.903	2.48	<0.001
Residual	858	0.367		

TABLE 4. Results of nested ANOVA comparing third root transformed densities of *Holothuria nobilis* in four Sectors and differently protected Zones (green and blue) in the GBR.

However, no *H. nobilis* were detected on the green reef sampled in the Swains region. Although not all green reefs were investigated, those most likely to have H. nobilis, based on prior experience, were chosen for sampling. The main conclusion of the interaction term depicted in Fig. 3 is that an effect of fishing (as a difference between blue and green reefs) can only be detected in the area north of Townsville, the area potentially fished. Although several reefs to the south of that (e.g. in the Whitsunday area, or in the hardline of the Pompeys), these reefs are sparsely scattered or hard to access due to oceanographic conditions, and therefore fishing in those areas is likely to be uneconomical.



FIGURE 4. Average weights (total weight) of *Holothuria nobilis* on northern (top map) and southern (bottom map) reefs of the Great Barrier Reef.

The average total weight of *H. nobilis* for given reef populations ranged between 1300 and 2450 g (Fig. 4). ANOVA revealed significant differences in average weights of the four sectors (Table 5). However, a post hoc (Tukey) test showed that only means in Sector 3 (Whitsunday area, average 1361 g, SE = 23 g) were significantly different from those in Sector 2 (1981 g, SE = 19 g). Mean weights in Sector 1 (1737 g, SE = 24 g) and Sector 4 (1704 g, SE = 26 g) were intermediate and are not statistically significantly different from the other samples. Apart from the small weights in the Whitsunday area, no other geographic patterns in the weights are apparent. Although many average weights for fished reefs were smaller than those on green reefs, this difference was not statistically significant (Table 6).

TABLE 5. Results of nested ANOVA comparing square root transformed weights of *Holothuria nobilis* in four Sectors of the GBR.

Source of Variation	Df	Mean Square	F	Р
Sector R eef (S) Residual	3 24 1411	902.74 236.40 23.92	2.62 9.88	0.023 < 0.001

TABLE 6. Results of nested ANOVA comparing square root transformed weights of *Holothuria nobilis* in fished and unfished Zones, only for the fished Sectors 1 and 2.

Source of Variation	Df	Mean Square	F	Р
Z one R eef (Z) Residual	1 17 932	871.12 332.98 25.20	2.62 13.21	0.124 < 0.001

Because the analyses described above indicated significant differences between blue and green reefs for *H. nobilis* in the fished area of the reef north of Townsville, more detailed analyses of this area were undertaken. The densities on each of the five reefs closed to fishing were distinctly higher than on all reefs open to fishing (see Fig. 2). The average density on the five green reefs (22.84 ind. ha⁻¹) was more than four times higher than on the 16 blue reefs (5.01 ind. ha⁻¹). Although there were significant differences among locations within reefs, there were no differences among reefs within zones (Table 7). The difference between fished and un-fished reefs was highly significant.

Source of Variation	Df	Mean Square	F	Р	_
Zone Reef (Z) Location (R) Residual	1 18 39 292	71.11 2.15 6.85 3.931	33.02 0.314 1.66	<0.001 0.995 0.010	_

TABLE 7. Results of nested ANOVA on square root-transformed densities of *Holothuria nobilis* comparing 16 fished and five reefs totally closed to fishing.

The two-factor ANOVA comparing densities in open and closed zones within reefs showed a significant interaction between the factor *Zone* and *Reef* (Table 8). This reflected the different result for Ribbon Reef No. 10 compared with the other reefs. Densities in the closed zone of that reef where about five times that in the open zone (Fig. 5).

TABLE 8. Results of a two-factor ANOVA on square root-transformed densities of *Holothuria nobilis* on reefs that are divided into zones open to fishing and those closed to fishing.

Source of Variation	df	Mean Square F		Р
Zone Reef Z x R Residual	1 3 3 92	23.39 21.36 20.94 5.22	4.49 4.10 4.02	0.037 0.009 0.010



FIGURE 5. Average densities of *Holothuria nobilis* on reefs that are divided into blue (Open to fishing) and green (Closed to fishing) zones. Error bars indicate 1 SE.

A subsequent one factor ANOVA revealed that this difference was significant (F = 4.53, p = 0.001, comparison of means: p = 0.001). In contrast, densities between the open and closed zones of Hastings, Opal and Ribbon Reef No. 7 were not significantly different from each other (comparison of means: p > 0.05 in each case). The densities on these reefs were on a level comparable to reefs completely open to fishing, with the exception of Hastings Reef where density estimates were slightly higher.

Stock Size

Data from model calculations on virgin stock size and biomass, and the remaining numbers after fishing are summarized in Table 9. Estimates indicate that about 4.7 million individuals of *Holothuria nobilis* were available in the fished area of the GBR prior to fishing. This number translated to a total biomass of 5,600 tonnes. These values were reduced to about 45% during fishing. Although only about 25 % of all stock was initially protected on closed reefs, more than 50% of the remaining numbers and biomass are now on these reefs.

TABLE 9. Estimates of numbers and biomass of *Holothuria nobilis* in the fished area of the GBR (12-19° S), before fishing commenced in the mid 1980's, and after closure of the fishery in 1999. Density estimates for green reefs are 20.88 ind. x ha.⁻¹ (N = 6, 95% CI = 16.3 - 25.73) and 5.52 ind. x ha.⁻¹ (N = 29, 95% CI = 2.84 - 8.20) for blue reefs. The average gutted weight was 1,193 kg (N = 1319).

	Fished	Protected	Total
Area (ha)	167,431	56,810	224,241
<u>Pre fishing</u> Number (*10 ⁶) Biomass (t)	-	-	4.68 (3.59-5.77) 5,585 (4,288-6,882)
<u>Post fishing</u> Number (*10 ⁶) Biomass (t)	0.92 (0.48-1.37) 1,103 (568-1,639)	1.19 (0.91-1.46) 1,415 (1,086-1,743)	2.11 (1.39-2.83) 2,518 (1,654-3,382)
Total Reduction Number (*10 ⁶) Biomass (t)	-	-	2.57 3,067
Other Species

Several species other than *H. nobilis* were frequently observed on the transects. The most common were *S. chloronotus* (greenfish) and *H. atra* (lollyfish). The distribution map of *H. atra* (Fig. 6) indicates that this species is more abundant on midshelf reefs than on outer shelf reefs. A statistical analysis indicated that there are also significant differences between the sectors (Table 10). A post hoc analysis of means (Tukey test) showed that densities of *H. atra* in Sector 2 are significantly higher than in Sectors 3 and 1 (Table 11).

TABLE 10. Results of nested ANOVA comparing third root transformed densities of *Holothuria atra, Stichopus chloronotus, Stichopus variegatus* and *Bohadschia argus* in four Sectors and green and blue (Factor Zone) reefs of the of the GBR.

			H. atra	1	S. ci	hloron	otus	<i>S</i> . •	variega	tus	l	B. argu	s
Source of Variation	df	MS	F	Р	MS	F	Р	MS	F	Р	MS	F	Р
Zone	1	40.47	2.01	0.162	5.71	0.47	0.496	1.86	3.87	0.055	1.72	1.72	0.194
Sector	3	97.87	4.87	0.005	83.38	6.87	0.001	2.28	4.75	0.005	2.12	2.14	0.107
Z x R	3	5.75	0.29	0.835	1.72	0.14	0.934	0.58	1.22	0.313	0.21	0.21	0.887
Reef (Z, S)	49	20.09			12.13			0.48			0.99		
Residual	858	1.30			0.99			0.11			0.28		

Table 11. Average abundance (ind ha⁻¹) of four holothurian species in each of four sectors.

Sector	H. atra	S. chloronotus	S. variegatus	B. argus
1	50.57	50.46	0.00	2.80
2	356.21	142.25	0.44	8.61
3	60.50	48.71	5.89	4.65
4	200.84	7.94	4.73	0.84

The distribution of *Stichopus chloronotus* is similar to that of *H. atra* (Fig. 7). The factor Sector was also significant for this species (Table 10), and post hoc analysis of means indicated that average densities in Sector 2 were significantly higher than in all other Sectors (Table 11).

Stichopus variegatus (curryfish) was hardly detected in the northern two sectors (Fig. 8) but quite common in the other sectors. Because *S. variegatus* was commonly observed in deeper areas outside the transects in the north, it is likely that the apparent difference in densities may be a shift in habitat between the sectors. Differences in the means between

the sectors were only significant between Sector 3 and 1 (p < 0.10), 3 and 2 (p < 0.05), and 4 and 2 (p < 0.1) (Tables 10 and 11). However the analysis lacks statistical power due to the low numbers on many reefs.

Bohadschia argus (leopardfish) also appears to be most common on midshelf reefs of sectors 1 and 2 (Fig. 9), and to have very low in numbers in the south. However, statistical analysis did not detect any significant differences between sectors (Table 11). Further species counted in the transects were *Thelenota ananas* (prickly redfish, Fig. 10), *Actinopyga echnites* (blackfish, Fig. 11) and *A. miliaris* (deepwater redfish, Figure 12). However, their occurrence was so sporadic that no statistical analyses could be conducted. Several other species were observed but not counted because they could not be distinguished in manta tows, or are cryptic for a part of the day. These species include *Holothuria edulis* (pink fish), *H. leucospilota, H. couluber, Bohadschia marmorata* and *Actinopyga mauritania* (surf fish).



FIGURE 6. Distribution map of *Holothuria atra* (lollyfish) on northern (top map) and southern (bottom map) reefs of the Great Barrier Reef.



FIGURE 7. Distribution map of *Stichopus chloronotus* (greenfish) on northern (top map) and southern (bottom map) reefs of the Great Barrier Reef.



FIGURE 8. Distribution map of *Stichopus variegatus* (curryfish) on northern (top map) and southern (bottom map) reefs of the Great Barrier Reef.



FIGURE 9. Distribution map of *Bohadschia argus* (leopard fish) on northern (top map) and southern (bottom map) reefs of the Great Barrier Reef.



FIGURE 10. Distribution map of *Thelenota ananas* (prickly redfish) on northern (top map) and southern (bottom map) reefs of the Great Barrier Reef.



FIGURE 11. Distribution map of *Actinopyga echinites* (deepwater redfish) on northern (top map) and southern (bottom map) reefs of the Great Barrier Reef.



FIGURE 12. Distribution map of *Actinopyga miliaris* (black fish) on northern (top map) and southern (bottom map) reefs of the Great Barrier Reef.

TEMPORAL SURVEYS OF OVER-FISHED BLACK TEATFISH STOCKS

Twenty three reefs in the fished area of the GBR were resurveyed one year and two years after closure. ANOVA revealed that the difference between blue and green reefs remained significant for the total period surveyed (Factor Zone, Table 12). An increase of the average densities in the blue reefs (but not in the green reefs) would have been detected in a significant interaction term, but this was not the case. A subsequent ANOVA only for the blue reefs also showed no significant differences between surveys at different times ($F_{2, 39}$ = 0.885, p = 0.421). Total densities appeared to be slightly higher on the green reefs in the second survey, but are nearly exactly at the same level two years after closure (Fig. 13).



FIGURE 13. Average densities of *Holothuria nobilis* on five green (Closed) and 15 blue (Open) reefs prior to the total closure of the fishery (Survey 1) and about 1 (Survey 2) and 2 (Survey 3) years after the closure.

The total average on the blue reefs appears to increase slightly, but this increase is not statistically significant (see above). However, it is noteworthy that averages on the 8 northern most reefs of our survey area, with the exception of Ribbon Reef No. 10), are all higher in the third survey than in the first (Fig. 14).



FIGURE 14. Increase and decrease of densities of *Holothuria nobilis* when compared before closure and 2 years after closure of the fishery.

TABLE 12.	Results of a repeated measures ANOVA on third root-transformed ($[x+0.5]^{0.25}$)
densities of	of Holothuria nobilis on reefs that were resurveyed one and two years after
closure of	the fishery.

Source of Variation	df	Mean Square	F	Р
<i>Between Subjects</i> Z one Error = Reef (Z)	1 17	87.0497 0.8928	97.50	<0.001
Within Subjects Survey Z x S Error = R(Z) x S Residual	2 2 36 1038	0.2377 0.5364 0.6066 0.4233	0.39 0.88	0.6788 0.4222



FIGURE 15. Densities of *Holothuria nobilis* on four reefs, which are divided into zones open (white bars) and closed (grey bars) to fishing prior to total closure of the fishery, averaged over three surveys.

A repeated measures ANOVA on density data from the four reefs divided into a fished and an un-fished zone reveals a significant interaction between the factors Zone and Reef (Table 13). Averaged over all surveys, densities of *H. nobilis* are distinctly higher in the green zones of the two Ribbon Reefs (No. 10 and 7), but not for Opal and Hastings Reef, confirming the trend observed on the first survey (see Fig. 5). Although the factor Survey is significant in the "Within Subjects" effect, this factor is also involved in a three-factor interaction term.

Source of Variation	df	Mean Square	F	Р
Between Subjects	1	4 0577	6 79	0.011
Reef R x Z Error	3 3 90	2.4815 1.7258 0.5977	4.15 2.89	0.008 0.040
Within Subjects Survey S x Z S x R S x R x Z Error	2 2 6 6 180	1.6289 0.2596 0.5929 1.5290 0.4409	3.69 0.59 1.34 3.47	0.027 0.556 0.240 0.003

TABLE 13. Results of a repeated measures ANOVA on third root-transformed densities of *Holothuria nobilis* on reefs that were divided into one open and one closed zone, resurveyed one and two years after closure of the fishery.

Animals on 11 reefs in the fished area of the GBR were weighed before closure of the fishery and during the subsequent two surveys. An analysis of variance indicated that both factors, Survey and Reef, are significant (Table 14). However, the interaction term between those was significant, and a separate one factor ANOVA for each reef was conducted. Average weights decreased on the majority of reefs after the closure, but since some reefs showed an increase no clear trend can be identified at this stage (Fig. 16).

TABLE 14. Results of a two-factor ANOVA on square root-transformed weights Holothurianobilis at three different surveys and 11 reefs.

Source of Variation	df	Mean Square	F	Р
Survey	2	413.85	19.09	< 0.001
Reet S v P	10 20	594.87	27.43	<0.001
Residual	1123	21.68	0.01	\$0.001



Weight changes in populations of Holothuria nobilis

FIGURE 16. Changes in average weights in 11 populations of *Holothuria nobilis* when compared between Survey 1 and 3. Significance levels refer to separate one factor analysis for each reef, numbers indicate significance between separate surveys as determined by subsequent Tukey HSD post hoc analysis, e.g. 1 > 2,3 indicates weights at survey 1 are significantly higher than at survey 2 and three.

DISPERSAL AND RECRUITMENT IN BLACK TEATFISH

Allozymes

There were no statistical differences between sub-samples within reefs from any reef where more than one location was sampled. Samples taken at different times on Little Broadhurst Reef, Big Broadhurst Reef and Davies Reef were also not statistically different (χ^2 test, for all comparisons: df = 14, χ^2 < 20, p > 0.1). Therefore sub-samples within reefs and over times were pooled for further analyses.

With the exception of some rare alleles (*FL-EST**90, *HK**85, *MPI**106, *PGM**115 and *PGM**58), all alleles were found in each population and there were no major differences in allele frequencies (Table 15). There were several small deviations from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium, the majority of which were heterozygote deficits (D values, Table 16). However, statistical tests (p values, Table 16) revealed that there was no significant deviation from Hardy-Weinberg expectations in any locus, or in any population. Similarly, the observed heterozygosity was slightly below the one expected under Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium for most populations, but standard errors of these overlapped in each case (Table 17).

Other measures of genetic variability within populations (mean number of alleles, % polymorphic loci) showed no differences between populations (Table 17). One exception was the lower number of both parameters on East Cay, but this was likely to be the result of the small sample size for this reef.

The estimates for the minimum input through sexual reproduction $(N_{go} : N_i)$ were between 0.74 and 1 (Table 17); and the estimates for the maximum input through sexual reproduction $(N^* : N_i)$ were all one. Thus, in combination with all populations being virtually in perfect Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium, there were no indications for the occurrence of asexual reproduction in *Holothuria nobilis*.

Nei's (1978) unbiased genetic distance (D) was between 0 and 0.003 between pairs of populations and an UPGMA clustering showed no strong groups, or any associations of geographically close populations (data not shown). The relatively low cophenetic correlation (0.620) also indicated a lack of robustness in the relationships of the tree, further emphasising the lack of structure in the data. There was no significant genetic distance between any population pairs.

				Mean Hete	erozygosity	_				
	Mean sample size per locus	Mean no. of alleles per locus	% of loci poly- morphic	Observed (H _o)	Expected (H _e)	N _i	N_{go}	N _{go} /N _i	N [*]	N [*] /N _i
13-050	51.0	3.0	100	0.269 (0.072)	0.296 (0.083)	51	41	0.80	51	1
Davie	38.7	3.0	100	0.261 (0.080)	0.290 (0.091)	37	33	0.89	37	1
Hicks	41.4	3.0	100	0.283 (0.079)	0.302 (0.082)	39	35	0.90	39	1
Ribbon No. 10	98.0	3.0	100	0.275 (0.080)	0.302 (0.092)	93	73	0.78	91	1
Opal	35.6	3.0	100	0.302 (0.080)	0.317 (0.080)	34	31	0.91	34	1
Michaelmas	53.0	3.0	100	0.280 (0.088)	0.298 (0.084)	53	45	0.85	53	1
Davies	42.1	3.0	100	0.284 (0.082)	0.316 (0.087)	37	35	0.95	37	1
Big Broadhurst	123.0	3.1	100	0.274 (0.082)	0.298 (0.085)	117	87	0.74	117	1
Little Broadhurst	19.4	3.0	100	0.267 (0.066)	0.310 (0.078)	17	15	0.88	17	1
Stucco	69.9	3.0	100	0.284 (0.075)	0.312 (0.080)	69	61	0.88	69	1
White Tip	71.0	3.0	100	0.310 (0.081)	0.329 (0.089)	71	65	0.92	71	1
21-149	69.0	3.0	100	0.300 (0.083)	0.298 (0.083)	69	58	0.84	69	1
21-151	72.6	3.1	100	0.320 (0.096)	0.336 (0.101)	70	63	0.90	70	1
East Cay	14.0	2.4	86	0.286 (0.100)	0.312 (0.102)	14	14	1	14	1
Turner Cay	60.9	3.1	100	0.312 (0.085)	0.301 (0.082)	54	48	0.88	54	1

TABLE 17. Holothuria nobilis. Summary measures describing genetic variability from 15 reefs on the GBR. Standard errors are given in parentheses beneath the means where appropriate. Individual samples were only included in the number of individuals (N_i) and calculations for the number of genotypes (N_{go}) and the maximum number of sexually produced individuals (N^*) when results for all seven loci were present.

There were no significant F_{st} values for single loci and the average value across loci (0.0024) was not significantly different from zero (Table 18). Further analyses using hierarchical F statistics to partition variation into that occurring between sectors of the GBR and between reefs within sectors revealed no significant differentiation at any level of the hierarchy (data not shown).

LOCUS	F	f	F _{ST}
FL-EST*	0.1139	0.1111***	0.0031 ^{NS}
GPI*	0.0753	0.0774^{*}	-0.0023 ^{NS}
HK^{*}	-0.0264	-0.0266 ^{NS}	0.0002 ^{NS}
MDH^{*}	0.0491	0.0503 ^{NS}	-0.0013 ^{NS}
MPI*	0.0698	0.0630 ^{NS}	0.0073 ^{NS}
PGM^*	0.0692	0.0640 ^{NS}	0.0055 ^{NS}
TPI*	0.0129	0.0191 ^{NS}	-0.0063 ^{NS}
Average:	0.0651	0.0628 NS	0.0024 ^{NS}
CI: Upper	0.0780	0.0756	0.0056
Lower	0.0528	0.0512	-0.0017

TABLE 18. Holothuria nobilis. F-statistics for 15 reefs on the GBR.Cl: 95 % Confidence interval obtained by bootstrapping across loci.

As possible differences between female and male gene flow have been reported previously for two holothurian species (Uthicke *et al.* 1998; 1999), F-statistics were also performed separately for each sex, for a subset of samples (230 females, 316 males) which could be macroscopically sexed from the appearance of their gonads. There were no deviations from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium for either sex. F_{ST} values within each sex and between the sexes showed no significant deviations from zero (data not shown).

MtDNA

Sequencing usually resulted in good quality sequences and forward and reverse sequences were easy to align. However, in several cases information from the beginning or end of the sequence could not be confirmed because one of the strands did not sequence well at the 5' end. Therefore, subsequent analysis of a slightly shortened fragment of the COI gene, representing the 559bp between 6072 and 6630 of the mitochondrial genome of *Strongylocentrotus pupuratus* were performed. Comparative searches in Genbank yielded closest matches to other echinoderm species, the closest match was to another aspidochirotide holothurian (*Parastichopus californicus*, Arndt *et al.* 1996), confirming that the sequences analysed were part of the holothurian genome and not from potential contamination by some associated fauna or flora.

The number of sequences obtained from each location is listed in Table 19. Generally, the COI sequences of *Holothuria nobilis* are characterised by high haplotype diversity, but low nucleotide diversity indicates that sequences within populations differ by less than one per cent. There does not seem to be a trend in either nucleotide or haplotype diversity with geographic location.

Reef	Ν	No. Haplotypes	Haplotype Diversity	Nucleotide Diversity
13-050	30	18	0.933	0.0060
Davie	24	16	0.957	0.0054
Hicks	33	17	0.913	0.0058
Michaelmas	29	18	0.921	0.0051
Opal	30	17	0.945	0.0058
Big Broadhurst	28	18	0.960	0.0063
Davies	22	15	0.923	0.0045
Stucco	27	12	0.926	0.0030
Whitetip	26	16	0.945	0.0054
21-151	24	18	0.971	0.0067
Turner	27	17	0.952	0.0063
Total	300	87	0.941	0.0057

TABLE 19.	Diversity measures for	r 11 GBR	populations	of Holothuria	nobilis,	based	on	the
Kimura tw	o parameter distance							

An analysis of Molecular variance (AMOVA, Table 20), indicated that most of the variation in sequence divergence was within populations. The contribution of Sectors or Reefs within Sectors to the total variance was not significant, whether Kimura's two-parameter distance was used or only haplotype frequencies.

Table 20. Analyses of molecular Variance (AMOVA) with mtDNA Data collected from 300 individuals of *H. nobilis*. A) Incorporating nucleotide distances based on Kimura two-parameter distance, B) only based on Haplotype frequencies.

		A) Dis	tance	B) Haplotypes		
Source of variation	df	Variance component	Percent of Variation	Variance component	Percent of Variation	
Among Sectors	4	-0.00922	-0.58	-0.00014	-0.03	
Reefs within Sectors	6	0.01689	1.06	0.00085	0.18	
Within Reefs	289	1.58371	99.52	0.46993	99.85	
Total	299	1.59138		0.47064		

A neighbour joining tree on corrected (for within population variation) genetic distances between populations, indicates that the differences between populations are very small (Fig. 17). No geographical pattern was apparent in the tree. Therefore, distance methods and AMOVA were unable to detect restrictions in geneflow between populations on the GBR.



FIGURE 17. Neighbour joining tree indicating distances (Kimura 2-parameter, corrected for within population distances) between populations on *Holothuria nobilis* investigated screened for mtDNA variation. Numbers (1-4) indicate geographic location of the reefs in four arbitrary sectors.

REPRODUCTION OF THE BLACK TEATFISH ON THE GBR

The gonad index on *H. nobilis* samples from Big Broadhurst Reef and Davies Reef in the central section of the GBR was determined 13 times in the period between October 1998 and November 2000 (Fig. 18). Although several months were missed due to poor weather conditions preventing sampling, Fig. 18 clearly indicates that this species spawns in winter. The gonad indices, whether expressed as per cent of total weight or gutted weight, was consistently high between May and August in both years. Averaged over the whole period of observation, the female gonad indices were slightly higher than the ones for the males (as percent total gutted weight, female: 6.07, SD = 6.13; male: 4.58, SD = 4.07). Gonad samples were taken at several other reefs of the GBR at several occasions to test whether patterns observed in the central section are valid for larger areas of the GBR (Table 21). Although some variation exists even between close reefs sampled in the same months, the general trend with high values and presumed spawning between May and August is confirmed. However, several reefs had relatively high values even in September (Hastings Reefs) and October (Davies Reef).



FIGURE 18. Gonad index of *Holothuria nobilis* on different sampling occasions, pooled for Big Broadhurst Reef and Davies Reef. Error bars indicate 1 SD.

Sample Month	Reef	Gonad Index	Standard Deviation	Ν
May 1999	Hyde	6.02	3.55	48
	James Reef	8.96	1.32	4
	White Tip	5.04	2.70	51
August 1999	13-050	1.75	1.77	49
	13-120	1.42	1.53	31
September 1999	Ribbon Rf. No. 10	0.71	0.61	44
	Ribbon Rf. No 7	1.29	1.68	60
	Opal	3.85	2.05	4
	Hastings	4.19	3.68	31
October 1999	Arlington	2.75	2.45	19
July 2000	Potter	0.51	0.85	14
August 2000	Michaelmas	1.01	1.41	30
October 2000	Davie	3.08	2.81	24

Table 21.	Gonad index (% of	f gutted weight) of H. nobilis	s samples in	addition to	those	on Big
Broadhurs	t and Davies Reef.						

Allometric relationships between various size and weight measures, based on all 639 samples collected for gonad analysis are shown in Figure 19. The relation between both weight measures is described well by a power function, whereas the regression line explains a smaller proportion of the relationship of these parameters and the length. This indicates that length is highly variable and probably the least reliable size measure in *H. nobilis*. As in most aspidochirotide holothurians, length-weight relationships are described by allometric constants distinctly smaller than three (Conand 1989a, Uthicke 1994).

Weight-frequency distributions for *H. nobilis* collected for gonad index analysis are bellshaped (Fig. 20), with most animals in the weight classes between 1400 and 2200 g (total weight). The weight frequency distribution highlights once more the scarcity of juveniles or small animals in these populations. The number of animals with gonads reaches 50% in the size class between 800 and 1000g. However, this value reaches 80% in the next weight class.



FIGURE 19. Relationship between total weight and gutted weight (A), length and gutted weight (B) and length and total weight (C) in *Holothuria nobilis* collected for gonad index analysis.



FIGURE 20. Weight frequency distributions (numbers of individuals, left hand y-axis) and percent of individuals with detectable gonads (right hand y-axis) for *Holothuria nobilis* collected for gonad index analysis.

GROWTH RATES FOR BLACK TEATFISH

AFLP analyses using one primer combination yielded individual DNA fingerprints for each *Holothuria nobilis* successfully amplified within each sampling period at both locations. The proportion of samples that were successfully amplified was smaller for samples obtained in the first time collection at Davies Reef and which had been snap frozen. Samples from later sampling periods and from Lizard Island were preserved in 100% ethanol and this appeared to improve amplification success (Table 22).

On Davies Reef, 27 of the samples collected in November 2000, had fingerprints identical to those observed in tissues collected in the previous time period (Table 22). Similarly, 37 samples collected in May 2001 matched samples from November 2000, and 25 samples were the same as one year prior to that. Similar numbers of animals could be re-identified on both locations of Lizard Island. However, due to the smaller collection size at Lizard Island, the recapture rates are actually higher at that location. Based on the frequency of each band in the sample from the first time period at Davies Reef, the probability of identity (P_{ID} , Waits *et al.* 2001) is less than 0.01 (i.e. 0.007), even if the conservative

formula for high occurrence of siblings and inbreeding is used. Therefore, all individuals in the second and third sample with the same fingerprints as individuals from the first or second sample were accepted as being the same individuals.

Although variation is considerable, a large proportion (53-68%) of the weight in recaptured individuals can be predicted by the weight of the initial sample using Francis' growth model (Table 23). Smaller (1.0 kg) individuals were predicted (Parameter g₁, Table 23) to grow between 35 and 533 g annually, with somewhat higher rates when modelled from data obtained between December and June. Animals of 2.5 kg, however, were consistently predicted (Parameter g₂, Table 23) to shrink more with the exception of those at Bird Island between June and December. The weight of zero growth was around 1.4 to 2.8 kg (c^{1/b}, Table 23). Due to the largest sample size we consider the pooled data for all reefs as the most reliable, the results for all locations pooled are shown in Figure 21. These data also suggest seasonal differences in growth, with growth rates for 1 kg individuals estimated to be 170g per year when estimated from the period from June to December, and 80g per year when estimated from December to June. Large individuals in the pooled data set where predicted to shrink for both periods, but more so between December and June.

Data obtained here can also be used to assess the mobility of individuals. As expected, no animals from Davies reef matched any on Lizard Island or vice versa, because these locations are hundreds of km apart. On Lizard Island, no individuals migrated between Bird and Palfrey Island (Distance: 2.1km). Animals on the Palfrey Island reef flat were released in two locations only 80-90m apart. During the whole study period, only three individuals (out of 62 matches) were found to have migrated between those two locations.



FIGURE 21. Initial versus final weight of re-captured individuals between June 2000 and December 2000 (S1-S2), December 2000 and June 2001 (S2-S3), and June 2000 and 2001 (S1-S3). The broken line indicates a hypothetical line of zero growth, the solid line is fitted with Francis' (1995) analogue of Schnute's (1981) growth model. Dots represent original data points.

	Sample 1 May/June 2000		Sample 2 December 2000		Sample 3 May/June 2001					
	Animals collected	Successfully Amplified	Animals collected	Successfull y Amplified	Matches with S1	Animals collected	Successfully Amplified	Matches with S1	Matches with S2	Matches with S1 and S2
Lizard Island	50		-	50 (000))		50	50 (1000())			
Bird Isl.	59	55 (95%)	56	52 (93%)	27	59	59 (100%)	29	33	19
Palfrey Isl. Central GBR	54	54 (100%)	57	54 (95%)	21	55	54 (98%)	20	37	16
Davies Reef	91	72 (79%)	89	77 (87%)	27	81	81 (100%)	25	37	18

Table 22. Number of *H. nobilis* samples collected, DNA fingerprinted and re-identified at three sampling locations on the Great Barrier Reef.

	Bird Isl.	Palfrey Isl.	Pooled LI	Davies Reef	All Pooled
June to December 2000	R ² =0.41 (N=27)	R ² =0.56 (N=21)	$R^2 = 0.44 (N=48)$	R ² =0.53 (N=27)	$R^2 = 0.53 (N=75)$
g1 kg yr ⁻¹	0.2162	0.5336	0.3099	0.1481	0.1733
g2 kg yr ⁻¹	0.2518	-0.1898	-0.1223	-0.7941	-0.2914
b	-10.2589	-2.7654	-6.8830	-3.4517	-11.22
C ^{1/b}	2.83	2.26	2.36	1.47	2.18
December to June 2001	R ² =0.48 (N=33)	R ² =0.65 (N=37)	R ² =0.48 (N=70)	R ² =0.68 (N=37)	R ² = 0.68 (N=107)
g1 kg yr ⁻¹	0.288	-0.0687	-0.0476	0.0641	0.0814
g2 kg yr ⁻¹	-0.8059	-0.5517	-0.6847	-0.7032	-0.6828
b	-0.5516	-14.3023	-8.5563	-8.5082	-4.7933
C ^{1/b}	1.46	undefined	undefined	1.63	1.52
June 2000 to June 2001	R ² =0.52 (N=29)	R ² = 0.58 (N=20)	$R^2 = 0.46 (N=49)$	$R^2 = 0.65 (N=25)$	$R^2 = 0.55 (N=74)$
g1 kg yr¹	0.0352	0.3398	0.1577	0.0805	0.04758
g2 kg yr ⁻¹	-0.3846	-0.1527	-0.3140	-0.6290	-0.5127
b	-2.4634	1.5461	-0.7388	-2.6685	-6.0992
C ^{1/b}	1.37	1.98	1.70	1.40	1.64

Table 23. Parameters of Francis' (1995) growth function for populations of *H. nobilis*.

DISCUSSION

SPATIAL SURVEYS AND STOCK SIZE OF BÊCHE-DE-MER OVER THE GBR

General distributions of bêche-de-mer

The surveys conducted were mainly designed for black teatfish, *H. nobilis*, in that they concentrated on the reef flat area. *H. nobilis* was shown to be a mid to outer shelf species with it's main abundance at the northern half of the GBR. However, some reefs in the southern areas had high abundances (Whitsunday area and Pompey region). This species was the only high value bêche-de-mer species common in shallow water habitats in the GBR. *H. atra* and *S. chloronotus* were more abundant in the Central section of the GBR and were less abundant on the outer shelf than inshore. These species are also abundant on some near shore reefs where extremely high densities are maintained by asexual reproduction (Uthicke 2001b). The fact that these two species are also abundant on the Capricorn Bunker section of the GBR (Harriott 1980, own observation) shows that these species also occur in the south and that temperature thus does not seem to be the factor regulating their densities on the GBR. It is not know why *Stichopus variegatus* was more common in the southern transects.

Most other bêche-de-mer species were rare on the transects. As mentioned above, surveys may not have been in the main distribution area for some of the species such as the prickly redfish. However, since large areas on the reef flat and sometimes also parts towards the lagoonal portions of reefs were towed it was concluded that the main habitat of any other reef species would be considerably smaller than the area occupied by *H. nobilis.* Therefore, even if some other species occur in high densities in local areas it is considered unlikely that their overall population size approaches that of *H. nobilis.* The few possible exceptions to this are the low value but common species *H. atra, S. chloronotus* and *H. leucospilota.*

Black teatfish

There are very few published data on densities of *Holothuria nobilis* populations, and none of these provide any specific comparison of fished and un-fished sites. For some reefs on the GBR Hammond *et al.* (1985) reported values up 17.5 ind. ha⁻¹ and Harriott (1984, 1985) reported values lower than in our survey on some fished and one un-fished reef. Both of the latter surveys were done before onset of the recent fishery, and the lower values reported by Harriott (1984, 1985) were therefore unexpected. However,

this author found that her survey methods generally underestimated population densities by a factor of two to four. In addition, the present survey excluded some areas of the reef flat, which are unlikely habitat for *H. nobilis*, i.e. sandy areas towards the leeward end of the reef flat. If these were included in Harriott's surveys, her density estimates will have been reduced correspondingly. The range of densities observed in the present study fit well within the values reported by previous authors. Average density estimates for the Torres Straits (Long *et al.* 1996), Papua New Guinea (Massin and Doumen 1986, Lokani 1990), New Caledonia (Conand 1989a), the Solomon Islands (Lincoln-Smith *et al.* 2000) and Tonga (Preston and Lokani 1990, cited from Preston 1993) range between 9.4 and 18.4 ind. ha⁻¹, but maximum densities of 100 ind. ha⁻¹ (Conand 1989b) or 275 ind. ha⁻¹ (Lokani 1990) have been reported. Some of this variation might reflect differences in the survey technique or reporting method in different studies.

These data indicate considerable variation in density at different sites and underscore the difficulty in determining natural densities or virgin biomass, which is an important prerequisite for sustainable fisheries management. In addition, because the fishing on this species in a boom-and-bust fashion has occurred for several hundred years on the GBR, it is difficult to assess how much of the current distribution patterns observed is natural and how much human induced. However, the detailed information gleaned in this survey, particularly the opportunity to compare data from reefs protected throughout the last fishing phase, has added significantly to our ability to interpret the results, and identify the implications for fishery management.

Given the significantly lower densities of black teatfish on open compared to closed reefs it appears that bêche-de-mer fishing on the GBR has led to a reduction in *Holothuria nobilis* densities of at least 75 % on recently fished reefs. The densities of the fished reefs were all similar (around 5 ind. ha⁻¹). Our own experience during sampling of *H. nobilis* suggests that this density corresponds to a catch rate of 2-3 animals per hour by a snorkler and conversions given in Conand (1989b) yield a similar estimate. If this catch rate is close to the limit at which it is economic to fish, then once populations are fished to this level they are unlikely to be reduced further at current market prices.

Our estimates of the reduction of holothurian stocks due to fishing are likely to be minimum estimates because they are based on the assumption that densities found on closed reefs represent natural densities. However, it is possible that fishing may have reduced the recruitment to protected sites through reducing the regional pool of larval recruits and illegal fishing may directly reduce densities on protected reefs. Evidence of illegal fishing in protected areas comes from the fact that protected zones on two reefs which are frequented by tourists have higher densities of *Holothuria nobilis* than other "protected" areas, e.g. densities in the closed area of Ribbon Reef No. 10 were distinctly higher than on the totally closed reefs. The difference may be due to natural variation, but this reef is also visited by tourists regularly, which may deter illegal fishing. Another area with very high densities (91.2 ind. ha⁻¹, determined from 8 transects, SD = 46.0) is the backreef area of Michaelmas Cay, which is just several hundred meters from a major tourist site.

The similarity of densities between open and closed zones on the other three reefs may result from deliberate or accidental incursions by fishermen into protected areas because of the small size (11km) or by migration of adult holothurians from the protected region into the fished zone. In the case of the large protected reef (Ribbon Reef No. 10) adult holothurian migration may not be able to even out densities in fished and un-fished areas, illegal fishing may be less because of the larger distances fishermen would need to cover, or because tourist operations deter illegal fishing. However, the limited data collected in the present study of growth of black teatfish has also shown very little movement of adults in the Lizard Island region, suggesting that migration between protected and non-protected areas on these small reefs does not explain the loss of animals from the protected zones.

Considerable variation in average weights of *Holothuria nobilis* between reefs was observed in the present survey. High variation in average weight was also found between *H. nobilis* populations in New Caledonia (Conand 1989a). Variation in average weights between habitats appears to be a feature in many holothurian species (e.g. Conand 1993, Uthicke 1994). Although average weights on many fished reefs are smaller than on reefs closed to fishing, this difference was not statistically significant. This result is in contrast to a previous analysis (Uthicke and Benzie 2000), but which was based on fewer reefs. Fishing may reduce weights on many reefs, but natural variability among reefs was too high to detect statistically significant differences overall.

The time span since a reef was last fished may also influence the population structure and increase variability. It may be that some reefs with low densities but high average weights, such as Potter Reef or the closed zones of Hastings and Opal Reef, were last fished several years ago. The small animals remaining would have grown in the period between the last fishery event and the present survey. However, if this is so, the interpretation implies low recruitment rates onto these reefs because densities remained low at those

sites. Although there is no specific legal size minimum for *H. nobilis* in the Queensland fishery, the general size minimum for bêche-de-mer (15 cm, this is equivalent to approximately 850 g total weight in *H. nobilis*, Uthicke, unpublished data) would have protected some small individuals which, in any case, are generally more difficult to find and less commercially valuable.

The reduced densities combined with lower average weights resulted in a reduction in biomass greater than 75% on fished reefs. A four-fold reduction in densities leads to a doubling of the average distance between individuals, and this can influence fertilisation success in broadcast spawners (Levitan and Young 1995). The combination of lower densities, reduced likelihood of fertilisation, lower average weight and smaller number of mature individuals may reduce the output of larvae from the fished populations. Although reefs completely protected from fishing may act as refugia for *H. nobilis* populations, it is not known whether dispersal of larvae from the protected reefs to fished reefs is effective in the short-term. The number of the protected reefs with suitable habitats is also small. In addition to direct effects on the fished stocks it is not known how reduced holothurian densities affect the general ecology of coral reefs, since holothurians have important ecological functions such as bioturbation and nutrient recycling (Massin 1982, Birkeland 1988, Uthicke and Klumpp 1998, Uthicke 1999, 2001a).

The surveys conducted were mainly designed for *H. nobilis* in that they concentrated on the reef flat area, which is the main habitat of this species. However, high densities of this species can also be observed on reef slopes and deeper backreef areas on reefs protected from fishing. It is assumed that these areas (reef slopes and deeper backreef areas) are first over fished because they are easier to access during low tides, and also smaller and less complex. The ease of collection is a threat for other species in these areas, such as the prickly red fish. None of the other species statistically analysed showed the distinct difference between green and blue reefs in the fished area. Because these species were not fished at that time, this is additional evidence that the patterns found in *H. nobilis* are caused by fishing, and not some unknown habitat factor.

Stock size

Model calculations on black teatfish stocks indicated that the virgin biomass was in the order of 5,500 t and about 5 million individuals. Some of the simplistic fishery models assume a MSY of virgin biomass multiplied by 0.5 times the natural mortality rates (Gulland 1983). However, estimates of mortality rates of holothurians hardly exist, and the few data available (summarised in Conand 1989c) are rough estimates based on other

species, several of which have additional asexual reproduction. Using these data to calculate maximum sustainable yields for holothurian populations can be very erroneous. For example, using a mortality rate of 1.0 as a 'reasonable-estimate' for holothurians in general (Long et al. 1996) would suggest that 50% of the virgin biomass of H. nobilis could be caught annually on the GBR and provide a sustainable yield. Based on our lower confidence limit estimates for the biomass this would correspond to 2,000 t. However, the maximum annual catch for *H. nobilis* achieved in the GBR was about 370 t (catch data provided by QFS). This represents much less than 10% of the biomass of H. nobilis in the target region. In fact, calculations based on the lower confidence limit show catch rates in most years were below 5%. Thus, with hindsight, it can now be concluded that an annual catch rate of less than 10% of the virgin stock was sufficient to induce severe over fishing. This does not necessarily suggest that fishery models are not adequate for holothurians, but does indicate that mortality rates are much lower than have been commonly assumed. Indeed, the slow growth rates and lack of recovery of the stocks observed during the present study provide evidence that productivity in these populations is very low, and that both recruitment and natural mortality are low.

Another interesting aspect of the model calculations is the total reduction in biomass, suggested to be around 3000 t. This estimate is very close to the total catches of 2500 t (QFS) reported from 1987 to 1999. There were no indications that stocks had rebuilt between the fishing years, and that only an 'excess production' had been caught. On the contrary, these data suggest that during the period from when the fishery started in the mid 1980s until its closure, the fishery has simply reduced total biomass without substantial recovery between the years, providing additional evidence that recruitment rates in this species are low over periods of several years.

TEMPORAL SURVEYS OF BÊCHE-DE-MER AND RECOVERY AFTER CLOSURE TO FISHING

This study is among the first to attempt to estimate recovery rates of holothurian stocks. There were no indications of a recovery two years after closure of the fishery for *H*. *nobilis*. Densities on both green reefs (protected from fishing even before the closure of the fishery) and blue reefs since closed to fishing remained relatively stable, with green reefs continuing to have some four to five times the average densities of black teatfish as the reefs recently closed to fishing. Hardly any new recruits were observed in any of the populations. This may be taken as further evidence that animals may be relatively longlived, because densities would reduce if mortality was high and recruitment low. Densities of black teatfish on reefs divided into green and blue zones did not change significantly over time either. On two of the Ribbon Reefs, densities were higher in the green zone, indicating that fishing has previously occurred in the blue zone. Because the density differences remain constant, it appears that there is no major migration between the two zones. On two smaller reefs, the difference between the blue and green zone was not distinct, and although densities on the blue reefs showed some fluctuation there was no clear sign of a recovery in population size.

DISPERSAL AND RECRUITMENT IN BLACK TEATFISH

Genetic analysis was used to infer geneflow and hence dispersal among black teatfish populations because it is not possible to tag adults long-term (the animals shed tags) and the planktonic larvae are too small to physically tag even if they could be captured and identified reliably. Allozyme analyses of 866 specimens of *Holothuria nobilis* obtained on 15 reefs from the GBR revealed no genetic differentiation, and high levels of geneflow were inferred among all populations even though they were separated by as much as 1300 km. Mitochondrial DNA markers were then surveyed in a subset of populations because these markers are deemed to provide higher resolution because of their higher mutation rates and smaller effective population size. However, no population genetic structure was also detected using this marker.

The results for *H. nobilis* are similar to those reported previously for the asteroid *Linckia* laevigata over a similar range of the GBR (Williams and Benzie 1993): both studies detected no deviations from Hardy Weinberg equilibrium, non-significant F_{st} values around 0.002 and genetic distances between populations below 0.003. On the GBR, both species occur in similar habitats although L. laevigata is found on a larger number of reefs and can also be found on reefs closer to the shore. Results obtained by Martinez and Richmond (1998) suggested a larval life for *H. nobilis* slightly longer than 28 days, similar to that of *L. laevigata*. High levels of dispersal are usually associated with a long larval life (e.g. Hedgecock 1986) and genetic analyses of populations of fish (Doherty et al. 1995), giant clams (Benzie and Williams 1992; Macaranas et al. 1992) and seastars (Benzie and Stoddart 1992; Williams and Benzie 1993) with larval lives of 10 days or more indicate little or no genetic structure over the length of the GBR. The close connectivity of the many reefs in the GBR separated by short distances and the movement of larvae on the longshore currents during the spring and summer when most of these species spawn is thought to play a role in their dispersal through the GBR (Williams et al. 1984).

In contrast to most other species studied on the GBR, *H. nobilis* spawns in winter in New Caledonia (Conand 1993) and, as we have shown in the present study, on the GBR. Longshore drift on the GBR in winter is significantly more restricted compared to summer (Williams *et al.* 1984) and therefore dispersal of winter spawners might be expected to be more restricted compared to summer spawners. However, in the case of *H. nobilis*, this did not result in measurable population differentiation.

Length of larval life is not the only influence on dispersal and the genetic structure of populations. F_{sT} values up to an order of magnitude higher than those were found for GBR populations of species with the potential for asexual reproduction such as the zoanthid *Zoanthus coppingeri* (Burnett *et al.* 1995), or species that are viviparous such as the scleractinian *Seriatopora hystrix* (Ayre and Dufty 1994). Data on the population genetic structure of *Holothuria nobilis* did not provide any indication of the occurrence of asexual reproduction in this species. Asexual reproduction usually results in distinct deviations from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (e.g. Johnson and Threlfall 1987; Ayre and Dufty 1994; Uthicke *et al.* 1998; 1999). No such deviations were observed in any locus on any population of the present study. In addition, the two parameters N_{go} : N_i and $N^*:N_{i}$, previously shown to be reliable estimators for the occurrence and magnitude of asexual reproduction in holothurians (Uthicke *et al.* 1998; 1999), indicated no asexual reproduction in *H. nobilis.*

Given the lack of asexual reproduction in natural *Holothuria nobilis* populations it is interesting that this species can be artificially induced to split and that animals can fully regenerate after they have split into two halves (Reichenbach *et al.* 1996). Strong regenerative potential appears to be a feature of many holothurian species and several species undergo seasonal evisceration and regeneration of their guts, or eviscerate when handled (summarised in Emson and Wilkie 1980). Many *H. nobilis* populations occur on high flow environments and are often exposed to high wave energy and low water levels (Uthicke, unpublished data). The potential of *H. nobilis* to regenerate may be a mechanism to repair damage sustained in these hostile environments. The finding that fission in this species does not occur on the GBR does not exclude the possibility that it exists in other regions, but *H. nobilis* does not appear to be a typical asexual species. It is relatively large, has a thick body wall and does not occur in the very high densities typical for many asexual species (Uthicke 1997).

In summary, it appears that sexually produced larvae are the only source of recruits to *Holothuria nobilis* populations. The allozyme and mitochondrial DNA data indicate panmixis in the GBR, suggesting the entire GBR population can be managed as one stock.

PERIOD OF REPRODUCTION OF THE BLACK TEATFISH ON THE GBR

Most holothurian species investigated in the western Pacific spawn in the summer months (e.g. Conand 1993). The only exception to this was *H. nobilis* in New Caledonia, and this species was shown in the present study to spawn in winter on the GBR. The number of animals with gonads reaches 50% in the size class between 800 and 1000g, and 80% for 1000 to 1200g animals. The current commercial size limit for bêche-de-mer fisheries is 15 cm for all holothurians and therefore potentially does not protect any individuals of *H. nobilis* up to the point where they would have spawned at least once. A minimum size limit of 1200 g total weight (equivalent to 820 g gutted weight or 20 cm using conversion factors given in Fig. 19), together with closures during the spawning season should allow about 80% of all animals to reproduce at least once.

GROWTH RATES FOR BLACK TEATFISH

The development of a novel DNA fingerprinting method allowed growth in *H. nobilis* in the wild to be measured for the first time and has revealed several interesting an unexpected features of the species' biology. Growth appears to be slow and animals in the wild have the capacity to shrink. The lack of small individuals in the data set means it is impossible to predict the age of holothurians in the size range observed. However, even if small individuals grow three times as fast as predicted for 1kg individuals recaptured after one year in this study (50 g x 3 = 150 g for the whole dataset), animals of 1 kg weight would be older than four years. Large individuals of other large holothurian species (with weights higher than 3 kg) have been estimated to be older than 10 years (Conand 1988).

The growth estimates obtained here for 1.0 kg holothurians are similar to those obtained in studies on smaller species whose growth rates ranged between 100 and 200 g per year (Franklin 1980, Uthicke 1994, Chao *et al.* 1994). However, growth rates obtained here are low when compared to other large holothurian species, which were observed to grow up to 450 g per year (Conand 1988, 1989a,b, c, Shelley 1985).

The finding that the larger individual *H. nobilis* consistently shrunk was unexpected. It is known that holothurians shrink in aquaria (Conand 1983, Shelley 1985, Wiedemeyer

1992), but this has never been reported from wild populations. Negative growth has also been inferred for other echinoderms such as echinoids and it was suggested that size in these animals could be controlled by environmental conditions (Ebert 1967). It may be that the environmental conditions were not favourable in the years over which this study was conducted. Alternatively, the number of animals transplanted to the study side may have been in excess of the carrying capacity of the habitat. Although densities were not measured, they were thought to be within (albeit on the higher end of) the range naturally occurring on the GBR (Uthicke unpublished data, Uthicke and Benzie 2000). In either case, the shrinkage of large individuals strongly suggests that average weight of holothurians in the wild is highly plastic and that density, size and biomass of holothurians may be limited and regulated by food supply, as previously suggested by Uthicke (1997, 2001a).

It was not possible here to present complete growth curves for *H. nobilis* because small individuals or new recruits were observed rarely and none collected. Complete growth curves will need to be developed over time and once data from several study areas become available. However, the ability to recapture and identify a sufficient number of animals to obtain growth rates from marine animals otherwise difficult to tag has been demonstrated. Apart from growth studies, it will be possible, using slightly different experimental designs to estimate migration rates, population size and recruitment to local populations (Mueller and Wolfenbarger 1999). It is pertinent that only a small number of adult individuals moved the short distance between the two Lizard Island sites (a distance of 90 metres) suggesting that the adults may not disperse far, at least for periods of several months to years.

MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

Holothurian fisheries are currently good examples of boom and bust fisheries. Recent drastic declines in catches and shifts towards less valuable species (Conand 2001) indicate that the current global boom period has reached its end. However, the lack of basic biological information has prevented a better understanding of the reasons for these collapses, or more important, an ability to manage these fisheries better.

The present study has allowed the collection of some of the best information to date on the biology of bêche-de-mer, particularly black teatfish. Despite the considerable variation between reefs in population densities, the ability to obtain samples from reefs open to the recent fishing and those known to have been protected, has allowed clear interpretation
of the likely effects of fishing, and inferences concerning mortality and recruitment at population scales.

Genetic markers demonstrated conclusively that sexually produced larvae are the only source of recruits to *Holothuria nobilis* populations and suggested the entire GBR population can be managed as one stock. The high degree of connectivity among *H. nobilis* populations could be used to argue that dispersal among populations is high and that recruits might be derived from a large number of sources. This circumstance might be expected to lead to a rapid recovery of over-fished reefs. However, genetic data measure the integrated effects of recruitments over many generations (hundreds of years or more), and it is possible that major recruitment to particular reefs may be low for several years.

Several other biological observations obtained in this survey provided evidence that dispersal among populations in ecological time scales is more restricted because of a lack of successful recruits, and that recovery of over-fished populations may not be rapid. The first was the lack of juveniles observed throughout the three years of surveys on any reefs. The second was the lack of increase in population size in reefs recently closed to fishing up to two years after closure of the fishery. The third was the increase in size but not density in reefs that were presumed to have been last fished several years ago (Potter Reef), suggesting growth of individuals, no additional mortality in the populations but also no recruitment. The fourth was the evidence for the limited mobility of adults, both from the DNA fingerprinted populations, and by inference from the difference in population densities in zones within individual reefs that were open and closed to fishing and where adherence to regulations was likely as a result of the close proximity of those reefs to tourist operations. These data indicate that recruitment of juveniles is sporadic. The lack of juveniles in the reefs protected from fishing for some time (green reefs) suggests this effect is broader than simply a reduction on the density of animals of fished reefs that might lead to a reduction in spawning success on those reefs. The scarcity of juveniles is a common phenomenon in studies on holothurians (e.g. Uthicke 2001b) and suggests these interpretations are not specific to the GBR but that low and or sporadic recruitment may be a feature of bêche-de-mer populations generally and explain in part why these species are vulnerable to overfishing.

A surprising finding from the use of a novel fingerprinting technique that allowed growth of individual black teatfish to be followed in the wild was the slow growth of black teatfish and the likely age of average sized animals in the population to be estimated as possibly

66

more than 10 years. This finding also implies longer times to first reproduction than has been assumed, and slower recovery of populations that had been over-fished. Calculations of changes in stock size have indicated a take from the fishery very similar to that recorded by the industry catch statistics which, given the large errors involved is remarkable. These data show that a take of round 5% of the standing stock was more than the populations could sustain, and is consistent with the increased vulnerability of the population inferred from slow growth rates, inferred low natural mortality and low recruitment in these populations.

The closure of the black teatfish harvest fishery in 1999 was justified, albeit at a late point in time. Our data could confirm that reefs at that time were heavily over fished, potentially to a point where no successful reproduction can take place on these reefs. The low recovery rates, together with apparently slow growth rates and the absence of recruits indicate that the fishery on black teatfish will have to remain closed, potentially for several years. A target value of about 20 individuals per ha. appears a minimum estimate of "natural" densities and should be reached before re-opening the fishery. Extreme caution should be taken in applying mortality rates from other holothurian species to calculate MSYs. Data presented here for the black teatfish clearly suggest that even catch rates of less than 5-10% of the virgin biomass per year were sufficient to reduce stock size in the long term.

If seasonal fishery closures are considered, these should be at least in the months between April and August to allow black teatfish reproduction. However, a protection of all spawners would only be warranted in a seven month closure between April and October. The reproductive cycle of most other bêche-de-mer species on the GBR remains to be investigated, but is likely to be in the summer months. Therefore, closures for all other species should be in the summer months. A minimum size limit of 1,200 g total weight (equivalent to 820 g gutted weight or 20cm using conversion factors given in Fig. 19) is recommended. Together with closures during spawning season this figure should warrant that about 80% of all animals reproduce at least once.

The high geneflow along the GBR indicates that recruits to a depleted population may come from reefs further afield. Therefore, opening of new areas, particularly relatively isolated reefs such as Ashmore Reef or the Coral Sea reefs should be considered carefully, as external sources of recruitment are fewer than those for reefs within the GBR, where recovery is slow in any case. In summary, data obtained previously and collected here suggest that bêche-de-mer, and especially black teatfish on the GBR are a very vulnerable resource. Low recruitment rates and slow growth lead to very slow recovery of over-fished stocks. Because these studies commenced at such a late stage in the over-fishing cycle, it is not possible to predict whether recruitment rates would have been higher if stocks were not already reduced. Although this project concentrated on black teatfish, it appeared that no other medium or high value reef species are available for sustainable fishing on shallow reef flats of the GBR.

BENEFITS

Direct information on the abundance, biomass and levels and patterns of genetic variation in allozyme and mtDNA markers have provided basic information that will assist the bêche-de-mer industry, particularly that of black teatfish in the Great Barrier Reef, although the information will provide generic assistance in the management of other populations. The surveys have shown that bêche-de-mer species are more frequent on midshelf and offshore reefs, and that black teatfish is the most common high-value species found in shallow waters. The surveys have also shown that the densities of black teatfish on reefs protected from fishing are significantly higher than that in reefs open to fishing, particularly where entire reefs are protected. These data provide clear information concerning the utility of protected areas in maintaining bêche-de-mer abundance and biomass. Reproduction has been demonstrated to occur in winter with some spawning as late as October, providing direct information on the times the fishery should be closed if a strategy using fishery closures at the time of breeding is used as a management tool.

The data show that the GBR populations of black teatfish can be considered as one genetic stock, where there is sufficient gene flow between all member populations to prevent significant genetic differentiation of any one population, at least on the time scales addressed by genetic data (hundreds to thousands of years). However, the temporal surveys of reefs after they were closed to fishing found no recruits after two years, suggesting that individual reefs may take several years to recover. Recruitment does vary on shorter, ecological, time scales (annual or decadal) and information on these dynamics is best gained from surveys of juvenile settlement. It has not proved possible to distinguish between different local sources of juveniles because no recruits were found.

The slow growth of black teatfish, and the possibility that many of the average sized individuals on the GBR may be in the order of ten years old also has important implications for fisheries management in that the resilience of populations to fishing may be limited and their sensitivity to over-fishing may be greater than has been assumed in the past.

Direct benefits of the project therefore include the provision of basic information of direct relevance to fisheries management such as stock size and delineation, reproductive period, growth rate and likely effects of protected areas, and the assessment of survey and

69

genetic techniques applicable to bêche-de-mer. and, therefore, more cost-effective management of a productive fishery.

FURTHER DEVELOPMENT

The surveys have provided new and unexpected information on the biology of black teatfish that are pertinent to the management of that fishery on the GBR, but which also have general implications for bêche-de-mer fisheries in general. Although genetic connectivity of populations is high, recruitment levels are low, growth rates are low and the age of most individuals of the population is 10 years or more. It was not possible to measure natural mortality rates directly, but the comparison of reef populations both closed to, and open to, fishing suggest that natural recruitment and mortality rates (at least after settlement) are low. A possibility is that rare recruitment events provide the bulk of the productivity of the fishery for many years. Knowledge of these factors has clearly highlighted the areas where information is still lacking.

A clear priority would be to better estimate the parameters of recruitment, age and mortality directly. Nothing is known of the relationship between these and climatic or other environmental variables. These relationships need to be established. The fingerprinting technique developed in this study provides additional avenues to assess survival and growth in wild bêche-de-mer populations.

Continued survey of the reefs recently closed to fishing, together with a subset of green reefs to act as controls would provide invaluable data on recovery of these populations, and potentially identify a good recruitment year if and when such an event occurred. Further monitoring of the recovery should be conducted in the third year after closure, and at least every second year after that. This will provide the first such data set anywhere in the world.

Further modeling of the fishery using reduced mortality rates would also provide greater insight in to the role of various factors in influencing the population dynamics of the fishery.

Legislation requires all Australian fisheries to be ecologically sustainable. It is not known what impact removal of holothurians has on the ecology of reefs and seagrass beds. Work

70

on low value commercial species (Uthicke 2001a) suggested that these animals have an important function in the nutrient recycling and productivity on coral reefs. Therefore, removal of bêche-de-mer may reduce overall productivity in these ecosystems. Whether this is true for high value species and in seagrass systems must be investigated in manipulative ecological experiments.

PLANNED OUTCOMES

A basis for improved management of a productive and valuable fishery in the Great Barrier Reef (GBR) has been developed through the provision of key biological information on several species of bêche-de-mer in the GBR, and the black teatfish in particular. Successful survey of several bêche-de-mer species, and of black teatfish (Holothuria nobilis) in particular, and the description of the population genetic structure of black teatfish has provided important information on stock definition, assessment of stock size and determination of levels of dispersal and recruitment among populations. Surveys over time have shown low recruitment rates and potentially long times required for the recovery of over-fished black teatfish stocks. The low growth rates measured also indicate the potentially longer times that might be required for recovery after populations are depleted. The determination of the reproductive period for black teatfish in the GBR will potentially assist the planning of closed fishing periods. The results will help develop bêche-de-mer management in regions outside the GBR, but the outcomes planned for the NT and WA sandfish fisheries in this study (concerning dispersal and gene flow) could not be met because insufficient samples were obtained from these regions. Interpretations of the biological data with respect specifically to fisheries management, and the potential role of protected reefs in the fishery management, were also achieved.

CONCLUSIONS

Nine of the eleven main objectives of the project were achieved:

1) To develop a survey methodology applicable for all shallow water bêche-de-mer species.

A methodology based on manta tows, applicable to all shallow water bêche-de-mer species was developed.

2) To adapt established techniques for enzyme electrophoretic analyses of holothurians to several bêche-de-mer species.

Established techniques for enzyme electrophoresis were adapted for use in several species of bêche-de-mer, including *Actinopyga echinites*, *A. miliaris*, *Holothuria nobilis*, *H. fuscogilva*, *H. fuscopunctata*, *Thelenota ananas*, *Stichopus variegatus*.

3) To determine the stock size of bêche-de-mer over a large geographic area in the GBR.

Densities of several species of bêche-de-mer were obtained from manta tows for the main area of the GBR fished for bêche-de-mer, and the spatial pattern of their abundance mapped.

4) To determine the stock size and biomass of the black teatfish over a large geographic area in the GBR.

Densities of black teatfish were obtained from manta tows for the main area of the GBR fished for bêche-de-mer, and the spatial pattern of their abundance mapped. Model calculations of black teatfish stocks indicated that the virgin biomass in the fished area of the GBR was in the order of 5,500 tonnes and about 5 million individuals, now reduced to 1,103 t and 920,000 individuals in the areas open to fishing.

5) To establish the period of reproduction of the black teatfish on the GBR.

The main reproductive period on black teatfish on the GBR was established to be winter, between April and August, although gonad indices on several reefs were high into October.

6) To measure dispersal and recruitment in black teatfish using genetic markers.

Allozyme electrophoretic markers, and mitochondrial DNA markers, indicated no restrictions to geneflow, and hence to dispersal and recruitment, in *H. nobilis* populations throughout the entire length on the GBR suggesting that the GBR bêchede-mer fishery is one stock.

7) To identify and report the implications of these findings for management of bêchede-mer fisheries.

The implications of the high genetic connectedness and several aspects of biology of black teatfish, such as low recruitment, slow growth, apparent low mortality and seasonal reproduction to fishery management was discussed, together with evidence of the effectiveness of whole reefs and portions of reefs closed to fishing.

8) To measure the recovery time for over-fished black teatfish stocks, (numbers and biomass).

Surveys covering two years after reefs were closed to fishing showed no evidence of population increase or of any recruitment to those populations.

9) To assess the likely source of recruits to recovering populations, including the role of protected reefs.

The likely source of recruits to recovering reefs could not be assessed as no recruits were observed.

10) To estimate growth rates for black teatfish.

A novel technique to measure growth in bêche-de-mer using genetic fingerprinting revealed that medium sized black teatfish grew slowly and some large individuals actually shrunk. Average sized individuals on the GBR reefs may be 10 years old or more.

11) To describe large-scale geneflow and dispersal of sandfish among fished populations in NT and WA.

Geneflow and dispersal of sandfish in NT and WA was not estimated because sufficient samples could not be obtained from these regions.

This work also met the performance indicators for the project by developing survey methods and techniques for the genetic estimation of gene flow and recruitment in bêchede-mer, databases on bêche-de-mer stocks on the GBR and on fished reefs recently closed to fishing (recovering reef populations), databases on the genetic constitution of these populations, particularly black teatfish, and reporting specifically interpretations of the biological and genetic data from fishery management. The ongoing support of the Bêchede-mer industry and Management agencies was demonstrated by their interest and participation in collection of materials and in the preliminary results presented at HarvestMAC meetings in Queensland.

REFERENCES

Arndt A, Marquez C, Lambert P, Smith MJ (1996) Molecular phylogeny of Eastern Pacific sea cucumbers (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) based on mitochondrial DNA sequence. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 6: 435-437

Ayre DJ, Dufty S (1994) Evidence for restricted gene flow in the viviparous coral *Seriatopora hystrix* on Australia's Great Barrier Reef. Evolution 48: 1183-1201

Ballment E, Uthicke S, Peplow L, Benzie JAH (1997) Techniques for enzyme electrophoretic analysis of the holothurians *Holothuria atra* and *Stichopus chloronotus* (Holothuroidea: Aspidochirotida). AIMS Technical Report Series 27, pp 47

Benzie JAH, Stoddart JA (1992) Genetic structure of crown-of-thorns (*Acanthaster planci*) in Australia. Marine Biology 112: 631-639

Benzie JAH, Williams ST (1992) No genetic differentiation of giant clam (*Tridacna gigas*) populations in the Great Barrier Reef. Marine Biology 113: 373-377

Birkeland C (1988) The influence of echinoderms on coral-reef communities. Echinoderm Studies 3: 1-79

Burnett WJ, Benzie JAH, Beardmore JA, Ryland JS (1995) Patterns of genetic subdivision in populations of a clonal cnidarian, *Zoanthus coppingeri*, from the Great Barrier Reef. Marine Biology 122: 665-673

Chao S-M, Chen C-P, Alexander PS (1994) Reproduction and growth of *Holothuria atra* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) at two contrasting sites in southern Taiwan. Marine Biology 119: 565-570

Conand C (1983) Methods of studying growth in Holothurians (Bêche-de-mer), and preliminary results from a bêche-de-mer tagging experiment in New Caledonia. SPS Fisheries Newsletter 26: 31-38

Conand C (1988) Comparison between estimations of growth and mortality of two stichopodid holothurians: *Thelenota ananas* and *Stichopus chloronotus* (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea). Proceedings of the 6th International Coral Reef Symposium, Townsville, Australia 2: 661-665

Conand C (1989a) Les holothuries aspidochirotes du lagon de Nouvelle-Calédonie: biologie, écologie et exploitation. Etudes et thèse ORSTOM, Paris. 393 p

Conand C (1989b) The fishery resources of Pacific island countries. Part 2. Holothurians. FAO Fisheries Technical Paper, No. 272.2, Rome, FAO. 143 p

Conand C (1989c) Growth and mortality of some holothurians from the lagoon of New Caledonia. Proceedings of the 6th International Symposium on Echinodermata. Conand C (1993) Reproductive biology of the holothurians from the major communities of the New Caledonian Lagoon. Marine Biology 116: 439-450

Conand C (2001) Overview over the last decade of sea cucumber fisheries- what possibilities for a durable management? In Barker M (ed) Echinoderms 2000, Proceedings of the 10th International Conference, Dunedin, New Zealand. pp 339-344

Doherty PJ, Planes S, Mather P (1995) Gene flow and larval distribution in seven species of fish from the Great Barrier Reef. Ecology 76: 2373-2391

Ebert TA (1967) Negative growth and longevity in the purple sea urchin *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus* (Stimpson). Science 157: 557-558

Emson RH, Wilkie JC (1980) Fission and autotomy in echinoderms. Oceanography and Marine Biology Annual Review 18: 155-250

Excoffier L, Smouse PE, Quattro JM (1992) Analysis of molecular variance inferred from metric distances among DNA haplotypes: application to human mitochondrial DNA restriction data. Genetics 131:479-491

Francis RICC (1995). An alternative mark-recapture analogue of Schnute's growth model. Fisheries Research 23: 95-111

Franklin SE (1980) The reproductive biology and some aspects of the population ecology of the holothurians *Holothuria leucospilota* (Brandt) and *Stichopus chloronotus* (Brandt). Ph.D. thesis, University of Sydney, Sydney. 250 p

Gulland JS (1983) Fish stock assessment. A manual of basic methods. FAO/Wiley Series of Food and Agriculture. John Wiley and Sons. 223 p

Hammond LS, Birtles RA, Reichelt RE (1985) Holothuroid assemblages on coral reefs across the central section of the Great Barrier Reef. Proceedings of the Fifth International Coral Reef Congress, Tahiti 5: 285-290

Harriott VJ (1980) The ecology of holothurian fauna of Heron Reef and Moreton Bay. M.Sc. Thesis, University of Queensland, Brisbane

Harriott VJ (1984) Census techniques, distribution, abundance and processing of large seacucumber species (Echinodermata: Holothuroidea) on the Great Barrier Reef. Report to the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority. Pp 1-39

Harriott VJ (1985) The potential for a bêche-de-mer fishery. Australian Fisheries June

Hedgecock D (1986) Is gene flow from pelagic larval dispersal important in the adaptation and evolution of marine invertebrates? Bulletin of Marine Science 39: 550-564

IUBNC (International Union of Biochemistry, Nomenclature Committee) (1984) Enzyme Nomenclature. Academic Press. Orlando, Florida, USA. 606 p Jacobs HT, Elliott DJ, Math VB, Farquharson A (1988) Nucleotide sequence and gene organisation of sea urchin mitochondrial DNA. Journal of Molecular Biology 202: 185-217

Johnson MS, Threlfall TJ (1987) Fissiparity and population genetics of *Coscinasterias calamaria*. Marine Biology 93: 517-525

Levitan DR, Young C (1995) Reproductive success in large populations: empirical measures and theoretical predictions of fertilisation in the sea biscuit *Clypeaster rosaceus*. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 190: 221-241

Lincoln-Smith MP, Bell JD, Ramohia P, Pitt KA (2000) Testing the use of a marine protected area to restore and manage tropical multispecies invertebrate fisheries at the Arnavon Islands, Solomon Islands. Termination Report. Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority Research Publication No 69. 72 p

Lokani P (1990) Bêche-de-mer research and development in Papua New Guinea. SPC Bêche-demer Information Bulletin 2: 8-11

Long B, Skewes T, Dennis D, Poiner I, and others (1996) Distribution and abundance of Bêche-demer on Torres Strait Reefs. Final Report to the Queensland Fisheries Management Authority. 99 p

Macaranas JM, Ablan CA, Pante MJR, Benzie JAH, Williams ST (1992) Genetic structure of giant clam (*Tridacna deresa*) populations from reefs in the Indo-Pacific. Marine Biology 113: 231-238

Martinez PC, Richmond RH (1998) Effects of diet on growth and larval development of the sea cucumber *Holothuria nobilis* in Guam. In Mooi R, Telford M (eds) Echinoderms: Proceedings of the 9th International Echinoderm Conference, San Francisco. 1: 480 (abstract only)

Massin C. (1982) Effects of feeding on the environment: Holothuroidea. In: Jangoux M, Lawrence JM (eds) Echinoderm Nutrition. AA Balkema, Rotterdam. pp 493-497

Massin C, Doumen C (1986) Distribution and feeding of epibenthic holothuroids on the reef flat of Laing Island (Papua New Guinea). Marine Ecology Progress Series 31: 185-195

Miller MP (1997) Tools for population genetic analyses (TFPGA 1.3): A windows programme for the analyses of allozyme and molecular population genetic data. Computer software distributed by author.

Miller RG (1966) Simultaneous Statistical Inference. McGraw-Hill, New York

Mueller UG, Wolfenbarger LL (1999) AFLP genotyping and fingerprinting. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 14: 389-394

Nei M (1978) Estimation of average heterozygosity and genetic distance from a small number of individuals. Genetics 89: 583-590

Preston GL (1993) Bêche-de-mer. In: Wright A, Hill L (eds) Nearshore marine resources of the South Pacific. Institute of Pacific Studies, Suva, Fiji. pp 371-408

Preston GL, Lokani P (1990) Report of a survey of the sea cucumber resources of Ha´pai, Tonga. South Pacific Commission, Noumea, New Caledonia, Mimeo

Reichenbach N, Nishar Y, Saeed A (1996) Species and size related trends in asexual propagation of commercial sea cucumbers (Holothuroidea). J. World Aquaculture Society 27: 475-482

Shelley CC (1985) Growth of *Actinopyga echinites* and *Holothuria scabra* (Holothurioidea: Echinodermata) in Papua New Guinea. Proceedings of the Fifth International Coral Reef Congress, Tahiti 5: 297-230

Schneider S, Roessli D, Excoffier L. (2000) Arlequin ver. 2.000: A software for population genetic data analysis. Genetics and Biometry Laboratory, University of Geneva, Swizerland. Available at http://anthro.unige.ch/arlequin

Schnute JA (1981) A versatile growth model with statistical stable parameters. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 38: 1128-1140

Statsoft (1994) Statistica for Widows. Volume I-III, Statsoft Inc, Tulsa OK, USA

Uthicke S (1994) Distribution patterns and growth of two reef flat holothurians, *Holothuria atra* and *Stichopus chloronotus*. In: Dijon DB, Guille A, Féral JP, Roux M (eds) Echinoderms through time: Proceedings of the 8th International Echinoderm Conference. AA Balkema, Rotterdam. pp 569-576

Uthicke S (1997) The seasonality of asexual reproduction in *Holothuria (Halodeima) atra,* Holothuria (Halodeima) edulis and Stichopus chloronotus (Holothuroidea: Aspidochirotida) on the Great Barrier Reef. Marine Biology 129: 435-441

Uthicke S (1999) Sediment bioturbation and impact of feeding activity of *Holothuria (Halodeima) atra* and *Stichopus chloronotus*, two sediment feeding holothurians, at Lizard Island, Great Barrier Reef. Bulletin of Marine Science 64: 129-141

Uthicke S (2001a) Interactions between sediment-feeders and microalgae on coral reefs: Grazing losses versus production enhancement. Marine Ecology Progress Series 210: 125-138

Uthicke S (2001b) The influence of asexual reproduction on the structure and dynamics of *Holothuria (Halodeima) atra* and *Stichopus chloronotus* populations of the Great Barrier Reef. Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 52: 1-11

Uthicke S, Benzie JAH (1999) Allozyme variation as a tool for bêche-de-mer fisheries management: A study on *Holothuria scabra* (Sandfish). Bêche-de-mer Information Bulletin 12: 18-23

Uthicke S, Benzie JAH (2000) The effect of bêche-de-mer fishing on densities and size structure of *Holothuria nobilis* (Echinodermata: Holothurioidea) populations on the Great Barrier Reef. Coral Reefs 19: 271-276

Uthicke S, Benzie JAH, Ballment E. (1998) Genetic Structure of fissiparous populations of *Holothuria (Halodeima) atra* on the Great Barrier Reef. Marine Biology 132: 141-151

Uthicke S, Benzie JAH, Ballment E. (1999) Population genetics of the fissiparous holothurian *Stichopus chloronotus* (Aspidochirotida) on the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Coral Reefs 18: 123-132

Uthicke S, Klumpp DW (1998) Microbenthos community production in sediments of a near shore coral reef: seasonal variation and response to ammonium recycled by holothurians. Marine Ecology Progress Series 169: 1-11

Vos P, Hogers R, Bleeker M, Reijans M, van de Lee T, Hornes M, Frijters A, Pot J, Peleman J, Kuiper M, Zabeau M (1995) AFLP: a new technique for DNA fingerprinting. Nucleic Acids Research 23: 4407-4414

Waits, LP, Luikart G, Taberlet P (2001) Estimating probability of identity among genotypes in natural populations: caution and guidelines. Molecular Ecology 10: 249-256

Waples RS (1987) A multispecies approach to the analysis of gene flow in marine shore fish. Evolution 41: 385-400

Weir BS, Cockerham CC (1984) Estimating F-statistics for the analysis of population structure. Evolution 38: 1358-1370

Wiedemeyer WL (1992) A basic study on the morphology, physiology and the behavioural ecology of small juveniles of the holothuria species *Actinopyga echinites* (Jäger 1833) with respect to stock enhancement of tropical holothurians. Master thesis University of Ryukyus, Japan

Williams DM, Wolanski E, Andrews JC (1984) Transport mechanisms and the potential movement of planktonic larvae in the Central Great Barrier Reef. Coral Reefs 3: 229-236

Williams ST, Benzie JAH (1993) Genetic consequences of long larval live in the starfish *Linkia laevigata* (Echinodermata: Asteroidea) on the Great Barrier Reef. Marine Biology 117: 71-77

Wilson K, Li Y, Whan V, Lehnert S, Byrne K, Moore S, Pongsomboon S, Tassanakajon A, Rosenberg G, Ballment E, Fayazi Z, Swan J, Kenway M, and Benzie, JAH (2002) Genetic mapping of the black tiger shrimp, *Penaeus monodon*, with amplified fragment length polymorphisms. Aquaculture 204: 297-309

APPENDIX I: INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

No patentable inventions or processes have been developed as part of this project. All results will be published in relevant scientific articles and other public domain literature.

APPENDIX II: STAFF

Dr John Benzie	Principal Investigator (AIMS and UNSW)
Dr Sven Uthicke	Co Investigator, Associate Research Scientist (AIMS)
Mr Chris Pacey	Technical Officer (AIMS)
Ms Christine Clegg	Technical Officer (AIMS)
Mr David Welch	Technical Officer (AIMS)
Ms Melissa Schubert	Technical Officer (AIMS)
Mr Jamie Scott	Technical Officer (AIMS)

APPENDIX III: DATA FILES

TABLE A1. Densities and standard deviations for common holothurian species on th	e Gl	BR	S.
---	------	----	----

	H. nobilis		A. miliaris		H. atra		S. chloronotus		S. variegatus		B. argus		T. ananas	
Reef	Average	SD	Average	SD	Average	SD	Average	SD	Average	SD	Average	SD	Average	SD
Agincourt Rf. No. 1	7.24	10.08	0.00	0.00	1.45	5.42	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Agincourt Rf. No. 4	23.65	33.29	1.69	5.85	1.69	5.85	1.69	5.85	0.00	0.00	1.69	5.85	0.00	0.00
Arlington Rf.	5.79	12.08	0.48	3.13	185.33	290.40	90.25	172.71	0.48	3.13	25.10	30.63	0.00	0.00
Big Broadhurst Rf.	8.06	14.91	0.92	4.25	749.30	723.33	263.51	382.74	0.46	3.04	8.52	16.47	0.92	4.25
Black Rf.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	20.27	45.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Bowl Rf.	22.52	22.94	1.13	4.78	82.21	59.59	65.31	88.37	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Cenetepede Rf.	5.07	9.17	1.69	5.85	255.06	370.59	89.53	77.04	1.69	5.85	6.76	15.78	5.07	12.60
Davie Rf.	7.60	15.08	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	7.60	10.49	0.00	0.00	2.53	7.17	2.53	7.17
Davies Rf.	8.45	15.72	0.00	0.00	684.11	852.88	233.11	211.33	0.84	4.14	10.98	23.89	0.00	0.00
East Cay	1.69	5.85	0.00	0.00	817.56	476.26	11.82	20.19	1.69	5.85	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
East-Black Rf.	2.25	6.76	0.00	0.00	2.25	6.76	0.00	0.00	11.26	10.68	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Ellison Rf.	4.50	8.67	0.00	0.00	583.33	491.16	275.90	170.61	0.00	0.00	7.88	12.32	0.00	0.00
Feather Rf.	2.25	6.55	2.25	6.55	556.30	610.37	41.67	63.52	0.00	0.00	6.76	12.04	0.00	0.00
Grub Rf.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Half Tide Rf.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	18.82	28.07	11.58	28.35	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Hardy Rf.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	10.62	39.83	0.00	0.00	6.76	16.13	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Hastings Rf.	13.18	15.10	4.05	14.10	130.74	101.56	33.45	45.69	0.00	0.00	7.09	15.10	0.00	0.00
Hicks Rf.	6.76	10.14	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	6.76	20.27	0.00	0.00	2.25	6.76	2.25	6.76
Hook Rf.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	17.37	21.67	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Hyde Rf.	30.41	32.80	1.13	4.78	83.33	100.97	6.76	24.08	3.38	14.33	12.39	24.22	0.00	0.00
James Rf.	6.24	17.33	0.00	0.00	38.98	49.97	26.51	46.36	14.03	29.12	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Keeper Rf.	0.00	0.00	4.50	13.51	551.79	633.40	527.02	482.03	2.25	6.76	9.01	27.03	0.00	0.00
Linnett Isl.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1097.96	381.90	1270.25	788.78	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Little Broadhurst Rf.	40.54	35.11	13.51	23.41	702.69	572.01	499.99	137.98	0.00	0.00	40.54	40.54	13.51	23.41
McCulloch Rf.	5.91	9.41	0.00	0.00	760.13	512.45	277.02	219.59	3.38	9.76	26.18	32.45	0.00	0.00
Michaelmas Rf.	18.48	21.96	0.00	0.00	253.97	226.50	59.62	72.13	0.00	0.00	4.77	10.05	1.19	4.84
Moss Rf.	20.27	18.39	0.00	0.00	4.50	11.11	188.06	338.38	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Myrmidon Rf.	5.07	9.17	0.00	0.00	6.76	13.20	121.62	347.77	0.00	0.00	5.07	9.17	0.00	0.00
Nomad Rf.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00

	H. no	H. nobilis		A. miliaris		H. atra		S. chloronotus		S. variegatus		B. argus		anas
Reef	Average	SD	Average	SD	Average	SD	Average	SD	Average	SD	Average	SD	Average	SD
Old Rf.	0.84	4.14	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	4.22	10.32	0.00	0.00
Opal Rf.	7.09	11.90	0.00	0.00	26.35	43.67	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	6.08	11.58	0.00	0.00
Peart Rf.	1.69	5.85	0.00	0.00	119.93	74.08	30.41	26.64	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Potter Rf.	6.76	13.20	0.00	0.00	283.78	179.64	202.70	200.10	0.00	0.00	11.82	20.19	0.00	0.00
Rebe Rf.	2.90	7.36	4.34	8.63	46.33	100.39	14.48	24.41	24.61	34.82	14.48	18.52	0.00	0.00
Rf. 13-050	5.79	9.50	0.00	0.00	18.82	14.80	1.45	5.42	0.00	0.00	8.69	10.41	0.00	0.00
Rf. 13-120	7.24	17.07	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.45	5.42	0.00	0.00
Rf. 17-065	2.25	6.55	0.00	0.00	25.90	44.41	11.26	19.94	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Rf. 19-156	17.37	18.24	0.00	0.00	83.98	64.56	567.56	469.14	0.00	0.00	5.79	15.32	0.00	0.00
Rf. 19-159	4.34	8.63	1.45	5.42	154.92	280.83	10.14	22.13	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Rf. 21-149	17.37	20.82	4.34	11.73	55.02	51.17	13.03	27.09	4.34	11.73	1.45	5.42	0.00	0.00
Rf. 21-151	13.03	28.23	4.34	11.73	76.74	61.16	33.30	37.80	5.79	12.39	4.34	8.63	0.00	0.00
Rf. 21-433	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	54.05	46.81	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Rf. 21-551	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	69.82	147.03	0.00	0.00	4.50	8.67	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Rf. 22-101	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	236.48	356.20	0.00	0.00	10.81	24.07	1.35	5.23	0.00	0.00
Ribbon Rf. No. 2	29.28	21.11	0.00	0.00	1.13	4.78	2.25	6.55	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Ribbon Rf. No. 8	5.79	9.38	2.90	9.69	12.55	21.71	4.83	8.85	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Ribbon Rf. No. 7	6.76	11.08	1.35	5.14	2.70	11.58	21.62	47.89	0.00	0.00	5.41	10.56	0.00	0.00
Ribbon Rf. No. 10	23.65	28.21	0.68	3.70	15.54	21.74	6.76	19.44	0.00	0.00	5.41	10.56	0.00	0.00
Slasher Rf. No. 1	8.45	18.25	6.76	23.41	106.42	105.19	18.58	30.51	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Snake Rf.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	378.37	629.07	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
St Crispin Rf.	5.79	11.36	0.00	0.00	48.26	48.17	18.34	30.00	0.00	0.00	3.86	13.78	0.00	0.00
Stanley Rf.	8.69	19.45	0.72	3.83	22.44	74.09	130.31	426.45	0.00	0.00	0.72	3.83	0.00	0.00
Stucco Rf.	26.60	27.41	0.00	0.00	176.10	236.12	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	16.47	55.50	0.00	0.00
Sudburry Rf.	3.38	9.35	0.68	3.70	318.24	242.55	127.03	155.10	0.00	0.00	5.41	10.56	0.00	0.00
Swizer Rf.	0.00	0.00	2.90	7.66	153.47	209.95	98.45	128.43	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	2.90	7.66
Three Islands	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	118.24	135.92	3.38	8.28	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Tongue Rf.	5.79	11.36	0.00	0.00	126.45	142.89	37.64	60.57	0.97	4.42	7.72	18.66	0.97	4.42
Turner Cay	3.38	10.43	1.13	4.78	157.66	140.19	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	27.03	72.25
Wharton Rf.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	10.14	14.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Wheeler Rf.	11.06	13.94	0.00	0.00	886.35	1288.26	318.79	598.78	0.00	0.00	11.06	16.63	0.00	0.00
White-tip Rf.	11.26	19.94	1.13	4.78	153.15	232.70	61.94	180.70	3.38	10.43	3.38	7.77	0.00	0.00

			Survey Year	
		1999	2000	2001
Agincourt Rf. No. 1	Average	7.24	7.24	4.34
0	SD	10.08	12.84	8.63
Agincourt Rf. No. 4	Average	23.65	24.95	18.71
-	SD	33.29	34.27	25.45
Arlington Rf.	Average	5.79	6.76	1.93
	SD	12.08	14.62	6.02
Bowl Rf.	Average	22.52	42.79	15.77
	SD	22.94	24.96	20.34
Davies Rf.	Average	7.60	6.76	10.14
	SD	15.08	9.98	13.67
Ellison Rf.	Average	4.50	6.76	0.00
	SD	8.67	12.04	0.00
Feather Rf.	Average	2.25	2.25	6.76
	SD	6.55	6.55	12.04
Hastings Rf.	Average	13.18	15.20	6.08
	SD	15.10	20.67	11.58
Hicks Rf.	Average	6.76	3.86	11.58
	SD	10.14	10.37	12.11
Michaelmas Rf.	Average	18.48	23.17	20.27
	SD	21.96	20.54	25.55
Moss Rf.	Average	20.27	11.26	21.40
	50	10.39	15.09	14.70
Opal Rf.	Average	/.09	10.14	6.08 14.85
Deaut Dí		1.90	12.30	14.05
Peart RI.	Average	1.69	10.14	15.51
Pottor Pf	Average	6.76	7 8 8	6.76
roller KI.	SD	13 20	15.76	15 55
Rf 13-120	Average	7.24	5 79	10.14
KI. 15-120	SD	17.07	12.39	15.40
Rf 17-065	Average	2 25	8 4 5	10 14
	SD	6.55	16.07	18.33
Ribbon Rf. No. 2	Average	29.28	37.50	31.53
	SD	21.11	35.58	27.16
Ribbon Rf. No. 8	Average	5.79	5.79	10.62
	SD	9.38	9.38	13.78
Ribbon Rf. No. 10	Average	23.65	17.45	12.07
	SD	28.21	17.57	17.94
Ribbon Rf. No. 7	Average	6.76	18.10	14.48
	SD	11.08	27.77	18.18
St Crispin Rf.	Average	5.79	7.24	4.34
	SD	11.36	12.84	8.63
Sudburry Rf.	Average	3.38	5.07	1.69
	SD	9.35	13.70	5.72
Tongue Rf.	Average	5.79	3.86	3.86
	SD	11.36	10.37	8.16

Table A2.	Densities (N	∖o per ha)	of H. nobilis	s on reefs resu	urveyed after	closure of the fish	ery.
-----------	--------------	------------	---------------	-----------------	---------------	---------------------	------